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Principal and Interest payable on the 25th day of each month

THEOBLIGATIONS OF THE FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION UNDER
TS GUARANTY ARE OBLIGATIONS SOLELY:QOF THE CORPORATION AND.ARE NOT
+:"BACKED. BY THE FULL :FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE UNITED .STATES. THE
CERTIFICATES ARE EXEMPT FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND ARE “EXEMPTED SECURITIES” WITHIN
. THE MEANING OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. -

The Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates (‘“‘Certificates”) are issued and guaranteed
by the Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation” or “Fannie Mae”), a corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the United States, under the authority contained in Section
304(d) of the Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act (12 U.S.C. 1716 et seq.).

Each Certificate offered hereby and by the Supplement related hereto will represent an undivided
interest in a pool of mortgage loans (a “Pool”) to be formed by the Corporation. Each Pool will
consist of either first lien or (if the related Prospectus Supplement so provides) second lien residential
mortgage loans or participation interests therein (“Mortgage Loans”) either previously owned by the
Corporation or purchased by it in connection with the formation of the Pool. . Each Pool will consist
entirely of one of the following: (i) fixed-rate level installment Mortgage Loans and/or fixed-rate
graduated payment Mortgage Loans having deferred interest features that have expired prior to the
issuance of the Certificates, (ii) fixed-rate growing equity Mortgage Loans that provide for scheduled
annual increased payments, with the full amount of the increase applied to principal, (iii) fixed-rate
graduated payment Mortgage Loans having deferred interest features that have riot expired for some

+ or all of such Mortgage Loans prior to the issuance of the Certificates, (iv) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans
- that provide for balloon payments at maturity or other unique features, (v) conventional variable-rate
California Mortgage Loans, (vi) other adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans; some of which m: 7 have
deferred interest features, (vii) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans secured by multifamily projects consisting
of five or more dwelling units, some of which may have balloon payments or other unique features and
(viii) adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans secured by multifamily projects consisting of five or more
dwelling units, some of which may have balloon payments, deferred interest or other unique features.

Interests in each Pool will be evidenced by a separate issue of Certificates. Information regarding
the aggregate principal amount and characteristics of the related Pool (including the type of Mortgage
Loans in the Pool) will be furnished in the related Prospectus Supplement at the time of the
identification of the Pool.

Unless the related Prospectus Supplement provides otherwise, Certificates will be available in
book-entry form only. _

The Corporation will have certain contractual servicing responsibilities with respect to each Pool.
In addition, the Corporation will be obligated to distribute scheduled monthly installments of principal
and interest (adjusted to reflect the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee) to Certificateholders,
whether or not received. The Corporation also will be obligated to distribute to Certificateholders the
full principal balance of any foreclosed Mortgage ‘Loan, whether or not such principal balance is
actually recovered. '

The date of this Prospectus is April 1, 1991

Retain this Prospectus for future reference. This Prospectus may not be used to consummate sales
of Certificates unless accompanied by a Prospectus Supplement.




This Prospectus should be read only in conjunction with the Information Statement
dated April 1, 1991 (the ‘“Information Statement’”) attached hereto. and which i 1s‘mcorpo-
rated herein by this reference. The Information Statement contains ﬁnanclal information
about Fannie Mae as of December 31, 1990 and other 1nformatlon about the Corporation
as of April 1, 1991,

No salesman, dealer, bank or other person has been a rized to give any mformatlon
or to make any representation other than those contained'in this Prospectus or the
Information Statement, and, if given or made, such information or representation must not
be relied upon as having been authorized by the Corporation. This Prospectus and the
Information Statement do riot constitute an offer to sell or a‘solicitation of an‘offer to buy
any securities other than the Certificates offered hereby and by the related Supplement nor
an offer of the Certificates to any person in any state or other jurisdiction in which such
offer would be unlawful.

The Certificates have not been approved or disapproved by the Securities:and Ex-
change Commlsswn or any state securities commission nor has the Commission or any state
securities commission passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Prospectu" or the
Informatlon Statement. Any representatlon to the contrary 1s a crlmlnal offense ,
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS

~ The following summary of certain pertinent information is qualified in its entirety by reference to
the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus and by reference to the information
with respect to each pool of either first lien or second lien residential mortgage loans or participation
interests therein (“Mortgage Loans”) contained in the supplement to this Prospectus (a “Prospectus
Supplement”) to be prepared in connection with the issue of Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through
Certificates (the "‘Certiﬁcates”) evidencing undivided interests in such pool of Mortgage Loans

(“Pool”).

Title of Security ............. Guaranteed Mortgage PassQThrough Certificates.

Issuer and Guarantor......... Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation”), a
: corporation organized and existing under the laws of the United
States. See ‘“Federal National Mortgage Association” in the
Information Statement and the remainder of the Information
Statement following that section. The obligations of the Corpo-
ration under its guaranty are obligations solely of the Corpora-
tion and are not backed by, nor entitled to, the full faith and
credit of the United States.

Description of Security ....... Each Certificate will represent a fractional undivided interest in a
C Pool of Mortgage Loans to be formed by the Corporation. A
Certificate in_book-entry form will initially represent at least
$1,000 unpaid principal amount of Mortgage Loans. Unless the
related. Prospectus Suﬁplement provides otherwise, Certificates
will be available in book-entry form only and will not be converti-
ble to definitive form. :

Interest .........c.......c... Interest on each Mortgage Loan will be passed through monthly to
: : Certificateholders; .commencing on the 25th day of the month
following the month of initial issuance of the related Certificates
(or, if such25th day-is.not a-business day, on the first business
day next’succeeding such 25th day). For all Pools containing
fixed-rate Mortgage Loans, interest will be passed through at a
uniform Pass-Through Rate which will be specified in the Pro-
spectus Supplement and will not be greater than the lowest
- annual interest rate borne by any Mortgage Loan in the related
-Pool, less a specified minimum annual percentage representin
© compensation for servicing and the Corporation’s guaranty an
- Jess, in the case of ‘Pools containing graduated payment Mort-
gage Loans with deferred interest features that have not expired,
deferred interest, which is added to the principal balances of the
underlying Mortgage:Loans. For Pools containing variable-rate
Mortgage Loans (‘“VRM Pools”), interest will be passed through
on the basis of a Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate, which is
. equal at any time to the then-current weighted average of the
ortgage Interest Rates of all Mortgage Loans in the related
VRM Pool, less a specified fixed annual percentage representing
compensation for servicing and the Corporation’s guaranty. For
Pools :icontaining adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans (‘““ARM
“Pools”), interest will be passed through on each Mortgage Loan
at the interest rate at the time applicable thereto less (i) the
3 = ‘Corporation’s servicing fee and guaranty fee applicable to such
e .- ‘Mortgage Lioan and (ii) any deferred interest that is added to
Lo the principal balance of :such Mortgage Loan pursuant to its
terms.. See “Yield Considerations.” :
Principal (including N o ' ,
prepayments) ....... e Passed. through monthly, commencing on ‘the 25th day of the
. ' ‘ month following the month of initial issuance of the related
Certificates (or, if such 25th day is not a business day, on the
first business day next succeeding such 25th day). See ‘“Matur-
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.~ also.obligated to-distribute to Certificateholders the full principal

.. . The Corporation will be responsible for servicing.

- ity-and Prepayment: Assumptions” and “Description of Certifi-

“installments of principal and interest (adj reflect
“Corporation’s 'servicing and guaranty ‘fee) “on the Mort
Loans.ina Pool; whether or not received.” The Corporation’

‘balance :of;any. foreclosed Mortgage Loan, wh
~ principal balance is actually recovered. If the (
unable to perform these guaranty obligations,
Certificateholders would consist solely of pa
recoveries on Mortgage Loans and, accordin
and defaults would affect -monthly distributior

nts and other
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 Certificate-

- holders::See *‘Description of Certificates—The: Corporation’s
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~ Loans and will, in most cases, contract with mortgage
serform certain servicing functions on its behalf. See-
on of Certificates—Servicing Through Lenders.” ¢/
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Each Pool will consist entirely of Mortgage Loans o} one of
“the following types: (i) fixed-rate level installment Mortgage
Loans and/or fixed-rate graduated payment Mortgage Loans
“having deferred interest features that have expired prior ’%3[ the
S - Mort-

d pay-

issuance of the Certificates, (ii) fixed-rate growing eq
_gage Loans that provide for scheduled annual incre:
ments, with the full amount of the increase applied to principal,
(iii) fixed-rate graduated payment Mortgage Loans with de-
. ferred-interést features that have not expired for some or all of
_.the Mortgage Loans prior to the issuance of the Certificates,

" ..'(iv) -fixed-rate - Mortgage Loans that provide for balloon pay-

. ments -at: maturity or other unique features, (v) conventional
. “variable-rate Califernia Mortgage Loans, (vi) other adjustable-
_ rate Mortgage Loans, some of which may have deferred interest

. - features; (vii) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans secured by multifamil
" projects consisting of five.or more dwelling units, some of WhiCK
‘may have: balloon payments or other unique features and
(viii) ‘adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans secured by multifamily

- projects:consisting of five or more dwelling units, some of which
-.may have balloon payments, deferred interest or other unique
. features. - Unless the related Prospectus Supplement provides
otherwise, the Mortgage Loans in each Pool will have unpaid
principal-balances aggregating not less than $1,000,000. Each
<Mortgage Loan will- meet the applicable standards set forth
. -under. ‘“Purchase -Program” and, unless the related Prospectus
‘Supplement provides otherwise, will be secured by a first lien on
a residential: property.. Pool information as to the type of
.Mortgage Loans (including whether such Mortgage Loans are
._conventional Mortgage -Loans or are insured by the Federal
~Housing Administration or guaranteed by the Department of
Veterans-Affairs), the aggregate principal balance of the Mort-
-+ gage Loans as of the Issue Date, the Pass-Through Rate for
- Certificates evidencing. interests in fixed-rate Mortgage Loans
(other than fixed-rate graduated payment Mortgage Loans with
-+ .. deferred interest features that have not expired for some or all of
- the Mortgage Loans prior to the issuance of the Certificates), the
Pool Accrual Rate for Certificates evidencing interests in pools of
graduated payment Mortgage Loans with deferred interest fea-
““tures that have not expired for some or all of the Mortgage Loans
‘prior to the issuance’ of the Certificates, the then-current
~Weighted ‘Average Pass-Through Rate for Certificates evidenc-
ing interests in VRM Pools, the then-current Pool Accrual Rate




for Certificates evidencing interests in ARM Pools, and the latest
maturity date of any Mortgage Loan will be contained in the
related Prospectus Supplement. For a VRM Pool or an ARM
Pool, the related Prospectus Supplement will also contain infor-
mation respecting the index upon which adjustments are based,
the frequency of interest rate and payment adjustments and any
maximum or minimum limitations: thereon, the Corporation’s
fixed or weighted average servicing and guaranty fee, and, in the
“case of an KRM Pool, whether the underlying Mortgage Loans
*-contain provisions for the deferral of ‘interest. :

Financial Results. . ... PR Fanme Mae earned net income of $1,173 million in 1990, compared
S ‘with $807 million in 1989 and $507 million in 1988. "The growth
in net income in 1990 was attributable mainly to increases in net

interest income, guaranty fee income and miscellaneous i income.

The higher net interest income resulted from an increase in both

the net interest margin and the average investment balance. The

increase in the net interest margin was attributable pnmanly to

, a rise in the average investment spread and a higher interest:free

o co el return, i.e., the return:én that portlon of ‘the net investment

: portfolio funded by equity and non-interest-bearing_liabilities.

Guaranty fee income increased-due to the growth.in the.amount

of MBS outstanding. The i increase in mlscellaneous income was

primarily the result of increased fee income for i issuing? real te

- -mortgage investment conduit (“REMIC”) securities. S

- Net income in 1989 surpassed 1988 net income mamly because of
higher interest mcome Increased g'uaranty fee income and a
"'reduction in" the" provxslon for losses also contnbuted to the

" higher net mcome in 1989 =

The .Corporatlon s net mortgage J)ortfoli'o totaled $1 13.9‘b'illi'bn at
December 31, 1990, ‘compared with $107.8 billion at Decem-
ber 31, 1989. "Mort; age—backed securities outstanding at Decem-
ber-31, 1990 totaled $299.8 bllhon compared with $228 2 bllhon
at December 31, 1989. , ,




THE MORTGAGE POOLS

The Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation” or “Fannie Mae”) has imple-
mented a program for (a) the setting aside .of residential mortgage loans or participation .interests
therein (the “Mortgage Loans”) into separate pools (the “Pools”) bearing distinctive identification
and (b) the issuance and sale of trust certificates of beneficial interest evidencing pro rata undivided
ownership interests in the Mortgage Loans comprising each separate Pool (the “Guaranteed Pass-
Through Certificates” or “Certificates”). If so specified in the related Prospectus Supplement, each
Pool will consist of participation interests representing a specified undivided percentage interest in
residential mortgage loans, rather than whole residential mortgage loans. The Mortgage Loans may be
purchased by the Corporation expressly for the Pools or may be Mortgage Loans that have been held
by .the Corporation in its own portfolio. Each Pool will consist of Mortgage Loans evidenced by
promissory notes (the ‘“Mortgage Notes”) secured by first (or second, if the related Prospectus
Supplement so provides), mortgages or deeds of trust (the “Mortgages”) on either one- to four-family
(also referred to as “single-family”’) residential properties or multifamily projects consisting of five or
more dwelling units (the “Mortgaged Properties”). A Pool will contain Mortgage Loans of only one of
the following types: (i) fixed-rate level payment Mortgage Loans (‘“Level Payment Mortgage Loans”)
and/or GPMs (as defined below) with deferred interest features that have expired prior to the
issuance -of the: Certificates (“Fully Graduated GPMs”), (ii) fixed-rate growing equity Mortgage
Loans that provide for scheduled annual increased payments, with the full amount of the increase
applied to principal (“GEMSs”), (iii). fixed-rate graduated payment Mortgage Loans with deferred
interest features (“GPMs”) that have not expired for some or all of the Mortgage Loans prior to the
issuance of the Certificates (“Graduating GPMs”), (iv) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans that provide for
balloon payments at maturity or other unique features (“Balloon Mortgages”), (v) conventional
variable-rate California Mortgage Loans (“VRMs”), (vi) other adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans
(“ARMs”), some of which may have deferred interest features, (vii) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans
secured by multifamily projects consisting of five or more dwelling units (“Multifamily Mortgage
Loans”), some of which may have balloon payments or other unique features and (viii) adjustable-
rate Multifamily Mortgage Loans, some of which may have balloon payments, deferred interest or
other unique features. The Mortgage Loans may be either conventional Mortgage Loans (i.e., not
insured or guaranteed by any United States government agency) or Mortgage Loans that are either
insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs
(“Conventional Mortgage Loans” and “FHA/VA Mortgage Loans,” respectively). The Mortgage
Loans purchased expressly for the Pools will be sold to the Corporation by eligible institutions that
meet certain requirements set forth under “Purchase Program” and are referred to herein as
“Lenders.” Unless the related Prospectus Supplement provides otherwise, no Pool will consist of
Mortgage Loans having an aggregate unpaid principal balance of less than $1,000,000 on the first day
of the month of issuance of the related Certificates. See “Purchase Program-—Mortgage Loan
Eligibility” for a description of certain criteria applicable to the eligibility of Mortgage Loans for
inclusion in Pools.

Interests in each Pool will be evidenced by a separate series of Certificates (an “Issue”). The
Corporation will acquire the Mortgage Loans that it has purchased expressly for Pools under purchase
contracts. By entering into such contracts, the Corporation will obligate itself to issue Certificates to,
or to the order of, the Lenders named in the contracts, upon delivery to the Corporation of the
required Mortgage Loans conforming to the Corporation’s standards. The Corporation will not
insure or guarantee the performance by any Lender of its obligation to deliver Mortgage
Loans and, correspondingly, does not insure or guarantee the performance by any person
of any obligation to deliver Certificates.

The Mortgage Loans in each Pool of Level Payment Mortgage Loans, Fully Graduated GPMs,
GEMs, Balloon Mortgages or fixed-rate Multifamily Mortgage Loans (collectively, the “Fixed-Rate
Mortgage Loans”), will be held for the benefit of the holders of Certificates (‘““Certificateholders” or
“Holders”) pursuant to the combined terms of a trust indenture, as amended, executed by the
Corporation in its corporate capacity and in its capacity as Trustee (the Trust Indenture dated as of
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November 1, 1981, as modified and amended by a First Supplemental Indenture dated as of
February 15, 1982, a Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 1, 1982, a Third Supplemen-
tal Indenture dated as of August 1, 1983, a Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 1, 1984, a
Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 1, 1984, a Sixth Supplemental Indenture’ dated ’as of
: Supplemental Indenture dated as-of January 1 1987 being herem called the f‘leed Rate Trust
Indenture”), and a supplement thereto for the related Issue (the “Issue Supplement”). The Mortgage
Loans in each Pool of VRMs will be held for the benefit. of Certificateholders pursuant to the combined
terms of an Issue Supplement and a Trust Indenture dated as of July 1, 1982, as modified and
amended by a First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 1, 1983, a Second Supplemental
Indenture dated as of September 1, 1984, a Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 1,
1985, a'Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated-as of August 1, 1985, and a Fifth  Supplemental
Indenture dated as of January 1, 1987, each executed by the Corporation in its corporate capacity and
in‘its capacity as Trustee (such Trust Indenture; as amended, being: Kereinafter called the “VRM
Trust Indénture”) . The Mortgage Loans in each Pool of Graduating GPMs and ARMs will be held for
the benefit of the Ceértificateholders pursuant to the combined teérms’ of an Issue Supplement and a
" Trust Indenture dated as of July-1,"1984, as modified and‘amended by a First'Supplemental Indenture
dated as of January 1, 1987 (the “GPM: Trust Indenture”) and a Trust Indenture dated:as of:July1,
1984, ‘as modified and’amended by a First Supplemental Inderiture dated as of May '1; 1985; and a
Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1,-1987 (the"“ARM Trust /Indernture”),
respectively, each executed by the Corporation in its corporate capacity and in its capacity as Trustee.
The Fixed-Rate Trust Indenture, the VRM. Trust Indenture, the GPM Trust: Indenture, and the ARM
Trust Indenture are herem, collectlvely, referred to as the “Trust Indenture’” or. “TI” where cqmmon
terms and provisions are being referred to or descnbed Certain capltahzed words or series of words in
this Prospectus refer to and are further deﬁned in_the Trust Indenture. The Corporatlon ‘will be
responsible for the admmxstratlon and semcmg of the Mortgage Loans in the Pool,’ mcludmg the
supervision of the servicing activities of Lenders, if appropriate, the collectlon and receipt of payments
from Lenders, and the remittance of distributions and certain reports to. Certlﬁcateholders The
Corporation will be entitled to receive a fee for its guaranty obligations and its services pursuant to the
Trust Indenture. Thefee to-the Corporationifor any Mortgage Loan (out of whichit'will compensate
Lenders for servicing the Mortgage Loans) will, as to any Pool containing Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loans
(a “Fixed-Rate Pool”’), be equal'tothe difference between 'the ‘annual-interest rate borne by ‘the
Mortgage Loan and the anntal rate of interest paid to Certificateholders at the Pass-Through Rate for
the related Fixed-Rate Pool or the Accrual Rate for Pools containing Graduating -GPMs: (a “GPM
Pool”). For any Pool containing ARMs or VRMs (an “ARM Pool” or “VRM Pool”), the Corporation
will similarly compensate itself from interest payments on the underlying ARMs or VRMs as to'each
ARM or VRM Pool The Corporatlon will. reserve the right to remove the servicing responsibility
' 1to be in ‘the best interest of Certlﬁcateholders
3 to prov1de serv1c1ng elther by dlrectly serv1c1ng

The Corporatlon s obllgatlons w1th respect to the Mortgage Loans wxll be hmlted to the serv1c1ng
responsibilities under the Trust Indenture, and; in the event of any delinquency in payment or loss on
any Mortgage Loan, its obligation to make supplemental payments in amounts described herein.under
“ escnptlon of Certlﬁcates—-The Corporatlon s Guaranty

ecause the pnncxpal amount of the Mortgage Loansm a Pool will dechne (w1th the exceptlon of
. Pools and certain ARM Pools:that.contain ARMs providing for deferred interest) monthly as
principal:payments, including prepayments, are received; each:Certificate Principal Balance (defined
as toiany! Certificate to be the principal amount of Mortgage Loans in the:related Pool evidenced
thereby) will also: decline over time. - See “Maturity and Prepayment Assumptions.” - .




YIELD CONSIDERATIONS

Effect of Delay

The effective yield to Certificateholders in all Pools will be reduced slightly below the yield
otherwise produced by the applicable Pass-Through Rate, Pool Accrual Rate or Weighted Average
Pass-Through Rate because the distribution of interest that accrues from the first day of each month
will not be made until the 25th day of the month following the month of accrual

Fixed-Rate Pools

Each Fixed-Rate Pool will consist of Mortgage Loans that bear interest at annual rates
(“Mortgage Interest Rates’’) that are fixed (and may include Fully Graduated GPMs). Such a Fixed-
Rate Poo! may include Mortgage Loans that bear different Mortgage Interest Rates. The Pass-
Through Rate of interest payable to Certificateholders of each such Issue will be equal to the lowest
Muorigige Interest Rate borne by any Mortgage Loan in the related Pool, less a specified minimum
annual percentage representing compensation for servicing and the Corporation’s guaranty. Because
the Pass-Through Rate payable with respect to each Mortgage Loan in a Pool will be the same, any
disproportionate principal prepayments among Mortgage Loans bearing different Mortgage Interest
Rates will not affect the return to Certificateholders.

When a Mortgage Loan is prepaid or otherwise liquidated, the proceeds of such prepayment or
liquidation will, unless the Corporation elects in its discretion to make any distribution thereof in the
following month, be passed through to Certificateholders in the second month following the month of
such prepayment or other liqmdation Because the Corporation agrees to distribute on each
Distribution Date to each Certificateholder an amount as to interest representing one month’s interest
at the Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate Principal Balance, any prepayment or other hquidation of
a Mortgage Loan and the timing of the distribution of the proceeds thereof will have no effect on the
interest return to Certificateholders

Assuming performance by the Corporation of 1ts obligations under 1ts guaranty, the net effect of
each distrbution respecting interest will be the pass-through to each Certaficateholder of an amount
that is equal to one month’s interest at the Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate Principal Balance ol
such Holder’s Certaficate. See “Description of Certificates—Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distribu-
tions on Certificates.”

GPM Pools

A GPM Pool will consist of fixed-rate fully amortizing Mortgage Loans providing for monthly
payments that increase annually for a period of years (generally between three to seven) and are level
thereafter. During all or part of the period in which monthly payments are increasing, those payments
will not be sufficient to cover the full amount of interest on the Graduating GPM at the Mortgage
Interest Rate borne thereby The amount of each such interest insufficiency will be added to the
principal balance of the Graduating GPM, which will accrue interest thereafter on this new increased
amount.

GPM Pools will have characteristics sstmilar to Fixed-Rate Pools described above commencing
with the time at which payments are sufficient to cover interest on the principal balances of the
underlying Graduating GPMs Prior to that time, the Certificates evidencing interests in GPM Pools
will provide for the monthly distmbution of the scheduled interest payment on each Mortgage Loan 1n
the Pool less the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee attributable thereto, the amount ot any such
fee being equal to the difference between the fixed Mortgage Interest Rate at which interest accrues on
the Graduating GPM and the Pool Accrual Rate borne by the related Certificates

The Prospectus Supplement relating to a GPM Pool will set forth the period over which payments
on the Graduating GPMs 1ncrease.




The Corporation’s guaranty of Certificates evidencing interests in GPM Pools will cover the
principal amount of each underlymg Graduating GPM, including any portion thereof representing
deferred interest The Corporation will, following the peniod (the “Deferred Interest Period’ ) during
which such payments are insufficient to cover interest at the Mortgage Interest Rate on their then-
outstanding principal balances, including deferred interest that has been added thereto, also be
obligated to distribute on each Distribution Date one month’s interest at the Pool Accrual Rate on the
then-outstanding principal balances of the underlying Graduating GPMs During the Deferred
Interest Period, the Corporation’s guaranty will cover, as to each underlying Graduating GPM, the
amount of each scheduled payment less the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee apphicable
Lthereto.

VRM Pecols

A VRM Pool will be composed of California home Mortgage Loans bearing interest at rates that
will vary 1n response to a cost of funds index published by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San
Francisco as described 1n the Prospectus Supplement. The interest rates will be adjusted periodically
at umform specified intervals. The Prospectus Supplement to be prepared with respect to each Issue
will specify the fixed annual percentage servicing fee or “Spread” (out of which the Corporation will
compensate Lenders) that the Corporation will retain from interest payments on Mortgage Loans m
the related Pool The resultant interest rate, equal as to each Mortgage Loan to the related Mortgage
Interest Rate less this fixed percentage servicing fee, 1s the “Pass-Through Rate” for that Mortgage
Loan. The Corporation has agreed in the VRM Trust Indenture to pass through payments of interest
on the Mortgage Loans in a Pool, whether or not recewved, in an amount equal to one month’s interest
at the then-current weighted average of the Pass-Through Rates of all Mortgage Loans in that Pool
(the “Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate”) multiplied by the Certificate Principal Balance as of
the preceding Distnibution Date (or, respecting the imitial distribution, as of the Issue Date) The
Weighted Average Pass-Through Rule as of the Issue Date as well as information regarding the
ongmal indexes, the initial Mortgz ice Interest Rates and the then-current Mortgage Interest Rates of
all Mortgage Loans 1n & VRM Pouot will be set forth in the Prospectus Supplement This Weighted
Average Pass-Through Rate will chauge with any changes m the underlying Mortgage Interest Rates
and as disproportionate payments of principal are made on Mortgage Loans bearing different
Mortgage Interest Rates.

When a Mortgage Loan 1s prepaid or otherwise liquidated, the proceeds of such prepayment or
hquidation will, unless the Corporation elects 1n 1ts discretion to make any distribution thereof in the
following month, be passed through to Certificateholders 1n the second month after such prepayment
or other liqmdation. Since the Corporation will agree mn each Certificate to distribute on each
Distribution Date to the Holder thereof an amount as to interest representing one month’s interest at
the then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate on the related Certificate Principal Balance,
any prepayment or other hquidation of a Mortgage Loan and the timing of the distribution of the
proceeds thereof will have no effect on the interest return to Certificateholders.

Assuming performance by the Corporation of 1ts obligations under 1ts guaranty, the net effect of
each distribution respecting interest will be the pass-through to each Certificateholder of an amount
which is equal to one month’s interest at the then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate on
the Certificate Principal Balance of such Holder’s Certificate. See “Description of Certifi-
cates—Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distributions on Certificates.”

ARM Pools

General Characteristics

An ARM Pool will contain Mortzage Loans that bear interest at rates that will vary 1 response o
a smgle specified index (such as, but not hmited to, the indexes described below) and will adjust
periodically at certamn intervals specihed 1n the related Prospectus Supplement. The actual Mortgage
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Inierest Rate at any time borne by an ARM after any imtial fixed-rate period of the ARM will, subject
ta any applicable adjustment caps, be equal to the sum, rounded to the extent specified in the related
Prospectus Supplement, of a specified percentage, or “Mortgage Margin,” and the mndex value then
applicable thereto. ARMs may or may not contain provisions limiting the amount by which rates may
be adjusted upward or downward and may or may not limit the amount by which monthly payments
may be increased or decreased to accommodate upward or downward adjustments in the Mortgage
Interest Rate. Certain ARMs may provide for periodic adjustments of scheduled payments n order to
fully amortize the Mortgage Loan by its stated matunty while other ARMs may permit substantial
balloon payments at matunty or permit that matunity to be extended or shortened 1in accordance with
the portion of each payment that 1s apphed to interest in accordance with the periodic interest rate
adjustments. Unless a Prospectus Supplement specifies otherwise, each ARM 1n the related Pool will
provide for payment adjustments in the month following any interest rate change, each such adjusted
pavment bemng in the amount necessary to pay interest at the Mortgage Interest Rate i effect duning
the month immediately prior to the month 1n which the first payment in the new amount s due and to
fully amortize the outstanding principal balance of the ARM on a level debt service basis over the
remainder of its term.

For ARMs with provisions hmiting the amount by which rates may be adjusted, the Mortgage
Interest Rate for each ARM, when adjusted on each interest rate change date, typically may not be
more than a specified percentage amount greater or less than the mmitial Mortgage Interest Rate, 1n the
case of the first change date, or, 1n the case of any subsequent change date, the Mortgage Interest Rate
that was in effect immediately preceding such change date Such periodic adjustment caps will be
specified in the related Prospectus Supplement. In addition, the Mortgage Interest Rate for an ARM
1s generally also subject to hfetime maximum and minimum caps, as specified 1n the related Mortgage
Note Whenever an ARM 1s hmited by a maximum interest rate cap, the Mortgage Interest Rate shall
be less than the sum of the applicable index value and the Mortgage Margin, whenever an ARM 15
hmited by a mimmmum interest rate cap, the Mortgage Interest Rate shall he greater than the sum of
the apphcable index value and the Mortgage Margin

If an ARM provides for himitations on the amount by which monthly payments may be increased
or f changes to the Mortgage Interest Rate of the ARM are made more frequently than pavment
changes, it is possible that interest due on scheduled payment dates at an increased rate of interest will
not be covered by the amount of the scheduled payment. In that case, the uncollected portion ot
mterest will be deferred and added to the principal balance of the Mortgage Loan.

Certain ARMs may be converted to fixed-rate mortgage loans at the option of their borrowers at
the times and in accordance with the procedures specified in the Mortgage Loan documents. These
“convertible” ARMs will not be included 1n the same Pool with “non-convertible” ARMs If a Pool
consists of “convertible” ARMs (a “Convertible ARM Pool”), the times at which converted ARMs
may begin to accrue interest at a fixed rate will be specified in the related Prospectus Supplement
The method of calculating the new fixed rate of interest borne by the converted ARM will be specified
in the Mortgage Note and generally will be based on a spread ranging from 375% to 1.25% above
erither the Corporation’s or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation’s required net yield for the
purchase of 30-year (15-year if the original term of the ARM was 15 years or less) fixed-rate mortgage
loans covered by short-term mandatory dehvery commitments generally contemporaneous with the
conversion date During the month prior to the month in which a converted ARM bhegins to accrue
interest at the new fixed rate, the Corporation will repurchase the converted ARM from the Pool at a
price equal to 1ts unpaid principal amount, together with one month’s interest at 1ts then-current
Accrual Rate {as defined below). As a result, the weighted average hife of the Certificates evidencing
interests in a Convertible ARM Pool may be significantly shorter than for sstmilar Pools where no such

option to convert and obligation to repurchase exist.

The Corporation’s guaranty of Certificates evidencing interests in ARM Pools will cover the
principal of each underlying Mortgage Loan, including any portion thereof representing delerred
interest Its guaranty of interest will cover all interest due and payable by the mortgagor (net ol the
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Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee). The Corporation also will add to the amount of interest
accompanying the prepayment of an underlying Mortgage Loan any amount by which such interest is
less than one month’s interest at the rate that accrues to Certificateholders on the Mortgage Loan on
the prepaid principal balance thereof Asa consequence, the timing of the prepayment of a Mortgage
Loan will have no effect on the Interest return to Certificateholders.

Pool Accrual Rate

Because the interest rates horne by Mortgage Loans 1 an ARM Poal will, following an 1mtial
fixed-rate period, adjust from time to time, and because a portion of the interest acerued thereon may
be deferred and payable at a future time, Certificates evidencing mterests m such Pools will not
provide for the distribution of mnterest at a fixed Pass-Through Rate. Rather, interest on each ARM 1n
an ARM Pool will accrue to Certificateholders during any period at a monthly rate (the “Accrual
Rate”) that is always equal to the corresponding Mortgage Interest Rate at which mterest accrued on
such ARM during such period net of the Corporation’s percentage servicing and guaranty fee Thig
percentage servicing and guaranty fee may either (1) vary among the ARMs 1n a Pool for which the
Mortgage Margins vary in order to produce a umform margin (the “MBS Margin”) specified 1n the
related Prospectus Supplement that will be used to determme the rate over the applicable 1ndex value
at which interest accrues to Certificateholders (a “Unmiform MBS Margin Pool”) or (i1) be uniform as
to all ARMs in a Pool (a “Umform Fee Pool”}, resulting, 1f the Mortgage Margins vary, in varying
M~ Margms among the ARMs 1n that Pool. For example, 1f the MBS Margin is fixed at a uniform
1.5 among the ARMs m a Uniform MBS Margin Pool, an ARM 1n that Pool that has a Mortgage
Margin of 300 basis points would he assigned a servicing and guaranty fee of 125 basis points and
another ARM in that Poo] having a Mortgage Margin of 275 basis points would be assigned a servicing
and guaranty fee of 100 basis points. Conversely, if the servicing and guaranty fee 1s fixed at 1 25% for
all ARMs in a Umiform Fee Pool, an ARM 1n that Pool that has a Mortgage Margin of 300 basis points
would be assigned an MBS Margin of 175%, and another ARM m that Pool having a Mortgage
Margin of 275 basis points would have an MBS Margin of 1.50% To the extent, no interest rate cap 1s
applicable and the Mortgage Interest Rate of an ARM 1s freely floating, the Accrual Rate of that ARM
will always be equal, before ging effect to any rounding, to the sum of the applicable Index value and
the ARM’s MBS Margm.

At any tume, interest for any month will accrue to Certificateholders at a rate that equals the
weighted average of the individual Accrual Rates of the ARMs {the “Pool Accrual Rate™) If the
Mortgage Interest Rates for all ARMs 1n a Pool are freely floating and not affected by an interest rate
cap, the Pool Accrual Rate will at any such time be equal, before gving effect to any rounding, to the

guaranty fees,

The range of Mortgage Margins for the ARMs in a Pool will be set forth in the related Prospectus
Supplement. The Prospectus Supplement for a Uniform MBS Margin Pool will also set forth the fixed

MBS Margn for that Pool For Uniform Fee Pools, the inmital weighted average MBS Margin at the



weighted average MBS Margin 1n the Fannie Mae Monthly ARMSs Report supplement to the Fannie
Mae Monthly Factor Report pubhshed by The Bond Buyer (the “Monthly ARMs Report”) that will be
applicable to the distribution to be made in the month of the publication of such Monthly ARMs
Report (which distribution reflects the Accrual Rates of the ARMs 1n the month preceding the month
of publication), subject to any deferral of interest. Although changes in the weighted average of the
Mortgage Margins of ARMs m a Umform MBS Margin Pool will affect the weighted average of the
fixed servicing and guaranty fees applicable to the ARMs included therein (with a corresponding effect
on the Pool Accrual Rate during any initial fixed-rate period or whenever Mortgage Interest Rate caps
may be applicable), no such updated nformation will be published for Pools of this type.

Information as to the approximate maximum and mmimum (1f applicable) Pool Accrual Rates of
a Pool (1 e, the weighted averages of the maximum and minimum Accrual Rates of the ARMSs 1n the
Pool) will be mncluded in the Prospectus Supplement. These rates will be computed using the
maximum and minimum Accrual Rates of the ARMs mn a Pool weighted on the basis of their Issue
Date Principal Balances. Differences in the amortization, prepayment, or maturity dates of ARMs
with differing maximum and minimum Mortgage Interest Rates, and, in the case of Uniform MBS
Margin Pools, fixed servicing and guaranty fees, are likely to cause the imitial maximum and minimum
Pool Accrual Rates for a Pool to change over the life of that Pool. In addition, if a Prospectus
Supplement discloses that any assumption of an ARM in the related Pool by a new mortgagor may
result 1n a change 1n the maximum and/or minimum Mortgage Interest Rates applicable thereto, any
such assumption may also affect the maximum and minimum Pool Accrual Rates.

Maturity, Interest Rate Change Dates

The weighted average remaiming term to maturity of the ARMSs 1 a Pool will be set forth in the
related Prospectus Supplement. The Prospectus Supplement also will specify whether or not the
ARMs in a Pool all have the same interest rate change dates on and after the Issue Date. If the
interest rate change dates for ARMs in a Pool are uniform, the Accrual Rates for all ARMs in a Pool
wiil, subsequent to the first interest rate change date on or after the Issue Date of the Pool, be based
or. Mortgage Interest Rates that have been calculated using the same index value If the Prospectus
Supplement indicates that the ARMs in a Pool have varying terest rate change dates, the Pool
Accrual Rate for any month will be calculated based on Mortgage Interest Rates that, after the 1nitial
fised-rate period of each of the ARMs, have been determined based on varying index values For
nstance, with respect to a Pool that contains ARMs with both March 1 and August 1 annual interest
rate change dates and a 45-day “look-back” period, interest will accrue to Certificateholders during the
month of August with respect to the March 1 interest rate change date ARMSs on the basis of the index
value most recently available 45 days prior to March 1, and with respect to the August 1 interest rate
change date ARMs on the basis of the index value most recently available 45 days prior to August |
This results 1n the likelihood of a Pool Acerual Rate that, even 1n the case of a Uniform MBS Margin
Pool, represents a weighted average of the different Accrual Rates of the ARMs included therein The
uniform or varying interest rate change dates of the ARMs in a Pool will be specified 1n the related
Piospectus Supplement. In addition, the Prospectus Supplement will specify a “Weighted Average
Months to Roll” that represents the weighted average amount of time from the Issue Date of the
related Pool to the next interest rate change dates of all ARMs mn the Pool

Assumptions

The ARMs m each Pool are assumable by a new mortgagor and the Corporation’s general policy,
described herein under “Description of Certificates—Collection and Other Servicing Procedures,” to
require acceleration in the event of certan transfers of the underlying property is mapplcable

The Indexes

The index for each ARM Pool will be 1dentified in the related Prospectus Supplement Two
ccmmonly used indexes are the weekly average yield on United States Treasury Securities adjusted to
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a constant maturity of one year or three years as published by the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System in the Federal Reserve Statistical Release: Selected Interest Rates H.15 (519) (the
“One Year Treasury Index” and the “Three Year Treasury Index™). Another frequently used index is
currently published by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco (the “FHLB of San
Francisco™) on or about the last working day of each month and is designed to represent the monthly
weighted average cost of funds for savings institutions in Arizona, Califorma, and Nevada that are
member institutions of the Eleventh Federal Home Loan Bank District {the “Eleventh District”) for
the month prior to publication (the “COFT Index”) The COFI Index for a particular month refiects
the 1nterest costs paid on all types of funds held by Eleventh District member nstitutions and 1s
calculated by dividing the cost of funds by the average of the total amount of those funds outstanding
at the end of that month and of the prior month and annuahzing and adjusting the result to reflect the
actual number of days in the particular month. If necessary, before these calculations are made, the
component figures are adjusted by the FHLB of San Francisco to neutralize the effect of events such
as member institutions leaving the Eleventh District or acquiring nstitutions outside the Eleventh
District The COFI Index 1s weighted to reflect the relative amount of each type of funds held at the
end of the relevant month. There are four major components of funds of Eleventh District member
mstitutions® (1) savings deposits, (i1} time deposits, (in) FHLB of San Francisco advances, and
(iv) all other borrowings Unhke most other interest rate measures, the COFI Index does not
necessarily reflect current market rates because the component funds represent a variety of maturities
whose costs may react in different ways to changing conditions.

A number of factors affect the performance of the COFI Index that may cause 1t to move 1n a
manner different from indexes tied to specific interest rates, such as the One Year Treasury Index and
the Three Year Treasury Index. Because of the various maturities of the liabilities upon which the
COFI Index s based, the COFI Index may not necessarily reflect the average prevailing market
interest rates on new liabihties of similar matunities. Additionally, the COFT Index may not
necessarily move in the same direction as market interest rates at all times, because as longer term
deposits or borrowings mature and are renewed at prevailing market interest rates, the COFI Index 1s
influenced by the differential between the prior and the new rates on those deposits or borrowings, In
addition, such movement of the COFI Index, as compared with other indexes tied to specific interest
rates, may be affected by changes mstituted by the FHLB of San Francisco 1n the method used to
calculate the Index The FHLB of San Francisco publishes the COFI Index 1 1its monthly Federal
Home Loan Bank of San Francisco Information Bulletin and such bulletins may be obtained from its
Office of Pubhe Information.

Lasted below are some historical values for the above-mentioned indexes which are provided for
selected months from June 1982 to December 1989 and monthly from January 1990 to February 1991,
The values for the One Year Treasury Index and the Three Year Treasury Index are the first weekly
values published mn a given month. The values for the COFI Index represent the weighted average cost
of funds for the given month, as published the month thereafter.
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One Three

Year Year
Treasury Treasury COFI
Year-Month Index Index Index
1982-June . 13.000% 13.710% 12 673%
-December 9.070 9.920 11 093
1983-June . 9,230 9.950 9 824
-December 10.010 ~ 10 980 10.192
1984-June 12.100 13.250 10.434
-December 9 550 10.670 10 520
1985-June . 8.090 9.360 9.565
-December 7.870 8750 8 867
1986-June 68.790 7.470 8374
-December . 5.770 6.390 7.509
1987-June 6 950 8010 7.274
-December ) . 7 (020 8.050 7.645
1988-June . . 7.580 8.400 7.618
-December . 8.750 8.980 8.022
1989-June 8.800 8710 8.923
-December 7.730 7.760 8.476
1990-January . ; 7.800 7.900 8 369
-February . 8.090 8.380 8.403
-March 8.140 8.440 8.258
-April 8.340 8.630 8211
~May 8.560 9.010 8.171
-June . 8 180 8.500 8.086
-July 8.130 8420 8.109
-August 7670 8010 8.075
-September 7 850 8.330 8.091
-October 7.790 8.330 8.050
-November 7.410 7.950 8.044
-December . 7.300 7 680 7963
1991-January .. .. . 6.780 7.340 7.858
-February 6.510 7290 7.848

Unless otherwise specified in the Prospectus Supplement, the index value for each ARM’s interest
rate change date 1s that value that is most recently available 45 days prior to such interest rate change
date. For a particular Distribution Date, the appheable index value is the value {which will be a
weighted average value if the ARMs mn a Pool have varying interest rate change dates) that was used
to determine the interest rates of the ARMs 1n a Pool for the prior month

MATURITY AND PREPAYMENT ASSUMPTIONS

The original maturities of substantially all of the Conventional Level Payment Mortgage Loans
are expected to be between either 8 to 15 years or 20 to 30 years The maturities of substantially all of
the FHA /VA Level Payment Mortgage Loans at origination are expected to be 30 years. Each Level
Payment Mortgage Loan with an original maturity of 30 years will provide for amortization of
principal according to a schedule that, in the absence of prepayments, would result in repayment of
one-half of the original principal amount of such Mortgage Loan by approximately the 23rd to 27th
year, with higher Mortzaze Interest Rates resulting in slower amortization of principal A 15-year
fully amortizing Les¢| P'nwment Mortgage Loan would, in the absence of prepayments, result in
repayment of one-hali u{ the ornginal principal amount by approximately the 10th to 12th year, with
higher Mortgage Interest Rates resulting in slower amortization of principal The original maturities
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of the Mortgage Loans in an ARM Pool may range from 15 to 30 years.. The original maturities of

Balloon Mortgages may range from 7 to 10 years. Each Balloon Mortgage provides for monthly .-

payments based upon a 30-year amortization schedule with a lump sum payment equal to the unpaid
~ principal balance of the Balloon Mortgage on its maturity date '

A significant number of the Conventional Mortgage Loans may provide by thelr terms that in the

event of the sale of all or some of the underlying property the full unpaid principal balance of the :.
Mortgage Loan is due and payable at the option of the holder. FHA/VA Mortgage Loans contain no

such “due-on-sale” provisions. As set forth under:“Description of Certificates— Collection and Other

Servicing Procedures,” the Trust Indenture or related Issue Supplement requires the Corporation to -

exercise its right to accelerate the maturity of a Conventional Mortgage Loan other than a ' VRM or

ARM in such an event so long as acceleration is permitted under applicable law unless ‘it elects to ..

repurchase such Mortgage Loan. Further, the Corporation will not enforce “due-on-sale” provisions
in the event that a property is transferred from one co-borrower to an unrelated co-borrower under the

circumstances specified in the published guidelines of Fannie Mae govermng assumabrllty of the:

related Conventronal Mortgage Loan.

The ability of mortgage lenders .and their assignees and transferees to enforce “dueaon sale”

clauses was addressed by the “Garn-St Germain Depository Institutions Act of 1982,” which was

passed by Congress and signed into law on October. 15, 1982. This legislation, subject to certain -

exceptions, pre:empts state statutory and case law that:prohibits the enforcement of “due-on-sale”

clauses. Exempted from this'pre-emption:are mortgage loans (originated other than by federally :

chartered lenders) that were made or assumed durmg the period beginning on the date a state, by
statute or statewide court decision, prohibited the exercise of “due-on- -sale” clauses and ending on
October 15, 1982 (the “window period”). Mortgage lenders, however, may requ1re any successor or
transferee of the borrower to meet customary credit standards. The exemptlon for such loans ended

on October 15, 1985 unless the state acted to otherwise regulate these loans by that date. Several
states passed leglslatlon extendmg the assumabrltty of the mortgage loans that were made or assuimed

during the wmdow period. In the case of those states, the enforceablhty of “due-on-sale” clauses in
loans made or assumed’ durmg the window period is l1m1ted by the provisions of the applicable state
legrslatlon The federal legrslatron also enumerates nine circumstances under which a lender may not

enforce “due- -on-sale” clauses, e.g., the creation ofa subordinate encumbrance that does not relateto a

transfer of nghts of oceupancy in the property, a transfer by devise, descent, or operation of law on the
death of a joint tenant or tenant by the entirety, and the granting of a leasehold interest of three years
or less not containing an option to purchase. .

Conventwnal Mortgage Loans. purchased by the Corporatlon from November 10, 1980, to -

October 15, 1982, in jurisdictions where, on the date of origination, the law substantially restricted
lenders from enforcmg “due- -on- -sale”” provr_s s may provide that they are due and payable at the
holder’s option at the end of seven years. As described in “Description of Certificates—Collection and
Other Servicing Procedures;” the Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation will exercise-or
refram from exercising any such ‘“call option rider” in a manner that is consistent with then-current

own portfolio.

The Corporation’s rate’ of prepayments on lts entlre portfoho of 30-year smgle family loans
(which contains fixed-rate loans with widely varying interest rates as well as ARMs with greatly
different terms) has been relatively constant in recent years. The table under “Busmess——Mortgage
'io—Repayments and Sales” in the Information Statement shows that changes in

with 1988, were relatively small, whereas repayments during 1988 were 29 percent less than in 1987-
The decrease in: repayments experrenced in- 1988-when compared with 1987 were a result of increases
in mortgage interest" rates. The slight changes experienced in repayments in 1989 and 1990 were

'es or practices employed by the Corporatlon respectlng comparable mortgage loans held in 1ts '

“(including foreclosures) ‘during 1990 ‘compared with 1989, and during. 1989 compared -

primarily due to greatér stability of interest rates. In- 1988, 1989 and 1990, there were $10.7 billion, -

$11.0 billion and $11.6 billion, respectively, in mortgage repayments (exclusive of foreclosures) that
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the Corporation received, which included approximately $8 4 bilhon, 38 5 billion and $8 8 billion,
respectively, for mortgages that were prepaid.

In an environment of declining interest rates, lenders servicing mortgage loans often are asked by
mortgagors to refinance the mortgage loans through 1ssuance of new loans secured by mortgages on
tte same properties The resultant prepayments, if they mvolve Mortgage Loans in Pools, result in
the distribution to Certificateholders of the principal balances of the prepaid Mortgage Loans and
their removal from the Pools Under the Corporation’s current pohicy, Lenders servicing Mortgage
Loans are permitted to advertise in a general manner their avatability to handle refinancings,
although they may not specifically target mortgagors whose Mortgage Loans are mn Pools. The
Corporation does not, however, permit Lenders to remove Mortgage Loans from Pools for the purpose
ol Mortgage Loan modifications

In general, when the level of interest rates declines sigmficantly below the interest rates on
wortgage loans, the rate of prepayment is likely to increase, although the prepayment rate 1s
rfluenced by a number of other factors, including general economic conditions and homeowner
mobility  In addition, certain Mortgage Loans may have provisions for prepayment penalties 1n
varying amounts that may or may not influence prepayment rates Accordingly, the Corporation
cannot estimate what the prepayment experience of the Mortgage Loans in Pools will be See also
“Description of Certificates—Termination” for a description of the Corporation’s option to repur-
chase the Mortgage [ o»ins 1n any Pool when the aggregate principal balance thereof becomes less than
10 percent of the 1wyrcgate principal balance of the Mortgage Loans in the Pool on the Issue Date.

A GEM provides tor scheduled annual increases in the mortgagor’s monthly payments. Because
the additional scheduled portion of the monthly payments 1s applied to reduce the unpaid principal
balance of a GEM, the scheduled maturity of a GEM will be significantly shorter than the 25- or 30-
year term used as the basis for calculating the mitial level installment of principal and interest
applicable until the first adjustment The latest matunty date and weighted average remaimng term
sat forth 1n the Prospectus Supplement for a Fixed-Rate Pool containing GEMs are calculated without
regard to the original term used for purposes of calculating the initial monthly payment amount, but
are based on the term required to amortize the Issue Date Principal Balance of each GEM, based on
ils interest rate and current monthly installment assuming only scheduled increases 1 monthly
payments and no prepayments of principal. No GEM that matures by its terms more than 15 years
subsequent to the Issue Date of the related Certificates will be ehgible for inclusion in a Pool.

As set forth above under “Yield Considerations,” GPMs provide for payments that mncrease
annually for a period of years (generally between three and seven) and then amortize on a level
payment basis to their stated maturity Because the principal amount of a GPM will increase during
115 Deferred Interest Period, the time at which one-half of the principal amount of a GPM will be paid
in accordance with its amortization schedule will be longer than for a Level Payment Mortgage Loan
Learing a stmilar Mortgage Interest Rate. The maturities of substantially all VRMSs at origination are
expected to be 30 years, but the maturity of each Mortgage Loan may at the option of the mortgagor
be increased to a term not 1 excess of 40 years in the event of certain increases m the Mortgage
Interest Rate ARMs vary substantially as to their terms and it is impossible to generalize as to the
speed at which they will amortize 1n the absence of prepayments

Second Lien Mortgage Loans

The onginal maturities of second lLien Mortgage Loans are expected to be between 8 and 15 years.
All of the Mortgage Loans may be prepaid in whole or n part at any time without penalty. The
Corporation 1s not aware of any reliable studies or statistics on the rate of prepayment of second lien
Mortgage Loans Generally, second lien Mortgage Loans are not viewed by mortgagors as permanent
financing because in most instances the term 1s shorter and the interest rate 1s higher than on first lien
Mortgage Loans placed under similar circumstances. Accordingly, they may prepay at a higher rate
ihan traditional fixed-rate first hen Mortgage Loans with substantially similar coupons  In addition,
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any future himitation on the nght of borrowers to deduct interest payments on second hen Mortgage
Loans for federal income tax purposes also may contribute to a higher rate of prepayments of such
Mortgage Loans Prepayment expenence may also be affected by a wide variety of additional factors,
including general economic conditions, mterest rates, the availablity of alternative financing and
homeowner mebihty  The Corporation will enforce the “due-on-sale” provisions of such Mortgage
Loans (other than an ARM) or, 1n the alternative, will repurchase such Mortgage Loans subject to the
same conditions as its general obligation with respect to fixed-rate first hen Conventional Mortgage
Loans described above

PURCHASE PROGRAM

Set forth below 1s a description of certain aspects of the Corporation’s purchase program for
mortgage loans ehgible for incluston t a Pool (the “Program™) The Prospectus Supplement to be
prepared with respect to each Issue will contam nformation on the Mortgage Loans 1n the Pool,
including information as to the type of Mortgage Loans, the agprevate principal balance of the
Mortgage Loans as of the Issue Date, for Fixed-Rate Pools the Pass 1 hrough Rate, for GPM Pools the
Pool Accrual Rate, for ARM Pools the mmitial Pool Accrual Rate, fur VRM Pools the mitial Weighted
Average Pass-Through Rate, and the latest maturity date of any Mortgage Loan.

Lender Eligibility

The Corporation will purchase Mortgage Loans from eligible federally and state-chartered savings
and loan associations, mutual savings banks, commercial banks, credit unions, and similar financial
mmstitutions, the deposits or accounts of which are msured by a fund administered by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or the National Credit Union Administration from certain
other state-insured financial mstitutions and from certain mstitutions, principally mortgage bankers,
that are mortgage sellers approved by the Corporation. The Corporation, on an individual institution
basis, will determine whether such nstitutions will be approved as Lenders for the Program by
applying certain criteria. which may include depth of mortgage ongination experience, servicing
experience, and financial capacity. Approved Lenders wall be party with the Corporation to a
Mortgage Selling and Serviemg Contract.

Mortgage Loan Eligibility
General

The Mortgage Loans to be included 1n each Pool will be Mortgage Loans on residential properties.
Each Mortgage Loan purchased for mclusion in a Pool will be subject to and must comply with the
terms of the current Selling Guide (and the Multifamily Guide, if applicable) unless Fannie Mae
grants an exception with respect to certamn requirements These Mortgage Loans are permanent loans
(as opposed to construction and land development loans) secured by Mortgages on properties
compnised of (i) single-family dwelhng units, including units in condominium projects and planned
unit developments or (1) multifamily projects consisting of five or more dwelling units. The
Prospectus Supplement to be prepared with respect to each Issue backed by Multifamily Mortgage
Loans will describe the ehgbilits critena for such loans, which will differ 1n certain respects from the
cniteria described below. Each Mortgare Loan will be documented by the appropriate FNMA /FHLMC
Uniform Instrument 1n effect st the time of origination, or an FHA or VA mortgage instrument or
other instrument acceptable to the Corporation, and will comply with all apphcable federal and local
laws, including laws relating to usury, equal credit opportunity, and disclosure.

There 1s no requirement that Mortgage Loans be payable on the first day of the month in order to
be ehgible for mclusion in a Pool. The Mortgage Loans generally must have had maturities of not
more than 30 years from their date of origination, although VRMs can be extended to 40 years at the
option of the mortgagor in the event of certain increases in the Mortgage Interest Rates.

17



Conventional Mortgage Loans

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seling Guide, first lien Conventional Mortgage Loans must
be real estate loans secured by first Mortgages on residential properties, with onginal principal
balances that {when combined with the original principal balance of any second lien Mortgage Loan in
which the Corporation has an interest} did not exceed certain federally imposed maximum principal
balance limitations apphe 1ble to the Corporation. In 1991, the maximum dollar purchase limitations
for Conventional Mortgaze Loans are as follows: $191,250 for mortgages secured by one-family
residences ($286,875 1n Alaska and Hawaii); $244,650 for mortgages secured by two-family residences
($366,975 in Alaska and Hawai); $295,650 for mortgages secured by three-family residences
($443,475 in Alaska and Hawan); and $367,500 for mortgages secured by four-family residences
($551,250 in Alaska and Hawai1). The maximum mortgage amount for a second lien Mortgage Loan
18 50 percent of the Corporation’s conventional first mortgage lmit for a single-family dwelling.
Additionally, the Corporation will acquire the second lien Mortgage Loan only if the combined original
halance of both the first lien Mortgage Loan and the second hen Mortgage Loan do not exceed
$191,250 ($286,875 in Alaska and Hawail).

First hen Conventional Mortgage Loans (other than Multifamily Mortgage Loans) with loan-to-
value ratios exceeding 80 percent must have the principal amount of the indebtedness 1n excess of 75
percent of the appraised value of the Mortgaged Property insured by a policy of pnmary mortgage
guaranty insurance. Second lien Conventional Mortgage Loans (other than Multifamily Mortgage
Loans) where the combined loan-to-value ratio of the first lien and the second lien exceeds 70 percent
must be insured by a pohey of primary mortgage guaranty msurance in an anount equal to 25 percent
of the unpaid principal balance of such second lien Conventional Mart ziwwe Loan Each mortgage
insurer must be licensed to transact a mortgage guaranty insurance bu-incs- 1 the state where the
Mortgaged Property 15 located and be acceptable to the Corporation: as a wortgage insurer. Ag an
alternative to the requirement to chtain mortgage insurance for such Conventional Mortgage Loans,
Lenders may contract with the Corporation to repurchase such Conventional Mortgage Loans for such
period and under such circumstances as the Corporation may require 1n the event the Conventional
Mortgage Loans are in default

The maximum loan-to-value ratio at the time of purchase for a Conventional Mortgage Loan
secured by a first Mortgage on an owner-occupied one-family property (other than second homes)
that does not secure any subordinate financing is 95 percent (90 percent in the case of ARMs or
Balloon Mortgages). Where such a property also secures subordinate financing, the maximum loan-
to-value ratio of the sum of the Conventional Mortgage Loan and the subordinate financing is 90
parcent  In the case of a Conventional Mortgage Loan secured by a first Mortgage on an owner-
occupied one-family second home that does not secure any subordinate financing, the maximum loan-
to-value ratio is 80 percent In addition, if such a property also secures subordinate financing, the
maximum loan-to-value ratio of the sum of the Conventional Mortgage Loan and the subordinate
financing is 90 percent.

The maximum loan-to-value ratio {including the unpaid principal balance of all subordinate
financing) at the time of purchase for a Conventional Mortgage Loan secured by an owner-occupied
two-family property is generally 90 percent. The maximum loan-to-value ratio (including the unpaid
principal balance of all subordinate financing) at the time of purchase for a Conventional Mortgage
Loan secured by an owner-occupied three- to four-family property is 80 percent In the case of a first
hen Conventional Mortgage Loan secured by an investment property, the maximum loan-to-value
ratio (including the unpaid principal balance of all subordinate financing} at the time of purchase 1s
70 percent. The maximum combined loan-to-value ratio of a second hien Conventional Mortgage Loan
and the first hen financing 1s 80 percent

Pursuant to the requirements of the Selling Gunde, each Lender that sells a Conventional
Mortgage Loan to the Corporation for the purposes of the Program must assume responsibility for
underwriting such Conventional Mortgage Loan using the same underwriting criteria, as from time to
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time in effect, that must be met by mortgage loans eligible for Fannie Mae portfolio purchases. As
provided above, exceptions to these underwriting criteria (including the maximum loan-to-value ratio
limitations) may be granted by the Corporation from time-to-time. After delivery of the Conventional
Mortgage Loans, the Corporation will conduct reviews of the quality of credit and property underwrit-
ing used in the origination of certain randomly selected Conventional Mortgage Loans.

FHA/VA Mortgage Loans

Pursuant:to the requirements of the Selling Gurde, FHA/VA Mortgage: Loans must be real estate
loans with stated constant annual rates of interest, secured :by first mortgages -on residential
properties. The principal balance and loan-to-value ratio of each FHA Mortgage Loan must comply
with the standards established by the FHA. In the case-of VA Mortgage Loans, the Corporation has
imposed a maximum principal balance limitation of $184,000. In addition; the unguaranteed portion
of the' VA Mortgage Loan amount cannot be greater than 75 percent of the lesser of (i) the purchase
price of the property or (ii) the VA’s estimate of reasonable value. Each FHA/VA Mortgage Loan
must. be insured or guaranteed by a valid and subsrstmg pohcy or guaranty in full force and eﬁect

DESCRIPTION OF CERTIFICATES

Each Issue of Certificates will be issued pursuant- to. the applicable Trust Indenture .described
above. The applicable Trust Indenture will,-as to each Issue, be supplemented: by an Issue
Supplement, which will be prepared at the time of the creation of such Issue.- The Issue Supplement
will set forth the specific terms of the Issue, such as the Pass-Through Rate applicable thereto in the
case of Fixed-Rate Pools and the Issue Date. The Issue Supplement will also c¢ontain any variation
from the basic Trust Indenture applicable to a particular Issue; any such variation also being described
in the Prospectus Supplement relating to such Issue. As set forth under “Legal Opinion;” the validity
of each Issue of Certificates, the Trust Indenture, and the applicable Issue Supplement will be passed
upon by the General Counsel of the Corporatlonmpon the request of any Holder of Certificates of such
Issue. : : ‘

Mortgage Loans not prevmusly held in the Corporatron s portfoho will be purchased pursuant to a
Pool Purchase Contract for cash or in exchange for Certificates in the related Pool. Such Mortgage
Loans wrll be serviced by one of the Corporatlon approved Lenders, normally the same entity as the
loan originator, pursuant to the terms of the Pool Purchase Contract, as supplemented by the Selling
Guide, the Servicing Guide and the Multifamily Guide, if applicable (collectively, the “Guides”),
which is incorporated therein by reference. Copies of the Trust Indenture may be obtained from the
Corporation’s Washington, D.C. office; ‘or from any of the Corporatlon s reglonal ofﬁces in Philadel- -
phia, Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas, and Pasadena : g

‘The following summaries describe certain prov1s1ons of the Trust Indenture These summaries do
not purport to be complete and are subject to, and quahﬁed in their entirety by reference to, the more
complete provisions of the Trust Indenture.

General

The Certificates will represent Fractional Undlvrded Interests in the Trust Fund created pursuant
to the Trust Indenture and Issue Supplement for each Issue. The Fractional Undivided Interest
represented by a particular Certificate will be equal to the initial principal denomination of such
Certificate entered on the books of a Federal Reserve Bank divided by the aggregate Stated Principal
Balance (1) of the Mortgage Loans in the Pool (the “Pool Principal Balance”) as of the Issue Date.

(1) All references herein to the Stated Prmcrpal Balance of a Mortgage Loan or to the. aggregate
Stated Principal ‘Balance of all Mortgage Loans in a Pool are to-the principal balance .or aggregate
principal balance, as the case may be, utilized by the Corporation in calculating the then-outstanding
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The Trust Fund for an Issue consists of (1) such Mortgage Loans as from time to time are subject to
the Trust Indenture and Issue Supplement, (ii} such payments or other recoveries on Mortgage Loans
as from time to time may he considered to he held by the Corporation for Certificateholders,
(iii) property acquired by foreclosure of Mortgzage Loans or by deed in lieu of foreclosure, and (iv) the
interest of Certificateholders in the obligation ol the Corporation to supplement payments and other
recoveries on Mortgage Loans to the extent necessary to make required distmbutions to
Certificateholders.

Unless the related Prospectus Supplement provides otherwise, Certificates will be available in
book-entry form only and will not be convertible to definitive form A Fiscal Agency Agreement
between the Corporation and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York makes generally apphcable to
Certificates m book-entry form (i) regulations governing the Corporation’s use of the book-entry
system, contained in 24 C.F.R. Part 81, Subpart E, (ii) such procedures, insofar as applicable, as may
from time to time be established by regulations of the United States Department of the Treasury
governing United States securities, as now set forth in Treasury Department Circular Number 300,
31 C.F.R. Part 306 (other than Subpart O), and (iii) the Federal Reserve Bank’s operating circulars
and letters. Certificates can be accommodated on the Federal Reserve Bank’s book-entry system in a
mmimum denomination of $1,000 and in additional increments of one dollar and will be freely
transferable on the records of a Federal Reserve Bank.

Certificates will be maintained on the book-entry system of a Federal Reserve Bank in a manner
that permits separate trading and ownership. The Federal Reserve Bank of New York will make
payments on the Certificates on behalf of Fannie Mae on the applicable Distnibution Dates by
crediting accounts on 1ts records or on the records of other Federal Reserve Banks. Certificates may
bz held of record only by entities eligible to maintain book-entry accounts with a Federal Reserve
Bank. Such entities are not necessarily the beneficial owners of the Certificates. Beneficial owners
will ordinarily hold Certificates through one or more financial intermediaries, such as banks, brokerage
firms and securities clearing vrginizations A Certificateholder that is not the beneficial owner of a
Certificate, and each other hoancial intermediary in the chain to the beneficial owner, will have the
responsibility of establishing and ma.ntaining accounts for its respective customers. The rights of the
beneficial owner of a Certificate with respect to Fannie Mae and the Federal Reserve Bank may be
ecercised only through the financial intermedharies thereof. Fannie Mae and the Federal Reserve
Bank will have no direct obligation to a beneficial owner of a Certificate that is not also the owner of
record according to the account maintained by the Federal Reserve Bank The Federal Reserve Bank
will act only upon the instructions of the record owner in recording transfers of a Certificate.

Distributions of principal and interest on each Issue of Certificates will be made by the
Corporation on the 25th day of each month (the “Distribution Date™) to the persons in whose names
the Certificates are entered on the books of a Federal Reserve Bank as of the close of business on the
last day of the preceding month (the “Record Date”). The first distribution for each Issue of
Certificates will be in the month following the month in which the [ssue Date occurs., Distributions for
each Issue will be made by wire to the person entitled thereto as 1t appears on the Certificate not later

than the 25th day of each month.

As described under “Rights Upon Event of Default,” Holders of Certificates will have the right
uader certain circumstances to appoint a successor Trustee

principal balances of Certificates. Such Stated Principal Balances may differ from actual principal
balances for a number of reasons, including supplemental payments by the Corporation on delinguent
Mortgage Loans pursuant to its guaranty obligations and delays in the distmbution ot certain
Mortgage Loan receipts
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Transfer of Mortgage Loans to Pools _

Each Mortgage ‘Loan transferred to & Pool will be 1dent1ﬁed ‘in a"Mortgage Loan Schedule
appearing as an exhibit to the Issue Supplement for the related Issue of Certificates. In addition, in
the case of whole Mortgage Loans, the Corporation, as'Trustee of the Mortgage Loans, will hold on .
behalf of Certificateholders the original Mortgage Note, endorsed in blank, and an assignment to the
Corporatlon of the mortgage instrument. Usually ass1gnments are in a form suitable for ‘recording but
they are not recorded. However, a blanket assignment may be used for the transfer of a large number
of Mortgage Loans, even if the propertles are not located in the same recordlng Junsdlctlon dependlng
on the Lender’s servicing experience and its financial condition. At its option, the Corporation may
choose to maintain such documents with a custodian institution (the Lender or another institution)
supervised and regulated by the Comptroller of the Currency, the Board of Governors of the Federal '
Reserve System, the Office of Thrift Supervision or the FDIC. The Corporation’ will’ review the
Mortgage Loan Schedule prior to the issuance of the Certificates and will conduct random spot checks
to conﬁrm the suiﬁmency of the documents after issuance of the Certlﬁcates

Although the above procedures are intended to protect the interests of the Holders of Certrﬁcates
in the Mortgage Loans in the related Pool, the law applicable to'a liquidation, reorganization, or:
similar proceeding invelving the assets of a Lender or of the Corporation is unclear and as a result no
opinion can be rendered as to the status of Certificateholders’ interests in‘the event of any such
proceedmg -The Corporation’s guaranty would, however, by 1ts terms be avallable in the event of any
such proceedlng mvolvmg the assets of a'Lender. .

Servrcmg Through Lenders

Pursuant to the Trust Indenture, the Corporatlon i respon31ble for servicing and admlmstermg '
the ‘Mortgage Loans but, in its discretion, is permitted to contract with the originator of each
Mortgage Loan, or another eligible servicing-institution, to perform<such “functions under the
supervision of the Corporation as more fully described herein. ‘Any servicing ¢ontract or arrangement
by the Corporation with a Lender for the direct servicing of Mortgage Loans is a-contract solely
between the Corporation and that Lender, and the Certificateholders are not deemed to be parties
thereto and have. no claims, nghts obhgatlons, dutles, or llabxhtres wrth respect to such Lender. (TI
Sectlon 5 01) . ‘

Lenders ‘will be obhgated purs iant to' the apphcable Gulde to perform dlllgently all services and
duties customary ‘to the servicing of mortgages, as well as those specifically prescribed by the
applicable Guide.  The Corporation will' monitor the Lender’s performanceé and has the right to remove
any Lender for cause at any time it considers such removal to be in the best intérest of Certificate-
holders. The duties performed by Lenders include’ general loan ‘servicing responsibilities,’ collection
and remittance of principal and interest payments, administration of mortgage €scrow ‘accounts,
collection of insurance claims, and, if necessary, foreclosure.

The Corporation retains as to each Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loan the differéncé in interest between
the annual Mortgage Interest Rate borne by the Mortgage Loan and the Pass-Through Rate on the
Jertificates. For example, if a Mortgage Loan with a 12.25 percent Mortgage Interest Rate is'included
in a Pool against which a Certificate with an 11.25 percent Pass- Through Rate is 1ssued the

 Loan. For VRMs, the Corporation will retain from interest_ payments a ﬁxed annual
ee, .Or “Spread ? as descrlbed under “VRM Pools” above. For ARMs and Graduatmg

_ The Corporatlon is also entltled to retain prepayment '
, mrlar charges to the extent they are collected from borrowers.
The Corporatlon w111 compensate Lenders in an -amount up to, but never exceedlng, the amount of
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interest retention described above, less a prescribed minimum amount to be retained bythe
Corporation for itself in consideration of its guaranty obhgatlons and servicing responsibilities.

Payments on Mortgage Loans, Dlstrlbutlons on Certlﬁcates

On the 25th day of each ‘month (beg‘mnmg w1th the ‘month followmg the month of the Issue'
Date), or, if such 25th day is not a business day, on the first business day next. succeedmg such 25th
day, the Corporatlon will, respecting . each Issue, distribute to Certificateholders an amount equal to
the total of (i) the prmclpal due on the Mortgage Loans in the rela Pool during the perlod
begmnmg on the second day of the month prior. to the month of such d1 tlon and endmg on the

cipal Balance of any

ourchased by the
Corporatlon as descnbed herem because of the Corporatlon s electlon to rep ' .
Loan after it is dehnquent in whole or in part, with respect to four conse _installments of
principal and interest, because of the Corporation’s election to repurchase such. Mortgage Loan under
the circumstances described under {‘Collection and Other Servicing Procedures’ below, provided

in the related Issue: Supplement because of the Corporation’s repurchase of converted ARM ‘
the circumstances described under. “ARM Pools—General -Characteristics” above)., (iii the amount.

of any partial prepayment.of a Mortgage Loan received in the second month next preceding the month .

of distribution, and (iv) in respect of all Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loans, one month’s interest at the .

Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate Principal Balance as reported to Certificateholders in connec-
tion with the previous distribution (or, respecting the first distribution,, the Certificate. Pr1nc1pal
Balance on the Issue Date). For purposes of distributions, a Mortgage Loan will be considered to have
been prepaid in full if, in the Corporation’s reasonable judgment, the full amount finally recoverable on
account of such Mertgage Lioan has been received, whether .or:-notsuch:full amount is equal to,the
Stated Principal Balance of the Mortgage Loan.: The Corporation may;:in its discretion, include with
any distribution principal prepayments,:both full:and partlal recerved during the month prior to the .
month of distribution but is under no:obligation te.do so. . ; ¢

'For each Graduatmg GPM durmg its Deferred Interest Perlod and each ARM, the Corpora on
will, on each monthly Distribution Date, distribute an amount as to interest equal to the amo
interest payable on such Mortgage Loan during the applicable Due Period (which will, in the case of
Graduating. GPMs during, their. Deferred Interest Period, and may, in.the case of ARMs having
deferred. interest features, be. less than one month’s interest at the Mortgage Interest Rate
amount retalned by the Corporatlon as described under “Servicing Through Lenders” abo
VRM Pool, the. Corporatlon will, on. each Dlstrlbutlon Date, distribute an amount as to:in
to one month’s interest at the then-current Welghted Average Pass- Through Rate on. the
Principal Balance of each Certlﬁcate v : :

Distributions on any Distribution Date will be made to Certificateholders of record on the prior
Record Date (the close of business on the last day of the immediately preceding month). Each
Certificateholder will be entitled to receive an amount ‘equal to the total amount dlstnbuted multiplied
by the Fractlonal Undivided Interest ev1denced by such Holder’s Certificate.

The Corporation’s. Guaranty

The Corporation’s obhgatxon described above to dlstrlbute amounts representing scheduled k
principal and interest, whether or not received, and its obligation to distribute the full principal
amount of any | foreclosed or otherw13e ﬁnally hquldated Mortgage Loan, whether or not such principal
amount is actually recovered, constltute the Corporatlon s guaranty obligations in respect of the
Certlﬁcates If the Corporatxon were unable to perform such obligations, distributions to Certificate-
holders would consist solely of payments and other recoveries on Mortgage Loans and, accordingly,
delinquencies and defaults would affect monthly dlstrlbutlons to Certificateholders.
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Reports to,Certificateholders

With respect to each distribution, the Corporation will cause to be forwarded to each Certificate-
holder with respect to all Certificates held by such Certificateholder in each Pool, a statement settmg
forth, to the ‘extent apphcable, the following information:

(i) the amount if any, due on such Certlﬁcates on the related Distribution Date on account
of total scheduled and unscheduled prrncrpal (including any Deferred Interest);

- (i1) -the amount due on such Certlﬁcates on the related Distribution Date on account of
interest;

(iii) the total of the cash dlstnbutlon on such Certificates on the related Distribution Date, :

(iv) the Certrﬁcate Prmcrpal Balances of such Certlﬁcates on the related Dlstnbutlon Date,ﬁ
‘after giving effect to any distribution of principal made on such date and to any Deferred Interest
-added to the prmcrpal balances of .the underlymg Mortgage Loans durlng the precedmg Due
Period;

(v) the total amount of any Deferred Interest that was added to the prrncrpal balances of the' .
»underlymg Mortgage Loans durmg the preceding Due Period; : P

(vi) the amount 1f any, of (i) -above that is allocable to Deferred Interest
! (i) the amount if any, of (iv) above that is allocable to Deferred Interest

(viii) for VRM Pools, the Werghted Average Pass Through Rate apphcable to such Drstrlbu-. N
tion Date; and

(1x) for ARM Pools, the Pool Accrual Rate apphcable to such Drstnbutlon Date

Within a reasonablé period of time after the end of' each calendar year, the Corporation wrll
furnish to each Person who at any time during the calendar year was a Certificateholder a statement
containing the information set forth in items (i), (ii), (v), and" (vi) above; in summary form for such -
calendar year or for any portlon thereof dunng whlch such Person was'a Certificateholder.

Servrcmg Compensatlon and Payment of Certain Expenses by the Corporatlon SEHEES

- As compensatlon for 1ts act1v1t1es and obhgatrons under the Trust Indenture, the Corporatlon will
be entitled to retain. the amounts apphcable to interest that are not required, to be dlstrrbuted to
Certificateholders as described above. In addition, the Corporatlon is entitled to retain any amounts
by which the proceeds of the liquidation of a Mortgage Loan exceed (i) the Stated Principal Balance
of that Mortgage Loan'and (ii) interest thereon at the Pass-Through Rate in-the case of a Fixed-Rate
Mortgage Loan or a VRM or interest thereon-at the Accrual Rate in the case of a Graduating GPM or
an ARM. The Corporation will pay all expenses incurred by itin connection with:its servicing
activities, including, without limitation, the fees to Lenders, and 1s ‘not entrtled to relmbursement
therefor out of the Trust Fund o e

Addrtronal servrcrng compensatron m the formhof prepayment charges, assumption fees, late
payment charges, or otherwise will be retamed by the Corporation. .

Collection and Other Servicing Procedures

The Corporation is responsible for servicing the Mortgage Loans in each Pool and may, as set
forth ab ' onduct such servicing through Lenders or through other Corporatron approved mortgage
servicers. I connectron with its servicing actrvrtles, the Corporatlon has full power and authority to
do or cause e done any and all thmgs as it may deem necessary or appropriate in its sole discretion,
including the, oreclosure or comparable. conversion of a defaulted Mortgage Loan. In lieu of
undertakmg any such_foreclosure, the Corporatlon may, in its dlscretxon and w1thout obhgatlon,
repurchase from the Trust Fund any Mortgage Loan that is dehnquent in whole or in part, as to four
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consecutive installments of principal and interest. The purchase price will be equal ‘to the Stated’
Principal ‘Balance of the delinquent Mortgage Loan together with accrued.interest at. the Pass-
Through -Rate (or the Accrual Rate in the:case of a Graduating GPM or. an: ARM)..and will: be ..
distributed to Certificateholders in the same manner as full prepayments of Mortgage Loans. -See
“Description of Certificates—Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distributions on Certificates.” (TI
Sections 5.017'81;12(1'5'.03,) ‘ CET vl SRR ¢ oiEE L TN CREEE

With respect to each Mortgage Loan in a Pool, the Lender makes certain warranties to the
Corporation concerning such. matters as the recordation of the original Mortgage, the'validity of the
Mortgage Loan as a first or second lien (as the case may be) on the Mortgaged Property, and
compliance by such Mortgage Loan with applicable state and federal laws. In the event of a material
breach of any such warranty or a material defect in the Mortgage Loan documentation, the
Corporation may withdraw such Mortgage Loan from the Trust Fund at a price equal to its Stated
Principal Balance together with interest thereon at the Pass-Through Rate (or the Accrual Rate in the
case of a Graduating GPM or an ARM). 'Alternatively, the Corporation may, at its option, for ‘all
Pools other than Pools containing Multifamily Mortgage Loans, substitute a new Mortgage Loan for a
defective Mortgage Loan; provided, however, that no such substitution may take place more than two
years subsequent to the date of the original issue of the related Certificates, and,any;sks,,uic:‘h“\Sﬁb_sti_‘tpte
Mortgage Loan must satisfy certain eligibility criteria designed to assure that the nature of the Pool
will not be altered by any such substitution. Any amount by which the Stated Principal Balance of the
defective Mortgage Loan exceeds the -principal balance of the substitute Mortgage Loan (the
substitute Mortgage Loan may not be larger than the Mortgage Loan it is replacing) will be passed

through to Certificateholders. ‘
Subject to the following paragraphs and to the extent consistent with then-current policies of the
Corporation respecting mortgage loans held in its own portfolio, the Corporation in its discretion may
enforce or waive enforcement of any-of the terms of any Mortgage Loan or enter into an agreement for
the modification-of any.of the terms of any Mortgage Loan, or take any action or refrain from taking
any action in servicing any Mortgage Loan. (However; certain modifications are prohibited by the
Trust Indenture, e.g., reducing the Mortgage Interest Rate, except as. may be required by the terms of. .
the Mortgage Note.) In such connection, the Corporation may waive any prepayment charge,
assumption fee, or late:payment charge or mé;z; exercise or refrain from exercising any ‘“call-option-
rider”; provided, however, that any decision to exercise or refrain from exercising any “call option
rider” ‘must be consistent with then-current f s or practices employed by the Corporation
respecting comparable mortgage loans held in'i n portfolio and must be without consideration of
the ownership status of the related Mortgage Loan. w3 s <l

In the VRM Trust: Indenture, the Corporation agrees that any decision as to whether ornot (i) to
increase ‘a. Mortgage Interest Rate . (where any such increase is permitted by the. terms of such
Mortgage Loan and by. applicable law) or (ii) to shorten the maturity of any Mortgage Note, will be
made in accordance with the then-current practice of the related Lender respecting similar Mortgage -
Notes and without consideration of the ownership status of the related Mortgage Note. If:the
Corporation is then directly servicing a VRM, it will increase the related Mortgage Interest Rate and
shorten the maturity whenever any such change is permitted by the terms of such Mortgage Loan and
by applicable law. Any adjustment downward by reason of a decrease in the applicable index is
mandatory. See the Prospectus Supplement for criteria and procedures governing changes in
Mortgage Interest Rates. e S e

In connection with the transfer or prospective transfer of title to a Mortgaged Property (other
than a Mortgaged Property securing a VRM), the Corporation is obligated to accelerate the maturity -
of the related Mortgage Loan where that Mortgage Loan contains a “due-on-sale” clause permitting
acceleration under those conditions unless the Corporation is restricted by law from' enforcing the:
“due-on-sale” clause, the transfer is from one co-borrower to another co-borrower under the
circumstances specified in the Corporation’s ‘published guidelines or the Corporation elects to
withdraw such Mortgage Loan from the Pool. In thé case of a VRM, the Corporation will enforce or
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refrain from enforcing any “due-on-sale” clause 1n the related Mortgage Note 1n accordance with the
then-current practice of the related Lender without consideration of the ownership status of the
Mortgage Note. If the Corporation 1s then directly servicing the Mortgage Loan, 1t will enforce the
“due-on-sale” clause unless such enforcement is prohibited by law or the Corporation elects to
withdraw such Mortgage Loan from the Pool. See “Maturity and Prepayment Assumptions.” In the
case of an ARM, the related Issue Supplement will provide that the Corporation will not enforce the
“due-on-sale clause,” but will permit creditworthy transferees of the Mortgaged Property securing the
ARM to assume the ARM.

In the event that, for any reascn, the Corporation 1s not obhgated to accelerate the maturity of a
Conventional Mortgage Loan upon the transfer, or prospective transfer, of title to the underlying
Mortgaged Property, the Corporation may enter into a transaction by which the obhgor is released
from habihty on the related Mortgage Loan and the transferee assumes such hability, provided,
however, that no such transaction shall (1} be entered into which would not have been entered mto
had the Mortgage Loan been held 1n the Corporation’s own portfoho, (1) provide for reducticn of the
Mortgage Interest Rate or, in the case of any ARM, provide for any change 1n any nterest rate
adjustment provision or provision governing the calculation of scheduled payments 1f any such change
would be adverse to the interests of Certificateholders, or (1) in the case of any VRM, provide for any
change 1n the original index applicable thereto

The Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation may repurchase from the related Pool, at a
price equal to the Stated Principal Balance thereof plus accrued interest thereon at the appheable
Pass-Through Rate (or the applicable Accrual Rate in the case of a Graduating GPM or an ARM),
any Mortgage Loan respecting which the underlying Mortgaged Property 1s transferred, or proposed
to be transferred, under ¢ircumstances permitting the Corporation to accelerate the maturity of such
Mortgage Loan pursuant to the terms of any “due-on-sale” clause contained therein

Certain Matters Regarding the Corporation

The Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation may not resign from 1ts obligations and duties
thereunder, except upon determination that those duties are no longer permissible under applicable
law.  No such resignation will become effective until a successor has assumed the Corporation’s
obligations and duties under the Trust Indenture, provided, however, that no successor will succeed to
the Corporation’s guaranty obligations described above, the Corporation continuing to be responsible
thereunder notwithstanding any termination of its other duties and responsimlities under the Trust
Indenture In the event that the Corporation is unable to fulfill its continuing guaranty obhgations,
the Trust Indenture may be modified to provide for monthly distributions to be made from then-
avallable Mortgage Loan payments and other recoveries 1n a manner similar to practices and
procedures followed n the servicing of whole loans for institutional wmvestors. (TI Section 9.01)

The Trust Indenture also provides that neither the Corporation nor any director, officer,
emplovee or agent of the Corporation will be under any hability to the Trust Fund or to Certificate-
holders for any action taken, or for reframing from the taking of any action, in good faith pursuant to
such Trust Indenture or for errors in judgment; provided, however, that neither the Corporation nor
anv <uch person will be protected agamst any hability that would otherwise be imposed by reason of
willful misfeasance, bad faith, or gross neghgence or by reason of willful disregard of obligations and
duties.

In addition, the Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation 15 not under any obligation to
appear 1, prosecute, or defend any legal action that 1s not incidental to its responsibilities under the
Trust Indenture and that in 1ts opmion may involve 1t 1n any expense or liabiity. The Corporation
may, however, 1n 1ts discretion undertake any such legal action that 1t may deem necessary or desirable
in the interests of the Certificateholders. In such event, the lezal expenses and costs of such action
and any hability resulting therefrom will be expenses, costs, and halnlities of the Corporation that will
not be rexmbursable to the Corporation out of the Trust Fund. (TI Section 8.02)
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Any corporation into which the Corporation may be merged or consolidated, or any corporation
resulting from any merger, conversion, or consohdation to which the Corporation 1s a party, or any
corporation succeeding to the business of the Corporation, will be the successor to the Corporation
under the terms of the Trust Indenture. (TI Section $.02)

Events of Default

Events of Default under the Trust Indenture will consist of (1) any failure by the Corporation to
distribute to Certificateholders any required payment that continues unremedied for 15 days after the
giving of written notice of such failure to the Corporation by the Holders of Certificates evidencing
Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than five percent of the related Trust Fund;
(i1} any failure by the Corporation duly to observe or perform 1n any materal respect any other of its
covenants or agreements 1n the Trust Indenture which failure continues unremedied for 60 days after
the giving of written notice of such failure to the Corporation by the Holders of Certificates evidencing
Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than 25 percent of the related Trust Fund; and
(11i) certain events of insolvency, readjustment of debt, marshalling of assets and habilities, or similar
proceedings and certain actions by or aganst the Corporation indicating its msolvency, reorganiza-
tion, or inability to pay its obhigations. (TT Section 9 03)

Rights Upon Event of Default

As long as an Event of Default under the Trust Indenture for any Issue remains unremedied, the
Holders of Certificates evidencing Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than 25 percent
of the related Trust Fund may, in writing, terminate all of the oblhgations and duties of the
Corporation as Trustee and 1n 1ts corporate capacity under the Trust Indenture in respect of such
Issue (other than 1ts guaranty obligations described above which continue notwithstanding any such
termination) and name and appoint, in wnting, a successor to succeed to all such responsibihties,
duties, and obhgations of the Corporation thereunder (other than the Corporation’s guaranty
obligations) and to the legal title to the Mortgage Loans held in such Trust Fund. (TI Section 9 03)

Amendment

The Corporation may amend the Trust Indenture as 1t relates to any Issue without the consent of
or notice to any of the Certificateholders, for one or more of the following purposes: (1) to add to the
covenants of the Corporation; (ii) to evidence the succession of another party or parties to the
iZorporation and the assumption by such successor or successors of the obhigations of the Corporation
thereunder 1n 1ts corporate capacity or 1n its capacity as Trustee or in hoth such capacities, (in) to
sliminate any right reserved to or conferred upon the Corporation mn 1ts corporate capacity; (iv} to
make provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity or correcting or supplementing any provision
n the Trust Indenture or any Issue Supplement, provided such provisions do not adversely affect the
interests of any Certificateholder; or (v} to modify the Trust Indenture under the circumstances and
for the purposes set forth in the final sentence of the first paragraph under “Certain Matters
Regarding the Corporation” above (TI Section 11.01)

The Corporation may amend the Trust Indenture as 1t relates to any Issue with the consent of the
Holders of Certificates evidencing Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than 66 percent
of the related Trust Fund so as to waive compliance by the Corporation with any terms of the Trust
Indenture or related Issue Supplement, or to allow the Corporation to eliminate, change, add to, or
modify the terms of the Trust Indenture or Issue Supplement. However, no such waiver or
amendment may, without the consent of all Certificateholders, terminate or modify the guaranty
obhgations of the Corporation or reduce the percentages of Certificates the Holders of which are
required to consent to any waiver or amendments. In addition, no waiver or amendment shall,
without the consent of each Certificateholder affected thereby, reduce in any manner the amount of, or
delay the timing of, payments received on Mortgage Loans that are required to be distributed on any

Certificate. (TI Section 11.02)
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Termination

The Trust Indenture as it relates to each Issue terminates upon the final payment or ligqundation
of the last Mortgage Loan remaming n the related Pool and distribution of all proceeds thereof The
Trust Indenture as it relates to each Issue will termmate also upon repurchase by the Corporation, at
its option, of all remaming Mortgage Loans in the related Pool at a price equal to 100 percent of the
Stated Principal Balance of each such Mortgage Loan together with one month’s interest thereon at
the Pass-Through Rate {or, in the case of a VRM Pool, one month’s interest on the Stated Principal
Balance at the Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate, or, 1n the case of a GPM Pool or an ARM Pool,
one month’s interest on the Stated Principal Balance of each Graduating GPM or ARM, as the case
may be, at the apphcable Pool Accrual Rate). (TI Section 10 01) The exercise of such option will
eflect early retirement of the Certrficates of that Issue, but the Corporation’s right to repurchase is
conditioned upon the Poal Principal Balance at the time of repurchase being less than ten percent of
the Pool Principal Balance on the Issue Date. In addition, the Corporation has stated that 1t will be 1ts
policy not to exercise any such option n respect of any Pool if (1) 1t has knowledge that any related
Certificate has been pledged to secure an 1ssue of cash flow obhgations or is included in a pool

CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

This 15 a discussion of certam federal income tax consequences to persons purchasing Certificates
For purposes of this discussion, applying a federal income tax rule that depends upon the
orgination date of a mortgage note or the charactenstics of a mortgage note at 1ts ongination, the
term “Mortgage Loan,” i the case of a participation interest, shall mean the underlying mortgage
note and not the participation interest therein,

The discussion does not purport to deal with all aspects of federal taxation that may be relevant to
particular investors  Prospective investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the
federal income tax consequences of holding and dsposing of Certrficates as well as any tax conse-
Quences arising under the laws of any state or other taxing jurisdiction

Revenue Ruling 84-10, 1984-1 C B. 153, sets forth certamn federal Income tax consequences
relating to investments mn the Certificates 1ssued with respect to a Pool Pursuant to Revenue
Ruling 84-10, a Pool will not be classified as an association taxable as a corporation, but will be
classified as a trust of which the beneficial owners of the Certificates (the “Owners™) are the owners
under Subpart E of Part I of Subchapter J of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”). Each Owner will be treated as the owner of a pro rata undivided Interest in the ordinary
mcome and corpus of the trust attmbutable to that particular Pool and will be considered to be the

participation interests.

Accordingly, Owners of a particular series will he required to report on therr federal income tax
returns, consistent with their methods of accountimg therr pro rata share of the entire income from
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the Mortgage Loans in that particular Pool, including interest, prepayment penalties, assumption fees
and late payment charges attributable to the Mortgage Loans in the Pool, plus any amount paid by the
Corporation as interest under its guaranty. Owners will be entitled to deduct their pro rata share of
the servicing compensation:paid to the Corporation, as provided in section 162 or section 212 of the
Code, consistent with their methods of accounting and subject to the discussions below.

The deduction for an Owner’s share of the Corpgration’s servicing compensation is limited under
section 67 of the Code in the case of (i) estates and trusts, and (ii) individuals owning an interest in a
Certificate directly or through an investment in a “pass-through entity” (other than in connection
with such individual’s trade or business). Pass-through entities include partnerships, S corporations,
grantor trusts, and non-publicly offered regulated investment companies but do not include estates,
nongrantor trusts, cooperatives, real estate investment trusts and publicly offered regulated invest-
ment companies. Generally, such deduction, when aggregated with certain of the Owner’s other
miscellaneous itemized deductions, is allowable only to the extent that such aggregate amount exceeds
2 percent of the Owner’s adjusted gross income. Adjusted gross income for an estate or nongrantor
trust-is to be computed in the same manner as in the case of an individual except that deductions for
administrative expenses of the estate or trust that would not have been incurred if the propert r
not held in such trust or estate are treated as allowable in arriving at adjusted gross income.

Revenue Ruling 84-10 does not contemplate the mandatory repurchase of ARMs from Pools
pursuant to the borrower’s exercise of an option to convert the ARM to a fixed-rate mortgage loan..
However, Dewey Ballantine, special tax counsel to-the Corporation, has rendered its opinion to the
Corporation that the conclusions of Revenue Ruling 84-10 will be applicable, notwithstanding the
mandatory repurchase from the Pool of ARMs with respect to which the:borrowers exercise their
options to convert the ARMs to fixed-rate mortgage loans.

Owners must also report as ordinary income their pro rata share of any original issue discount on
each of the Mortgage Loans in a manner consistent with the special rules of section 1272 of the Code.
Under these rules, Owners are required to include their share of any original issue discount in income
as it accrues, possibly before the receipt of .cash attributable to that income, regardless of their
methods of accounting.. The special rules of section 1272 of the Code will not apply, however, with
respect to Mortgage Loans originated before March 2, 1984, if the mortgagors of such Mortgage Loans
were natural persons. oy

_ Proposed regulations were issued in April 1986 by the Treasury Department relating to the
determination and treatment of original issue discount under sections 1271 through 1275 of the Code
(the “Proposed Regulations”). Under the Proposed Regulations, certain arrangements in connection
with the origination of the Mortgage Loans, such as the.charging of points, may give rise to original
issue discount subject to the special rules of section 1272 of the Code. In the case of Mortgage Loans
originated after May 8, 1986, the Proposed Regulations provide that {enders that made the Mortgage
Loans must give notice of original issue discount on such Mortgage Loans at the time they sell them to
the Corporation. The Corporation will report annually to holders of record their share of any such
original issue discount. However, the Owner’s share of any original issue discount is income to the
Owner regardless of whether it is reported to the Corporation by the Lender.

With respect to ARMs that provide for an incentive interest rate, the Proposed Regulations may
require a reallocation of a portion of the interest from the periods when such rate is not in effect to the
period during which such rate is in effect. Under the Proposed Regulations, an Owner is also required
to treat any interest, the payment of which is deferred, as includible in income at the time such
interest would have been payable in the absence of such deferral. Owners are advised to consult their
own tax advisors concerning these matters.

With respect to any undivided interest in a Mortgage Loan purchased at a premium, an.Owner
may elect to allocate the premium among the interest payments received on the Mortgage Loan on a
yield to maturity basis under the rules of section 171 of the Code if the Mortgage Loan was originated
after September 27, 1985. The amount of any such premium so allocated shall be applied against (and

28




operate to reduce) the amount of any such interest includible 1 income. Correspondingly, an Owner’s
basis in 1ts undivided interest shall be decreased by the amount of premium apphed to reduce any

Mortgage Loan and, when each such distribution 1s receved, a loss equal to the premium allocated to
such distribution will be recogmzed Any tax benefit from the premium not previously recognized wall
be taken nto account 1n computing gain or loss upon the sale or disposition of the Certificate.

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) also ruled in Revenue Ruling 84-10 as follows.

1. A Certaficate owned by a domestic building and loan association 18 considered as
representing “loans secured by an interest n real property” within the meaning of section
7701(a) (19} (C) (v) of the Code, provided the real property underlying each Mortgage L.oan 1s
(or, from the proceeds of the Mortgage Loans, will become) the type of real property described in
that section of the Code.

2. A Certaficate 1s considered as representing “quahfying real property loans” within the
meaning of section 593(d) of the Code, provided the real property underlying each Mortgage
Loan is (or, from the proceeds of the Mortgage Loans, will become) the type of real property
described 1n that section of the Code. Thus, a Certificate owned by a domestic building and loan
association or any other thnft institution described in section 993 (a) of the Code will represent
“qualifying real property loans” within the meaning of section 593 (d) of the Code, provided the
real property underlying each Mortgage Loan is ( or, from the proceeds of the Mortgage Loans,
will become) the type of real property described in that section of the Code.

3. A Certificate owned by a real estate investment trust is considered as representing “real
estate assets’” within the meaning of section 856(c) {5) (A) of the Code, and the Interest income
15 constdered “interest on obhgations secured by mortgages on real property” within the meaning
of section 856(c) (3)(B) of the Code.

In certain cases, a Mortgage Loan may be secured by additional collateral consisting of an escrow
account held with a financial nstitution (an “Escrow Mortgage Loan”). The escrow account consists
of an interest rate buydown account that meets the requirements of the Corporation’s Selling Guide,

property and the value of the real property alone equals or exceeds the amount of the loan, then all
nterest income will be treated as “interest on obligations secured by mortgages on real property”
within the meamng of section 856(c) (3) (B) of the Code. Since there are no directly applicable
precedents with respect to the federal Income tax treatment of investments Escrow Mortgage
Loans, Owners should consult with their tax advisors concerning such tax treatment.
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Lenders may provide the monies for the interest rate buydown accounts that secure certamn
Escrow Mortgage Loans (“Lender Buydown Loans”). Under the Corporation’s Selling Guide, the
borrower is liable for the entire payment on a Lender Buydown Loan, without offset by any payments
die from the buvdown account Accordingly, the Corporation plans to treat Lender Buydown Loans
entirely as the obligation of the borrower

It is possible, however, that the IRS will take the position that a Lender Buydown Loan should be
treated as if the borrower were obhigated only to the extent of the net payment after application of the
interest rate buydown account. If the IRS were able to maintain this position successfully, an Owner
of a Lender Buydown Loan would be treated as holding two debt instruments. one issued by the
Lender {to the extent of payments from the buydown account), and the other 1ssued by the borrower
(to the extent of the net payment by the borrower) Such treatment would require a reallocation of a
portion of the interest to the period when the buydown account 1s in existence from the remaining
term of the Certificate. Moreover, during the buydown period and to the extent of the buydown
account, the three rulings described above would be mapplicable Owners are advised to consult with
their tax advisors concerning the tax treatment of Lender Buydown Loans

In general, for purposes of sections 1276 and 1277 of the Code, an Owner’s interest in a Mortgage
Loan will be considered to be acquired at a market discount if the face amount of such interest exceeds
the Owner’s basts 1n such interest Pursuant to section 1276 of the Code, an Owner will be required to
include as ordinary income, with respect to any Mortgage Loan originated after July 18, 1984 that 1s
acquired at a market discount, (1) any partial principal payment on such Mortgage Loan to the extent
such payment does not exceed the accrued market discount (as defined mn section 1276 of the Code)
on such Mortgage Loan, and (1) gan reahzed on the disposition of such Mortgage Loan or of such
Owner's Certificate representing an interest 1n such Mortgage Loan that 1s attributable to accrued
rarket discount on such Mortgage Loan to the extent not previously ncluded as ordinary income
under section 1276 of the Code. Pursuant to section 1277 of the Code, an Owner’s deduction for
11terest paid or accrued to purchase or carry a Certificate that represents Mortgage Loans acquired
(by virtue of the acquisition of the Certificate) at a market discount after July 18, 1984 may have to
ke deferred to the extent such interest 15 attributed under section 1277 of the Code to the portion ot
such market discount that accrued during the taxable year A deduction for such deferred interest or a
portion thereof will, in general, be allowed only when such Mortgage Loans are disposed of or when an
Owner chsposes of its Certaficate Although the matter 1s not free from doubt, such a deduction should
also be allowed to the extent that such market discount is included 1n ordinary income by virtue of a
partial principal payment Any gam recogmzed upon a disposition of a Mortgage Loan originated on
or before July 18, 1984 or of a Certificate representing an interest in such Mortgage Loan will have to
be recognized as ordinary income to the extent of the deferred interest deduction The Treasury
Department has not yet issued remulations 1mplementing the market discount rules, and Owners
chould consult their tax advisors rexrding the application of these rules as well as the advisability of

making any elections relating to ~uch rules.

Owners are advised to consult with therr tax advisors as to the possibihity that the Mortgage
Loans could be treated by the IRS as a collection of “stripped bonds” and “stripped coupons” within
the meaning of section 1286 of the Code A debt oblgation becomes a “‘stripped bond” within the
meaning of section 1286 of the Code when the ownership of the right to recewe some or all of the
mterest payments thereon 13 separated from the ownership of the right to recewve some or all of the
principal. Interest pasments with respect to a stripped bond are “stripped coupons” within the
meaning of section 1296 of the Code The Mortgage Loans could be treated as a collection of
“stripped bonds” and ~tripped coupons” if the Corporation’s servicing compensation appheable to a
particular Pool were considered by the IRS to exceed reasonable compensation tor the services
performed and the “excess’’ portion of such compensation were recharacterized as a separate, retamed
1ight to receive a portion of the mterest payments to be made by mortgagors pursuant to the Mortgage
Loans. If the Mortgage L.oans were so treated, one consequence may be, 1n effect, to require the
surrent accrual of market discount and permit the amortization of premmum on the Mortgage Loans
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(to the extent not otherwise allowable under section 171). Another consequence, if they are so.
treated, would be that the “excess” portion of such compensation would be excluded from the income
of the Owners of Certificates' and thus would not be subject to the limitations on the deductibility of
miscellaneous itemized deductions- (discussed above). - However, absent Treasury regulations, it is not
clear what the applicable rules would be. There are also other possrble ways to characterize the
“excess” portion of servicing compensation. For example, it is possible that the IRS would
recharacterize such a portion as additional purchase price paid under a deferred payment obligation
incurred by an Owner at the time such Owner purchased its Certificate representing its individual
interest in the Mortgage Loans. .. In this event, the Owner’s initial deductions could be less than the
deductions that would have been allowed if the pOI‘thIl of the serv1c1ng compensatlon had not been S0
recharacterized. S - . L4 : y

The Corporation will furmsh to each holder of record with each distribution a statement setting
forth the amount of such distribution allocable to principal .and to interest. In addition, the
Corporation will furnish or make available, within a reasonable time after the end of each calendar
year, to each holder who at any time durmg such year recerved a dlstnbutlon from the Corporatlon,
statement settmg forth such ho]der 8 pro rata share of mterest recelved and admlmstratlve expense for
such calendar year )

"Payments of 1nterest and prmmpal .as well as payments of proceeds from the sale of Certlﬁcates,
may be subject-to the “backup w1thholdmg” tax under section 3406 of the Code at a rate of 20.percent
if the recipient: ‘of such a payment is not an’ ‘“exempt : recipient”. and fails - to- furnish certain
information, including its taxpayer identification number, to the Corporation or its. agent, or otherwise
fails: to- establish.an exemption from: such: tax..: Any amounts . deducted and withheld from such a
payment would be allowed as: a credit against.the Owner’s: federal income tax. - Furthermore,.certain
penalties may be imposed by the IRS on a‘holder or.Owner who is requrred to supply information but
who does mnot do so in the proper manner. : E ST ,

, Payments made to or on behalf of, an Owner who is not a U S. Person (a “Non-U.S. Person”) on
a Certlﬁcate that’ represents an und1v1ded interest in a Pool of Mortgage Loans all of which were
orlglnated after July 18, 1984 generally will be exempt fr“m U.S. federal income and withholding
taxes, provided the followmg condltlons are satisfied: (a) such ;Owner does not hold the Certificate in
connectlon with the conduct by such person of a trade or bu €ess 1n the Umted States, (b) the Owner
is not, with respect to the Umted States, a personal’ holdmg company 'Or ‘a ‘corporation that
accumulates earnings in order to avoid U.S. federal income tax, (c) the Owner is not a U.S. expatriate
or former U.S, resident who is taxable in the manner provrded in section 877(b) of the Code, (d) the
Owner is not an “excluded person” (i.e., a 10 percent shareholder of the Corporation within the
meaning of section 871(h) (3) (B) of the Code or a “controlled foreign corporation” related to the
Corporation within the meaning of section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code), (e) the Owner signs a
statement under penalties of perjury that certifies that it is a Non-U.S. Person or, in the case of an
individual, that the Owner is neither a citizen nor resident of the United States, and provides the
name, address and taxpayer identification number, if any, of the Owner and (f) the last U.S. Person in
the chain of payment to the Owner (the “Withholding Agent”) receives such non-U.S. beneficial
ownership statement from the Owner or a financial institution holding on behalf of the Owner and
does not have actual knowledge that such statement is false. That portion of interest income of an
Owner who is a Non-U.S. Person on a Certificate that represents an interest in one or more Mortgage
Loans originated before July 19, 1984 will be subject to a U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30 percent
or lower treaty rate, if applicable. Regardless of the date of origination of the Mortgage Loans, backup
withholding will not apply to payments made to an Owner that is such a Non-U.S. Person if the Owner
or a financial institution holding on behalf of the Owner provides the non-U.S. beneﬁcral ownership
statement to the Withholding Agent.

The non-U.S. beneficial ownership statement referred to in the preceding paragraph may be made
on an IRS Form W-8 or substantially similar substitute form. The Owner or financial institution
holding on behalf of the Owner must inform the Withholding Agent of any change in the information
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on the statement within 30 days of such change In all cases, the Form W-8 or substitute form must be
filed by the Withholding Agent with the IRS. “Ui.S Person” means a citizen or resident of the United
States, a corporation, partnership or other entity created or orgamzed m or under the laws of the
United States or any political subdivision thereof, or an estate or trust that is subject to U.S. federal
income tax regardless of the source of its income

LEGAL OPINION

Any purchaser of Certificates will be furnished upon request an opinion by Caryl S Bernstein,
Esq., Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary of the Corporation, as to the vahdity
of the Certificates, the applicable Trust Indenture, and the relevant Issue Supplement.

ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

The Department of Labor 1ssued a fina! rewnilation on November 13, 1986, which provides that in
the case where an employee benefit plan ( plun”) subject to the Employee Retirement Income
Secunity Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) acquires a * guaranteed governmental mortgage pool certificate”
then, for purposes of the fiduciary responstbility provistons of ERISA and the prohibited transaction
provisions of the Code, the plan’s assets include the certificate and all of its rights with respect to such
certificate under applicable law, but de not, solely by reason of the plan’s holding of such certificate,
include any of the mortgages underlying such certificate. Under the regulation, the term “guaranteed
governmental mortgage pool certificate™ 1s specifically defined to nclude a certificate “backed by, or
evidencing an interest in specified morty rees or participation nterests therein” and with respect to
which interest and principal payable pursiant to the certificate are guaranteed by the Corporation.
The effect of such regulation 1s to make clear that the sponsor (that 1s, the entity that organizes and
services the pool, in this case the Corporation), the trustee, and other persons, in providing services
with respect to the mortgages 1 the pool, would not be subject to the fiduciary responsibility
provisions of Title [ of ERISA, nor be subject to the prohibited transaction provisions of section 4975
of the Code, merely by reason of the plan’s investment in a certificate. The Corporation has been
advised by its counsel, Brown & Wood, that, on the basis of the final regulation and class exemptions
previously issued by the Department of Labor, the acquisition from the Corporation and holding of
the Certificates by plans are not prohbited either by ERISA or related provisions of the Code.
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Information Statement

Federal National Mortgage Association

~

N FannieMae

<
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This Information Statement describes the business and operations of the Federal National
Mortgage Association as of the date hereof and its financial condition as of December 31, 1990.
In conjunction with its securities offerings, the Corporation may include this Information
Statement 1 one or more other documents describing the secunties offered thereby, the selling
arrangements therefor, and other relevant information. Such other documents may be called an
Information Statement Supplement, Offering Circular, Prospectus, or otherwise. This Informa-
tion Statement does not itself constitute an offer to purchase such securities

This Information Statement contains audited financial statements with respect to the
Corporation for the years ended December 31, 1990 and 1989 Fannie Mae prepares such an
Information Statement quarterly.

The delivery of this Information Statement at any time shall not under any
circumstances create an implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the
Corporation since the date hereof or that the information contained herein is correct
as of any time subsequent to its date.

April 1, 1991
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

The Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation” or “Fannie Mae”) is a federally
chartered and stockholder-owned corporation organized and existing under thé Federal National
Mortgage Association Charter Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1716 et seq. (the “Charter Act”). See “Government
Regulation and Charter Act.” Tt is the largest investor in home mortgage loans in the United States,
with a net portfolio of $113.9 billion of mortgage loans as of December 31, 1990. The Corporation was
originally established in 1938 as a United States government agency to provide supplemental liquidity
to the mortgage market and was transformed into a stockholder-owned and privately managed
corporation by legislation enacted in 1968. o

The Corporation provides funds to the mortgage market by purchasing. mortgage -l6ans from

_ lenders, thereby replenishing their funds for additional lending. The Corporation acquires funds to

purchase loans from many capital market investors that may not ordinarily:invest in mortgage loans,
thereby expanding the total amount of funds available for housing. Operating nationwide, the
Corporation helps to redistribute mortgage funds from capital-surplus to capital-short areas.

‘The Corporation also_issues mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”). .The Corporation receives
guaranty fees for its.guaranty of timely payment of principal of and interest on MBS certificates. The
Corporation issues MBS primarily in exchange for pools of mortgage loans from lenders. The issuance
of MBS enables the Corporation to further its statutory purpose of increasing the liquidity of

residential mortgage loans. MBS outstanding as of December 31, 1990 totaled $299.8 biilion: '




CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets forth the capitalization of the Corporation as of December 31, 1990.

Average Average
Maturity Cost(3) OQutstanding
(Dollars in
millions)
Debentures, notes, and bonds{1):
Due within one year
Short-term notes 3 mos 771% $ 17,694
Debentures . . . 6 mos. B 46 14,296
Other(2) .. . . . — 8.03 6,563
Total due within one year 38,453
Due after one year
Debentures . R 5yrs. 8mos. 9.10 77,258
Subordinated capital debentures . . 14 yrs. 3 mos. 9.24 1,903
Other .. . 5 yrs. 10 mos 8.42 5,789
Total due after one year 84,950
Total debentures, notes, and bonds $123,403
$ 3,941

Stockholders’ equity

(1) See ‘“Business—Corporate Indebtedness” for a description of certain limitations applica-

ble to debt issued by the Corporation Amounts shown are net of unamortized discount,

(2) Average maturity 18 indeterminate because the outstanding amount includes investment
agreements that have varying maturities.

(3) The average cost includes the amortization of discounts, issuance costs, hedging results,
and the effect of foreign currency swaps.

The Corporation issues debentures, notes, and other debt obligations frequently. The amount of

Jebentures, notes, and bonds outstanding on any date subsequent to December 31, 1990 may differ

from that shown in the table ahove.




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

by the report of independent certified public accountants) have been summarnzed or derrved from the
audited financial statements These data should be read n conyunction with the audited financial
statements and notes to financial statements.

(Dollars 1n millions,
except per share amounts) Year Ended December 31,
1990 1989 1988 1987 1986

Income Statement Data:

Net interest mcome $ 1593 $ 1,101 $ 837 % 890 $ 384
Guaranty fees 536 408 328 263 175
Net income 1,173 807 a7 376 105
Per share
Earnings (fully diluted) 4.49 3.10 2.11 1.54 A7
Cash dividends . . 72 43 24 12 .07
Balance Sheet Data (as of end of
period):
Mortgage portfolio, net $113,875 $107,756 3 99,867 $ 93,470 $93,949
Total assets 133,113 124,315 112,258 103,459 99,621
Total borrowings . 123,403 116,064 105,459 97,057 93,563
Stockholders’ equity . 3,941 2,991 2,260 1,811 1,182
Other Data:
Net interest margin 1.39% 1.16% (.89% 1.00% 0.40%
Return on average equity . 33.7 31.1 252 23.5 9.5
Return on average assets 9 7 5 4 1
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(1) 115:1 1.11.1 1071 1.06:1 102:1
Mortgage purchases $ 23,959 22,618 $ 23,110 $ 20,531 $30,826
MBS 1ssued 96,695 69,764 54,878 63,229 80,566
MBS outstanding at period end(2) . 299,833 298,239 178,250 139,960 97,174

(1) For the purpose of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, “earntngs” consists of
income before federal meome taxes and fixed charges “Fixed charges” consists of interest
expense and interest capitalized on real estate owned.

(2) Included are Fannie Mae MBS held 1n the mortgage portfolio totaling $11.8, $11.7, $8.1,
$4 2, and $1 6 hillion at December 31, 1990, 1989, 1988, 1987, and 1988, respectively.



GOVERNMENT REGULATION AND CHARTER ACT

The Corporation:is afederally chartered ‘and stockholder-owned ‘eorporation organized:and
existing under the Charter Act (12 U.8.C..§:1716 et seq.) whose purpose is:to:(1) provide stability in

the secondary market for home mortgages, (2) respond appropriately to the private -capital market by -
developing new finance and mortgage products, and (3) provide ongoing assistance to the secondary::

market for home mortgages (including mortgages securing housing for low- and moderate-income

families involving a reasonable economic return to the Corporation) by increasing the liquidity of

mortgage investments and improving-the distribution of investment capital available for home
mortgage financing. o

The Federal National ‘Mortgage Association originally was incorporated in 1938:pursuant to
Title III of the National Housing Act as a wholly owned government corporation and in 1954, under a *
revised Title III called the Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act, became:a.mixed--
ownership corporate instrumentality of the United States. From 1950 to 1968, it operated:in the '

Housing and Home Finance Agency, which was succeeded by the Department of Housing'and: Urban
Development (“HUD”).  Pursuant to amendmnients to the Charter Act. enacted in the Housing and
Urban Development Act of 1968 (the “1968 Act”), the then Federal National Mortgage Association
was divided into two separate institutions, the present Corporation and the Government N. io1
Mortgage Association; a wholly owned corporate instrumentality of the United States \witgi‘i
which carried on certain special financing assistance and management and liquidation functions,
nd the

Under the 1968:Act, the Corporation was. constituted as a federally chartered corporation,a:

entire equity interest in the Corporation became sd;oékholder-owned.

Although the 1968 Act eliminated all federal ownership interest in the Corporation, it did not

terminate government regulation of the Corporation. Under the Charter Act;iapproval of: the
Secretary of the Treasury is required for the Corporation’s issuance of its debt obligations and MBS,
and approval .of the Secretary of HUD is required for the Corporation’s issuance.of stock and,
securities convertible into stock. Obligations of the Corporation issued under section 304(b) of the
Charter Act are subject to limitations imposed by the Charter Act and regulations adopted by HUD.
See “Business—Corporate Indebtedness.” : .

In addition to specific enumerated powers, the Secretary of HUD is granted general ‘regulatory
power over the Corporation under the Charter Act, with authority to promulgate rules and regulations
to carry out the purposes of the Charter Act. Also, the Secretary may require, pursuant to the Charter
Act, that a reasonable portion of the Corporation’s mortgage loan purchases be related to the national
goal of providing adequate housing for low- and moderate-income families, but with a reasonable
economic return to the Corporation:: - Tieee o : T o

While the Charter Act authorizes the Corporation to require entities selling mortgages to it to
make nonrefundable capital contributions, as determined from time to time by the Corporation with
the approval of the Secretary of HUD and subject to Charter Act restrictions, the Corporation
currently imposes no such requirements on mortgage sellers.

The Charter Act requires that each servicer of the Corporation’s mortgages own a minimum
amount of common stock. The Secretary of HUD must approve stock holding requirements imposed
upon such mortgage servicers. The common stock ownership requirement currently is one share.

The Charter Act also gives the Secretary of HUD the authority to audit and examine the books
and financial transactions of the Corporation, but this authority has never been exercised. The
Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 authorizes the General
Accounting Office (“GAO”) to audit the Corporation’s mortgage transactions.

Thirteen members of the Corporation’s eighteen-member Board of Directors are elected by the
holders of the Corporation’s common stock, and the remaining five members are appointed by the
President of the United States. One such appointed director is required to be from each of the home
building, mortgage lending, and real estate industries. Any member of the Board of Directors,
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including a member elected by stockholders, may be removed by the President of the United States for
good cause,

In addition to placing the Corporation under federal regulation, the Charter Act also grants to the
Corporation certain privileges and immunities For mstance, securittes 1ssued by the Corporation are
deemed to be “exempt securities” under laws administered by the Securities and Exchange Commus-
sion to the same extent as secunties that are obligations of, or guaranteed as to princitpal and interest
by, the Umted States. Registration statements with respect to the Corporation’s securities are not
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission The Corporation also is not required to file
periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

As described mn “Business—Corporate Indebtedness,” the Secretary of the Treasury of the United
States has discretionary authority to purchase obligations of the Corporation up to a maximum of
$2 25 ilhon outstanding at any one time. This facility has not been used since the Corporation’s
transition from government ownership in 1968 Neither the United Siates nor any agency thereof is
obhgated to finance the Corporation’s operations or to assist the Corporation 1n any other manner.

The Corporation is exempt from all taxation by any state or by any county, municipality, or local
taxing authority except for real property taxes. The Corporation is not exempt from patvment of
federal corporate income taxes. Also, the Corporation may conduct its business without regard 10 any
quahfication or similar statute 1 any state of the United States or the Distriet of Columibia

The Federal Reserve Banks are authorized to act as depositaries, custodians, and fiscal agents for
the Corporation, for its own account, or as fiduciary

As discussed 1n “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financal Condition and Results of
Operations—GSE Studies,” the GAQO, the U.S. Treasury, and the Congressional Budget Office
(“CBO”) have been studymg the financal safety and soundness, mcludmg the adequacy of govern-
ment regulation, of Fannie Mae and other government sponsored enterprises (“GSEs”). In studies
submitted to Congress in 1990, the Treasury proposed that there be an independent regulator of the
financial safety and soundness for each GSE, and the GAO indicated that it would be preferable that
the safety and soundness regulation of the GSEs be handled by a regulator other than that responsible
for regulating GSE programs based upon public policy considerations The Treasury, the CBO, and
the GAO are expected to make specific recommendations regarding GSE regulation in reports to
Congress that the Treasury and the CBO are required to complete this April and that the GAO is
required to complete this May. Such proposals would require legislation. The Treasury is required to
include recommended legislation m its report, and the Omnibus Budget Reconcihation Act of 1990
calls for the Congressional committees that have junisdiction over the various GSEs to report by
September 15, 1991 legislation to ensure the financial soundness of GSEs



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of Operations

The Corporation earned net income of $1,173 million in 1990, the most profitable year in its
history. Net income was $807 million in 1989 and $507 million in 1988. The growth in net income in
1990 was attributable mainly to increases in net interest income and guaranty fee income. Another
factor that contributed to higher earnings in 1990 was increased fee income for issuing real estate
mortgage investment conduit (“REMIC”) securities.

Net income in 1989 surpassed 1988 net income mainly because of higher nét interest income.
Increased guaranty fee income and a reduction in the provision for losses also contributed to the
higher net income in 1989.

A summary of selected financial information for the years 1988-1990 follows:
Selected Financial Information: 1988-1990

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

% Change
Year Ended December 31, %)9‘,992 })%8:
. Income Statement Data: 1990 1989 1988 1989 1988
Net interest income . .............cooviiunen... $ 1,593 $ 1,191 $ 837 34% 42%
Guaranty fees ..ot 536 408 328 31 24
Gain on sales of mortgages ................. PP 7 9 12 (22) (25)
Miscellaneous income, net . ....................... 107 60 69 78  (13)
Provision forlosses ...........ccoviiiiniiinnn.. (310) (310) (365) — (15)
Administrative expenses.......................... (286) (254) (218) 13 17
Income before federal income taxes................ 1,647 1,104 663 49 67
Provision for federal income taxes................. (474) (297) (156) 60 90
Netincome .........ccoiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiennnn, $ 1,173 $ 807 - $ 507 45 59
Per share:
Earnings: -
Primary ... $ 450 $ 314 $ 214 43 47
Fully diluted ................. e 4.49 3.10 2.11 45 47
Cashdividends ............... ... ... 12 43 24 67 79
December 31,
Balance Sheet Data: 1990 1989 1988
Mortgage portfolio,net........................... $113,875 $107,756 $ 99,867 6 8
Totalassets .......coviiiiiniiiii i 133,113 124,315 112,258 7 11
Borrowings:
Due withinoneyear ................c..ouvn. - 38,453 36,346 36,599 6 (1)
Dueafteroneyear............c..oovveiiinnnnnn 84,950 79,718 68,860 7 16
Total liabilities . ......... ... i, 129,172 121,324 109,998 6 10
Stockholders’ equity .........cooviiiiiiiiiiiian. 3,941 2,991 2,260 32 32
Other Data: 1990 1989 1988
Netinterest margin................. ...t 1.39% 1.16% 0.89% 20 30
Return on average equity . ........................ 33.7 31.1 25.2 8 23
Return on average assets ......................... .9 i b5 29 40
Mortgage purchases . ...................... ... ... $ 23,959 §$ 22,518 $ 23,110 6 (3)
MBSissued.........ccoovviiiii 96,695 69,764 54,878 39 27
MBS outstanding at period end(1) ................ 299,833 228,232 178,250 31 28

(1) Included are Fannie Mae MBS held in the mortgage portfolio totaling $11.8 billion, $11.7
billion, and $8.1 billion at December 31, 1990, 1989, and 1988, respectively.
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Net Interest Income

Net interest income represents the excess of income from the net investment portfolio—the net
mortgage portfolio and other investments—over the interest paid on borrowings and related costs. In
1990, net interest 1ncome was $1 593 mllhon compared w1th $1,191 mllhon in 1989 and $837 mllhon
in 1988.

The following table presents selected average balances, effective interest rates earned and pald
and interest income and expense for 1990, 1989, and 1988. ;

Net Interest Income and Average Balances

(Dollars in millions)

1990 ; . 1989 1988

Effective : Effective Effective
Average Interest Average Interest Average Interest
Balance Interest Rate(1) Balance Interest Rate(1) Balance Interest Rate(1)

Interest-earning assets: .

Mortgage portfolio, net (2) ....... $110,385 $10,958 10.02% $101,714 $10,103 10.01% $ 98,012 $ 9,629  9.90%
Investments and cash’ . : o
equivalents ..... i e e 13,252 1,111 8.63 10,732 977 951 7,585 ..597. .8.35 ...
Total interest-earning assets. . ... $123,637 $12,069 _9.86% $112.446 $11,080 9.96% $105,597 $10,226 _9.78%
Interest-bearing liabilities: A I
Borrowings due within 1 year ..... $ 21,855 § 1,778  8.14% $ 22,800 $ 1,975 8.66% $ 20,532 $ 1,726  8.41%
Borrowings due afteér 1 year....... 95,696 8,698  9.09 85,002 7,914 9.31 - 81,228 7,663 ' 9.43 -
Total interest-bearing : ' BRI
liabilities ....... R R R R $117,551 $10,476 8.91% $107,802 $ 9,889 9.17% $101,760.$ 9,389 - 9.23%
Net interest income ................ $ 1,593 $ 1,191 $ 837
Investment spread.................. ) L 5% U ew U 55%
Net interest margin(3) ............. 1.39% 1.16% .89%

(1) Tax equivalent basis-using the statutory federal tax rate. Also includes the amortlzatlon of
-debt issuance costs, hedgmg results, and the effect of currency and interest rate swaps.

(2) Includes ‘average balan of nonperformmg loans of $0.7 billion, $0 8 ‘billion, and’ $11
¥ billion in 1990, 1989, ‘and 1988, réspectively.

'(3)- Represents-the difference-between the rate of interest on earning assets: and the effective
‘rate pald on both interest- beanng and non-interest-bearingfunds. -

Net interest. income was higher in 1990 than in 1989 because of increases in the net interest
margin and in the s1ze of the average net investment. portfolio. Net interest margin represents net
mterest 1ncome, on a tax equwalent basrs, expressed as a percentage of the net mvestment portfollo

The increase in the net interest margin for 1990 was attributable primarily to a rise in the average
investment spread and a higher interest-free return, i.e., the return on that:portion of the net
investment portfolio funded by equity and non-interest- bearmg liabilities. The average investment
spread, which represents the difference between the interest-earned on average assets and the interest
paid on average liabilities, increased mainly because of a decline in the cost of debt outstanding. The
mter%st -free return 1ncreased 1n 1990 pnmanly due to an mcrease in the proportlon of equ1ty relatlve
to debt ‘ :

The 1ncrease in net mterest mcome in 1989 compared w1th 1988 was due prlmanly to an 1ncrease
in the average 1nvestment spread and a larger earning asset base, - The increase in investment spread
was due mainly to an 1mprovement m the average portfolio yield and, to, a lesser extent a reductlon in
the cost of debt outstanding. L S




Net interest income does not include accrued interest on nonperforming loans. A loan is classified
as nonperforming and accrued interest is reversed out of income when a payment is 90 days or more
past due. If nonperforming assets had been fully performing, they would have contributed an
additional $49 million to net interest income in 1990, $48 million in 1989, and $89 million in 1988.
Nonperforming loans outstanding were $0.7 billion at December 31, 1990 and 1989, and $0.9 billion at
December 31, 1988. -

The following rate/volume analysis shows the relative contribution of asset growth and interest
rate changes to changes in net interest income for the years ended December 31, 1990, 1989, and 1988.

Rate/Volume Analysis

(Dollars in millions)
Attributable to
Changes in (1)

Increase Volume Rate
1990 vs. 1989
Interest income............ ...t $989 $1,093 $(104)
Interest expense ..............ovinmmiii 587 875 (288)
Net interest income . .............. ... v, $402 $ 218 $ 184
1989 vs, 1988
Interest income . ...... e e $854 $ 672 $ 182
Interest expense ................coiiiiiiiiiian, 500 554 (54)
Netinterestincome ..............ccovinnnnnoo oo, $354 $ 118 $ 236

(1) Combined rate/volume variances, a third element of the calculation, are allocated to the
rate and volume variances based on their relative size.
Other Income

Guaranty fee income increased in 1990 compared with 1989, and in 1989 compared with 1988,
due to the growth in the amount of Mortgage-Backed Securities (“MBS”) outstanding. In return for
these fees, the Corporation guarantees the timely payment of principal and interest to MBS investors.

The following table shows guaranty fee income as a percentage of the average balance of MBS
outstanding in 1990, 1989, and 1988. :

Dollars in millions

1990 1989 1988
Guaranty fee INCOmMe ...........o it $ 536 $ 408 3$ 328
Average balance of MBS outstanding (1)................... $254,708 $191,037 $152,107
Effective guaranty feerate ................................ 211% 213% 216%

(1) Excludes $11.9 billion, $9.8 billion, and $6.4 billion in 1990, 1989, and 1988, respectively,
of the average balances of Fannie Mae MBS held in the mortgage portfolio.

Guaranty fee income as a percentage of average MBS outstanding declined in 1990 compared with
1989 despite an increase in the proportion of nonrecourse business (i.e., where the Corporation has no
recourse to the lender in the event of borrower default), which generally has a higher guaranty fee.
The decline was due to increased competitive pressures and a larger proportion of fixed-rate MBS
issuances, which carry a lower guaranty fee rate than adjustable-rate MBS. The decline in 1989
compared with 1988 was due primarily to an increased percentage of fixed-rate MBS business.
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~ - A major reason for the increase in miscellaneous income in 1990 was an increase in REMIC
issuances which resulted in higher REMIC fee income. REMIC issuances increased in 1990 because of
greater investor demand. The Corporation issued $60.9 billion of REMICs in 1990 compared with
- $37.6 billion 'in 1989, and $11.2 billion in 1988. The related fees recognized in income were $62
million, $37 ‘million, and $16 million, respectively. To the extent needed to offset expected future
administrative and other REMIC costs, a portion of the fees received for REMIC issuances is deferred
and amortized into income over the life of the REMIC., o SR

" #<'The decrease in miscellaneous income in 1989 compared with 1988 was attributable mainly to the
repurchase of high-cost debt at a premium and a decline in fees from unexercised mortgage purchase
commitments and in other sources ‘of miscellaneous income. Higher REMIC fee income ‘partially
offset these decreases. o - o o

Provision for L:ossés, Real Estate Owned, and Allowance for Losses

In evaluating the risk of loss on the mortgage loan portfolio and MBS outstanding, management
considers recent experience, current economic conditions, and estimates of future losses on seriously
delinquent and foreclosed loans. The following table shows for 1990, 1989, and 1988 the number of
conventional single-family and multifamily foreclosed properties acquired during ‘the year and in
-inventory at year-end. :

" Number of Properties (1) ' ' 1990 1989 1988
Single-Family: . . , E o :
. Acquired . ..idiin ... R U 9,034 10,948 14,334
In-inventory at year-end ../c........ et i, 3,585 4,975 7,458
Multifamily: R
.Acquired ...l P T A A, 25 - 23 27
. In inventory at year-end ............. Vet s e, 32 33 41

(1) Includes properties acquired from foreclosures of conventional single-family and multifam-
ily loans in, portfolio or backing MBS. f oy

. Fewer property acquisitions led to a decline in net charge-offs to $234 million in 1990 compared

_with $243 million in 1989 and $315 million in 1988. Despite the continued moderation in the level of
foreclosures, management did not reduce the overall provision for losses in 1990 as it did in 1989.
Instead, because of higher levels of MBS issues and portfolio purchases in 1990, the provision was
maintained at $310- million in 1990 (the same level as in 1989), compared with $365 million in 1988.
Because thé provision exceeded charge-offs in each of these years, the allowance for losses increased to
$539 million at the end of 1990, compared with $463 million and $396 million at the end of 1989 and
1988, respectively. : Management maintains the allowance for losses at a level it believes is adequate,
considering current and anticipated charge-offs and the amount of portfolio and MBS outstanding.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses were $286 an_lill:l’(‘){n. in 1990, compared with $254 million and $218 ;hillion
“in 1989 and 1988, respectively: - Increased salaries and compensation-related expenses were the
primary reasons for the overall increases. The ratio of total administrative expenses to average
mortgage portfolio plus average MBS outstanding was .08 percent in 1990, 1989? and 1988.
_ Income Taxes v

The effective federal income tax rate in 1990 was 29 percent, compared with 27 percent in 1989
and 24 percent in 1988. The effective tax rate increased in both 1990 and 1989 primarily due to the
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growth 1 taxable income without a proportionate inecrease in mcome from tax-advantaged
investments.

As discussed 1n the Notes to Financial Statements, “Income Taxes,” the Corporation has several
unresolved 1ssues with the Internal Revenue Service, relating to current and prior examinations.

Financial Condition

Management believes the Corporation is in sound financial condition as a result of strategies
adopted over the past decade These strategies have addressed two primary risks faced by the
Corporation—interest rate risk and credit risk Interest rate exposure s managed through as-
set/liability strategies designed to match the estimated durations of the Corporation’s assets and
habilities, and to maintain this duration match throughout a wide range of interest rate scenarios To
mitigate credit risk, the Corporation establishes strict underwriting guidelines and mamntains a
geographically diverse business base  While active interest rate and credit risk management diminish
the prospect for significant losses, the Corporation maintains a growing capital base {equity and
allowance for losses} to absorb future losses

Management of Interest Rate Risk

The sensitivity of earnings to changes 1n 1nterest rates can be measured by the duration gap, or
the difference between the estimated durations of mortgage assets and those of the liabilities that fund
the mortgages Duration represents the estimated weighted-average maturity of the present values of
future cash flows. The Corporation’s duration gap in the years 1986 through 1990 ranged between 3
months (at December 31, 1990) and 11 months (at December 31, 1986), compared with 29 months at
the end of 1984 Having successfully narrowed the duration gap, management now 1s focusing on
maintaining the duration gap in circumstances in which interest rates change appreciably.

The durations of assets and liabilities may respond differently to significant interest rate changes
For example, when interest rates decline significantly, mortgage durations also dechne because of
higher prepayments. The durations of non-callable liahilities, however, stay more or less the same.
The resulting duration msmatch could increase earming~ volatility One way to reduce the projected
duration gap that can result when interest rates change ~1gnificantly 1s to 1ssue callable debt {i.e., debt
with optional or mandatory call provisions) that bettcr matches the optional prepayment characteris-
ties of the maortgares the Corporation 1s funding. Should rates dechine appreciably and mortgages
prepay, the resulting decline in asset durations would be paralleled by a dechine in liability durations
eflected by redecmung such callable debt

Recent financing strategies employed by the Corporation have emphasized the 1ssuance of callable
debt, including Indexed Sinking Fund Debentures (“ISFDs”}, and callable and ISFD swaps that
eflectively convert non-callable debt to callable debt Management believes that, despite its higher
cost, the early redemption feature of callable debt makes 1t a desirable tool for managing the interest

raze risk associated with mortgage loan prepayments.

Managoment of Credit Rish

Credit nisk results from the possibility that the Corporation will not recover amounts due from
borrowers or lenders on 1ts mortgage portfoho, or wall be called upon to meet guaranteed payments to
mvestors on 1ts outstanding MBS  Another, less significant, type of credit risk arises from the
possibihity that counterparties to the positions the Corporation has taken in interest rate and currency
swaps, futures contracts, and other off-balance-sheet financial arrangements to reduce interest rate
rigk, will fail to meet their contractual obligations Off-balance-sheet credit risk is minimized by
selting high credit standards for counterparties and by requiring collateral in certain cases.

The Corporation manages 1ts mortgage-related credit risk through its underwriting guidelines,
credit requirements for lenders that service its loans, collateral requirements, and the geographical
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diversity of its business base In late 1985, the Corporation revised 1ts underwriting gidelines and net
worth requirements for lenders, Management beheves these revisions have contributed to mmproved
loan loss experience. As of December 31, 1990, 90 percent of the conventional single-family
mortgages, either in the Corporation’s portfoho or backing MBS, consisted of loans acquired or
guaranteed since January 1, 1986 The revised guidelines resulied m lower loan-to-value ratios on
many loans purchased for portfoho or backing MBS. At December 31, 1990, 76 percent of the
conventional single-family loans in the Corporation’s portfolio or backing MBS had an original loan-
to-value ratio not higher than 80 percent {34 percent not higher than 70 percent).

Seriously delinquent conventional single-farmly mortgages in the portfolio or backing MBS for
which Fannie Mae bears the primary default risk have decreased from 1 48 percent at December 31,
1985 to 0 58 percent at December 31, 1990. Serious delinquency includes loans 90 or more days
delinquent, 1n foreclosure, or in relief

and 1988 revealed that approxmmately two years after origination, the 1986, 1987, and 1988 loans had
a serious dehnquency rate of 0 38 percent, 0 30 percent, and 0.58 percent, respectively, compared with
2 31 percent for the 1985 loans Management attributes the mmproved delinquency experience to the
change n underwnting guidehnes and to the more favorable loan-to-value distribution on loans
purchased after 1985

On the majonity of the multifamily loans the Corporation owns or guarantees, 1t has recourse to
the lender or others, or has required pledged collateral. The percentage of multifamily loans in
portfolio or backing MBS for which the Corporation bears the primary default risk was 40 percent 1n
1990, compared with 31 percent and 28 percent 1n 1989 and 1988, respectively. Of these totals, 19
percent, 9 percent, and 2 percent, respectively, relate to Fanne Mae’s delegated underwriting and
serviemng {“DUS™) program. Under DUS, selected lenders are permitted to sell to the Corporation
multifanuly loans that meet pubhshed guidehines without the Corporation’s prior approval of the
underwniting, provided the lenders agree to share 1n a portion of any subsequent losses on such loans,

Additional information on the Corporation’s exposure to credit risk 1s presented in the Notes to
Financial Statements, “Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk” and “Concentrations of

Credit Risk ”

Liquidity Management

Mae’s primary sources of cash are 1ssuances of debt obhgations, mortgage loan repayments, interest
income, MBS guaranty fees, and proceeds from the sale of mortgages. In addition, at December 31,
1990, Fannie Mae had a portfolio of cash equivalents and short-term and other liquid investments
totaling $14 billion Primary uses of cash mclude the purchase of mortgages, repayment of debt, and
payment of interest expense

Fannie Mae’s statutory mission requires that it buy mortgage assets from approved lending
mnstitutions on an ongoing basis. The Corporation, therefore, must raise funds continually to support

Most long-term funding is obtained through monthly sales of debentures, generallv <cheduled to
comncide with matunties of outstanding debentures and to avoid conflicts with borrowing. <cheduled
by the Treasury and other government agencies. The Corporation raises short-term fund- primarily
through short-term discount notes and residential financing securities. Residential financing securi-
ties are six-month, one-year, or two-year unsecured general obligations bearing interest at fixed rates.
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At December 31, 1990, the Corporation had mandatory delivery commitments and lender option
commitments outstanding to purchase $1.9 billion and $7 7 billwon of mortgage loans, respectively,
compared with $2.3 billion and $3.7 bilhon, respectively, of such commitments outstanding at
December 31, 1989 As in the past, the Corporation expects to fund mortgage purchases pursuant to
such commitments through the sources of cash noted above.

Mortgage Portfolio

The net mortgage portfolio totaled $113.9 billion at December 31, 1990, compared with $107.8
billion at December 31, 1989 and $99 9 billion at December 31, 1988. The yield on the net mortgage
portfolio (before deducting the allowance for losses} at December 31, 1990 was 9.94 percent,
compared with 10.03 percent at December 31, 1989 and 9.84 percent at December 31, 1988 The
decrease in yield in 1990 compared with 1989 was due primarily to a dechne in conventional mortgage
yields and an increase 1n the proportion of intermediate-term fixed-rate mortgages, which generally
have a lower yield relative to 30-year fixed-rate mortgages The increase in yield in 1989 compared
with 1988 was attributable, in large part, to the upward adjustment of interest rates on ARMs 1n
portfolio and to a decrease in purchases of ARMs, which generally have a lower imtial interest rate

than fixed-rate mortgages

The following table summarizes mortgage purchases.

Mortgage Purchases

{Dollars in millions)

% Change
1990 1989
Over Over
1990 1989 1988 1989 1988
Mortgage type:
Single-family:
FHA/VA $ 698 24 % 940 4.2% % 503 22% (26)% 8%
Conventional
30-year fixed-rate 12,417 518 11,813 525 B,957 387 5 32
Intermediate-term
fixed-rate 4,872 204 3,306 147 2,933 127 47 13
ARMs . 2,826 11.8 4,492 199 9,862 42,7 (37) (54)
Second mortgages 654 27 406 1.8 433 1.9 61 (6)
Total single-famuly . 21,467 89.6 20,957 93.1 22,688 98,2 2 (8)
Multifamily . . 2,492 104 1,561 6.9 422 1.8 60 270
Total . $23,959 1000% $22,518 100.0% $23,110 100 0% 6 (3)
Average net purchase yield 9.82% 9.88% 9 40% (1) 5

The increase 1n mortgage purchases in 1990 compared with 1989 was due primanly to an increase
in the number of morty ze< otfered for sale in the secondary market, an increase in the Corporation’s
market share, and increased buy/sell activity. “Buy/sell” activity refers to the Corporation’s practice
of committing to purchase mortgages and simultaneously committing to sell mortgages as MBS.
Buy /sell activity allows the Corporation to continue to provide funds to the primary mortgage market
in periods characterized by narrow spreads hetween mortgage yields and the Corporation’s debt costs,
when it 1s not desirable to purchase largzc amounts of mortgages for portfolio The decrease in
mortgage purchases in 1989 compared with 1988 was attributable to a decrease 1n the number of
rnortgages offered for sale 1n the secondary market,
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The decrease in the percentage of ARMs purchased in 1990 compared with 1989, and in 1989
compared with 1988, was primanly the result of lower interest rates on fixed-rate mortgages, and
narrower spreads between inilerest rates on fixed-rate mortgages and witial rates on ARMzs, which led
to an increase 1n originations of fixed-rate mortgages and fewer ARM orginations. The proportion of
mtermedhate-term fixed-rate mortgage purchases m 1990 compared with 1989 increased primarily
because of an increase m purchases of balloon mortgages

Multifamily loan purchases rose significantly between 1988 and 1990, n large part due to the
increased use of the DUS program, which was mtroduced in 1988

Sales from portfohio totaled $5 8 billion in 1990 compared with $3.0 bilhon in 1989 and $5.0
billion in 1988. The higher sales level 1n 1990 compared with 1989 reflects the Corporation’s increased
use of buy/sell activities 1n 1990. Sales 1n connection with buy/sell activities were $5.5 billion, $2.8
llion, and $2 2 hillien 1n 1990, 1989, and 1988, respectively. Buy/sell activity does not materally
affect net interc~t 1y urgin nor does 1t generate significant gamns or losses Sales were lower in 1989
compared with |*~~ because more structured transactions, such as REMICs, were nitiated by dealers
using their own «ollateral rather than by sales out of portfoho.

Mortgage repayments, which include prepayments and normal principal amortization, totaled
$11.6 billion 1n 1990, compared with $11 0 bilhon 1n 1989 and $10.7 ballion 1n 1988.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

MBS outstanding continued to grow at a rapid pace during 1990 At December 31, 1990, there
were $299 8 billion of MBS outstanding, compared with $228 2 billion at December 31, 1989, and
$178 3 bilhon at December 31, 1988, MBS are backed by loans from one of three sources. a single
lender, multiple lenders, or the Corporation’s portfolio. Single-lender MBS renerally are issued
through lender swap transactions in which a lender exchanges pools of moricage loans for MBS
Multiple-lender MBS allow several lenders to pool mortgage loans together and in return, receive
MBS representing a proportionate share of a larger pool MBS may back other securities, including
Fanme Megas, Stripped MBS (“SMBS”}, and REMICs

MBS are not assets of the Corporation, except when acquired for investment purposes, nor are
the related outstanding securities habilities of the Corporation. However, the Corporation 1s liable
under its guaranty to make timely payments to investors of principal and interest on the mortgage
loans 1 the underlying pools. The 1ssuance of MBS creates a source of guaranty fee income without
assurmning any debt refinancing nsk on the underlying pooled moriyagcs

Sellers of pools of morigage loans may retam or transfer to one or more third parties the primary
default risk on loans comprising the pools, or they may elect to transfer this credit risk to Fannie Mae
for a higher guaranty fee. The Corporation, however, assumes the ultimate risk of loss on all MBS. In
recent vears, largely because of new capital standards for financial mnstitutions, an increasing
proportion of MBS pools have been securitized without recourse to the lenders. During 1990, 88
percent of MBS 1ssued were nonrecourse, compared with 66 percent and 47 percent 1n 1989 and 1988,
respectively. Management closely momtors and manages the additional credit risk related to

nonrecourse MBS.
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'The following table summarlzes MBS activity for the years ended December 31, 1990 1989 and
1988 '

Summary of MBS Act1v1ty

(Dollars in mllllons)

% Change
‘ _ \ : 1990 1989
bl c ¥ T Over . “Over
1990 1989 1988 1989 1988
MBS Issued e T .
Lender originated ......... $ 91,184 94% $ 64,396  92% $ 48,942 . 89% 42%  32%
. Fannie Mae ongmated- ie. .. 9511 6. . 5368 .8 .. 5936 11.-.3 (10)
Total v I s $, 96,“695 100% $ 69 764 - 100% $ 54, 878 100%}':"3'3’9. 27
MBS Outstanding(1): T ‘ '
~ Lender risk(2) ........... $ 97,752 33% $ 94,343  41% $ 84,143 47% 4 12
** “Fannie Mae risk(3) ....... 202,081 - 67 133,889 - 59 94,107 53 6l . 42
Total(4) ............... $299,833 100% $228,232 100% $178,250 .g%‘ 31 28

(1) This table classifies MBS outstanding based on primary default risk category;"however
Fannie Mae bears the ultimate risk of default on all MBS, MBS outstandmg includes
MBS that have been pooled to, back Megas, SMBS, or REMICs

(2) Included in lender risk are $35.9: billion, $30.6 billion, and $23.8 billion at December 31,

: 1990, 1989, and 1988, respectively, on which the lender or a third party agreed to bear
default. risk limited to. a certain-portion or percentage of the loans delivered and in some
cases, the lender has pledged collateral-to secure that-obligation. :

(8) Included are $9 3 billion, $11.1 billion, and $11.2 billion at December 31, 1990, 1989, and
1988, respectively, which are backed by government insured or guaranteed mortgages

- {4) Included are $11.8 billion, $11.7 billion, and $8.1 billion at December 31, 1990; 1989, and
‘ 1988, respectively, of Fanme Mae MBS in portfolio.- , -

Fanme Mae issued more MBS in 1990 compared w1th 1989, and in 1989 compared with 1988,
primarily due to an increase in the volume of fixed-rate mortgages available in the secondary market to
create MBS and an increase in the Corporation’s ‘market share. In addition, in both 1990 and 1989,
higher propertions of fixed-rate originations were securitized than.in the preceding year, partly in

..response to new risk-based: capital guidelines for thrifts, banks, and bank holdmg companies.. The new
_guidelines specify a lower risk-based capital requirement for mortgage-backed securities issued or
_ guaranteed by a U.S. government agency or a U.S. government-sponsored agency than for mortgage
loans. A number of thrifts and banks have sold or securitized a portion of their residential mortgage
assets in the secondary market in response to the new guidelines.

During 1990, international investors purchased increased amounts of MBS directly as well as
through private mutual funds, structured and managed by third parties. This increase in the amount
of MBS purchased by international investors was attributable, in part, to growing investor familiarity
with the MBS structure, increased market liquidity, and attractive yields relative to comparable
investments. In addition, the Corporatlon mtenmﬁed its efforts to create greater name recognition
and understandlng of the product
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Financing Actunities

Debt Issued and Outstanding

percen .20 percent at December 31, 1989 and 1988, respectively. These decreases were the
resuit of achieving a cost of funds on net new deht {debt issued less deht repard) that was lower than
the average cost of outstanding debt. Lower interest rates i recent years have allowed the
Corporation to reduce the average cost of debt outstanding while maintaming the desired average
maturity

The average maturity of debt outstanding at December 31, 1990 and December 31, 1989 increased
each year compared with the prior year-end primanly because the Corporation issued a higher
bercentage of callable debt relative to non-callable debt., In achieving its duration targets, the
Corporation’s increased use of callable debt 1n 1990 and 1989 lengthened the average maturity of debt

The following table sets forth the amount and average cost of debt, 1ssued and repaid during the
last three years, and the amount, average cost, and average maturity of debt outstanding at the end of
each of those vears

% Change
1990 1989
Over Over
I_!I‘-[) 1989 1988 1989 1988
(Dollars in millions)
Debt Issued During Year
Amount $113,988 % 78,568 % 64,260 45% 22%
Average cost (1) 8.03% 8.60% 7.84% (7) 10
Debt Repard During Year
Amount $106,974 $ 68,043 $ 55,766 57 22
Average cost (1) 8.27% 8.77% 8.18% (6) 7
Debt Outstanding at Year-end
Amount, net $123,403 $116,064 $105,459 6 10
Average cost (1) 8.81% 9.04% 9.20% (3) (2)
Average matunty ( months) . 50 47 43 6 9

(1) Includes commissions, hedging costs, and the effect of currency, debt, and interest rate
swaps.

Callable debt 1ssues plus the notional amount of callable and ISFD swaps totaled $13.3 billion,
~6 5 billion, and $1.7 bilhion 1n 1990, 1989, and 1988, respectively. In 1990, 1989, and 1988, such
callable mstruments were 66 percent, 28 percent, and 12 percent, respectively, of total long-term debt

The Secretary of Housmg and Urban Development requires that the Corporation’s debt-to-capital
ratio not exceed 20-1. Capital, for this purpose, includes stockholders’ equity, subordinated capital
debentures, convertible capital debentures, and loss allowances. Also, the Corporation is subject to a



Presented in the following table are the aforementioned capital ratios at December 31, 1990, 1989,
and 1988,

1990 1989 1988
Debt-to-capital 1891 19.7:1 191.1
Subordinated debt-to-equity 051 081 1.2-1

Despite the maturing in 1990 of $0.4 billion of subordinate | fobentures, the debt-to-capital ratio
at December 31, 1990 decreased compared with December 31 1199 targely because of a net increase 1in
retained earnings of $1.0 billion and higher loss allowances. At December 31, 1989, the debt-to-capital
ratio increased compared with the ratio at December 31, 1988, primarily due to a net decrease n
outstanding subordinated capital debentures

Common Stock

On August 23, 1990, the Corporation announced its intention to repurchase common stock and
common stock warrants, 1n an amount up to the expected proceeds from the exercise of the warrants,
approximately $500 mlhon. As of December 31, 1990, 3.4 mullion shares of common stock had been
repurchased at a cost of $93 mullion. At December 31, 1990, there were outstanding 238 3 million
shares of common stock and 33 4 million commeon stock warrants, which expire n February 1991 In
1990, the Board twice voted to increase the quarterly cash dividend by 4 cents per share The dividend
payable 1n the fourth quarter of 1990 was 22 cents per share.

GSE Studies

In 1990, both the General Accounting Office (“GAQ”) and the U.S Treasury reported on their
studies of a variety of government sponsored enterprises (“GSEs”), including Fannie Mae The
studies, mandated by the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989
(“FIRREA”), were designed to evaluate, among other aspects, the financial soundness of (:SEs and
their capitalization Both the Treasury and the GAQ submtted to Congress 1 1990 reports
addressing the financial safety and soundness of eight GSEs, including regulation of the GSEs Under
FIRREA, the GAO must complete an additional GSE study by May 1991 The Omnibus Budget
Reconcihation Act of 1990 (“Budget Act”) requires the Treasury and the Congressional Budget Office
each to prepare and submut to Congress by Apnl 30, 1991, a study of GSEs Those studies will inciude
a discussion of financial nsks each GSE assumes and the adequacy of GSE regulation, and, in the
Treasury’s case, recommended legislation. The Budget Act also calls for the Congressional commat-
tees that have jurisdiction over the various GSEs to report by September 15, 1991, legislation to

ansure the financial soundness of GSEs.
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BUSINESS

The Corporation purchases and holds in portfolio mortgage loans on residential properties The
Corporation obtams funds to purchase mortgage loans from various capital markets The Corporation
also 1ssues MBS,

In this document, both whole loans and participation interests m loans are referred to as “loans,”
“mortgage loans,” and “mortgages.” The term “mortgage” also 15 used to refer to the security
instrument securing a lean rather than the loan itself, and when so used also refers to a deed of trust.

Mortgage Loan Portfolio

Mortgage Loans Purchased

The Corporation purchases primarily single-family, conventional, fixed- or adjustable-rate, first
mortgage loans, but 1t also purchases other types of residential mortgage loans for its loan portfolio,
including mortgage loans insured by the Federal Housing Admimstration (“FHA”), mortgage loans
guaranteed by the Veterans Administration (“VA”), multifamily mortgage loans and second mortgage
loans. The Corporation’s purchases have a variety of maturities. The Corporation’s purchases of
adjustable-rate mortgage loans (“ARMSs”), fixed-rate loans with intermediate terms (20 years or
less), loans secured by second mortgages, and multifamily loans are designed to assist in mitigating
the risks associated with rising interest rates, to match more closely the generally shorter maturities of
its borrowings, and to provide a secondary market for a variety of loans that may be attractive to
potential homeowners

The composition of the Corporation’s loan portfoho and of 1ts loan purchases during the last five
years is shown n the table 1n “Portfolio Composition and Purchases.” Of the single-family mortgage
loans that the Corporation purchased i 1990, approximately 47 percent were from mortgage banking
companies, 22 percent were from savings and loan associations, 21 percent were from commercial and
mutual savings banks, and 10 percent were from other companies.

Principal Balance Lirmits  Maximum principal balance limits apply to the Corporation’s mort-
gage loan purchases 'The Corporation may not purchase conventional mortgage loans on one-famly
dwellings 1f the loan’s original principal balance exceeds $191,250, except for loans secured by
properties m Alaska and Hawan Higher principal balance limits apply to loans secured by properties
in those states or secured by two or more family dwelling units. The maximum principal balance
limits apphcable to such conventional mortgage loans secured by one- to four-family dwellings can be
adjusted annually based on the national average price of a one-family dwelling as surveyed by the
Office of Thrift Supervision. On January 1, 1991, the limitation for one-family dwellings was
increased from $187,450 to the current level.

Under the Charter Act, maximum principal balance hmits also apply to the Corporation’s
purchases of conventional multifamily mortgage loans (1 e, loans secured by more than four dwelling
units}. Such hmts are affected by the location of the unit and other factors.

FHA-mmsured mortgage loans are subject to statutory maximum amount himitations. The
Corporation will not purchase VA-guaranteed mortgage loans that have principal amounts in excess of
amounts the Corporation specifies from time to time.

Conventional/FHA/VA In recent years the Corporation has purchased predomnantly conven-
tional mortgage loans (1 e, mortgage loans that are not federally insured or guaranteed). In 1990,
97 percent of the total amount of the loans purchased by the Corporation were conventional mortgage
loans. The remainming 3 percent were insured by the FHA or guaranteed by the VA.

Fixed-Rate/Adjustable-Rate  The interest rate on fixed-rate mortgage loans 1s fixed for the term
of the loan Substantially all fixed-rate mortgage loans purchased by the Corporation provide for level
monthly installments of principal and mterest The Corporation also purchases some growing-equity
mortgage loans and graduated-payment mortgage loans (1 percent of loans purchased in 1990), which
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are fixed-rate loans with planned annual increases m the monthly payments over a specified period of
time. With a growing-equity mortgage loan, the increase 1n the payment generally applies imtially to
interest and then later to the original principal balance, resulting in faster amortization. To the extent
scheduled payments are less than the interest accruing on the mortgage loan imtially, the difference 1s
paid from a subsidy account established at the time the mortgage loan is ornginated With a
graduated-payment mortgage loan, payments during the early years do not cover the full amount of
interest on the loan at the fixed interest rate, and the increases in the payments apply solely to interest.
and additions previously made to the original principal balance; therefore, the payment icreases do
not result in faster amertization

The Corporation also purchases fixed-rate balloon mortgage loans with balloon payments due
after 7 or 10 years, but with monthly payments based on 30-year amortization schedules. Many of the
7-year balloon mortgage loans permit the borrower to refinance the balloon payment at maturity with
a 23-year fixed-rate mortgage loan During 1990, the Corporation’s purchases of balloon mortgage
loans represented 8 percent of its purchases.

In February 1988, the Corporation commenced purchasing conventional fixed-rate loans with
biweekly payments and original matunities of up to 30 years. During 1990, biweekly fixed-rate loans
constrtuted 2 percent of the Corporation’s purchases

The nterest rates on ARMs are determined by formulas providing for automatic adjustment, up
or down, at specified intervals in accordance with changes 1n a specified index. Substantially all ARMs
provide for adjustments (up or down) in the amount of monthly installments after the interest rate on
the loan 1s adjusted because of changes in the applicable index The Corporation purchases ARMs
only if the ARMs have a cap on the amount the interest rate may change over the life of the loan The
volume of the Corporation’s purchases of ARMS has fluctuated, in part, because the level of mterest
rates and the difference between the interest rates on fixed-rate loans and the imitial interest rates on
ARMs with the same matunty influence the number of ARMs ongmnated As a result of the relatively
lower interest rate environment and the narrower interest rate spread between fixed interest rates and
nitial interest rates on ARMs, the Corporation’s purchases of ARMs 1n 19)) constituted 12 percent of
the total amount of loans purchased, compared with 20 percent w1 1"~ ARM purchases were
12 percent and 4 percent of the total amount of loans purchased in 19~7 and 1986, respectively A
substantial number of the ARMs purchased by the Corporation provide the mortgagor with the
option, at specified times or during specified periods of time, to convert the ARM to a fixed-rate
mortgage loan with payment of a small fee.

In 1990, the Corporation began purchasing conventional mortgage loans that have nne interest
rate for the first 5 or 7 years and then adjust automatically to another interest rate for the next 25 or
23 years, respectively The loans, called Two-Step Mortgages®, have mitial interest rates lower than

those on traditional 30-year fixed-rate mortgage loans.

Payments on both fixed-rate loans and ARMs consist primanly of interest during the early and
middle years, with the major portion of the onginal principal balance scheduled to be paid during the
years immediately preceding maturity, except that in the case of balloon mortgage loans the major
portion of the omgnal principal balance 1s scheduled to be paid at maturity.

First Mortgage/Second Mortgage 1In addition to mortgage loans secured by first lens on
residential properties (“first mortgage loans'), the Corporation also purchases fixed-rate, conven-
tional mortgage loans secured by second liens (“second mortgage ioans™) The Corporation also has
purchased some conventional ARM second mortgage loans mn negotiated transactions Second
mortgage loans generally bear higher interest rates and have shorter maturities than first mortgage
loans. Durmg 1990, the Corporation’s purchases of second mortgage loans constituted 3 percent of

total loans purchased.

Whole Loan/Participation Interest  In addition to purchasing the complete ownership interest
m mortgage loans (typically called whole loans), the Corporation also purchases less than 100 percent
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ownership of mortgage loans (typically called barticipation interests) The Corporation purchases
participation interests that range from 50 to 99 percent.

Single-Famuly /Multifamily The mortgage loans secured by multifamily propertres {1 e, proper-
ties with more than four dwelling units) that the Corporation purchases are primarily conventional,
fixed-rate morigage loans that typically have a shorter term than mortgage loans secured by one- to
four-family properties (*single-family” or “home” loans} During 1990, the Corporation’s purchases
of multifamily loans constituted 10 percent of the amount of loans 1t purchased, compared with
7 percent 1n 1989. The increase 1n multifamily loan purchases in 1990 largely reflects increased use of
the Corporation’s delegated underwriting and servicing program, which was adopted in 1988, See
“Mortgage Loan Portfoho—Underwriting Guidehnes.”

Maturnen The Corporation currently purchases conventional, single-family fixed- and adjust-
able-rate martga,.e loans with onginal maturities of up to 30 years and 40 years, respectively, with a
mmmmum of 10 vcars for ARMs. Only a small portion of such ARMs purchased have maturities of
more than 30 years. Prior to 1986, the large majority of the Corporation’s single-family conventional
mortgage loan purchases were 30-year loans In 1987, the Corporation also began to purchase actively
10- and 20-year conventional, fixed-rate, first mortgage loans and the conventional, fixed-rate
mortgage Joans with 7- and 10-year balloon payments described above During 1990 and 1989, the
Corporation’s purchases of mtermediate-term, fixed-rate, first mortgage loans constituted 20 percent
and 15 percent, respectively, of its purchases.

The multifamily mortgage loans that the Corporation currently purchases generally have an
effective term not exceeding 15 years. The Corporation owns a signmificant amount of FHA-1nsured
multifamily loans that had an ongnal maturity of 40 years.
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Portfolio Composition and Purchases. The following table shows the composition of the
Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio, purchase activity, and the weighted-average yields (net:of
servicing) on the mortgage loan portfolio and mortgage loan purchases. The table includes mortgage
loans that back MBS held in the Corporatxon s mortgage loan portfolio. At December 31, 1990, 1989,
and 1988 $11.8 billion, $11.7 billion, and $8.1 billion, respectxvely, of MBS were held in portfolio.

Mortgage Loan Portfolio Composition and Purchases

(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

1990 1989 1088 1987 1986
Unpaid Principal Balances (‘“UPB”’) at :
End of Period . : o
Smgle-famlly Government, insured or g'uaranteed $ 11, 204 $ 11,857 $ 12,235 $13,306 - $15,968
: Conventional: Fixed-rate..:....... - 72,290 66,804 60,997 61,314, 58,176
Adjustable- rate eeee.. 20,736 0 22,020 . 21,040 13,722 14,343
Second mortgage ... 1,851 1,614 1,561 1,421 2,169
Multifamily: Government insured ............... 4,243 4,361 4,397 4,482 4,852
Conventional ;... .. .. .. EERRERERES _ 6,304 ‘4,065 2,783 2,501 " 2,325
Total UPB.......ooveeevnnn .. ... $116,628 $110,721 $103,013  $96,746  $97,833
Average net yield ........... P 9.94%  10.03% 9.84%  9.98% 10.17%

Purchases Durmg Perlod . ;
Single-family: Government insured or guaranteed ~$ 698 $ 940 $ 503 $ 1,784 § 438

Conventional: Fixed-rate.......... 17,289 15,119 11,890 15,775 27,454

Adjustable-rate . .... 2,826 4,492 9,862 2,512 1,108

Second mortgage ... 654 406 - 433 139 498

Multifamily: Government insured ............... — 117 23 — —_

Conventional . ................. ... 2,492 1,444 399 321 1,328

Total UPB mortgage loans .

purchased.................. s $ 23,959 $ 22,518 § 23,110 $20,531 $30,826

Averagenetyield ........... ... ..ol 9.82% 9.88% 9.40% 9.63% 9.68%

At December 31, 1990, the weighted-average remaining life of the mortgage loans in the
Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio was approximately 19 years, assuming normal scheduled
amortization and no prepayments.

Underwriting Guidelines

The ‘Corporation has established certain underwriting guidelines for purchases of conventional
mortgage loans in an effort to reduce the risk of loss from mortgagor defaults. These guidelines are
designed to assess the creditworthiness of the mortgagor as well as the value of the mortgaged home
relative to the amount of the mortgage loan. The Corporation, in its discretion, accepts deviations
from the guidelines. The Corporation generally relies on lender representations to ensure that the
mortgage loans it purchases conform to its underwriting guidelines, which the Corporation changes
from time to time.

In 1988, the Corporation introduced the delegated underwriting and servicing (“DUS”) program
for multifamily loans. Under DUS, selected lenders that have been specifically approved to participate
in the DUS program are permitted to sell to the Corporation multifamily loans that meet published
guidelines without the Corporation’s prior approval of the underwriting, provided that the lenders
agree to share in a portion of any subsequent loss on such loans and establish and maintain a reserve
with a designated custodian to secure their loss-sharing obligation. Previously, the Corporation
required its approval of the underwriting of all multifamily loans before it would purchase such loans.
It continues to require such prior approval for multifamily loans that it purchases from non-DUS
lenders.
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For single-family mortgages the Corporatlon generally requires that the unpald prlnCIpal amount.
of each conventional first mortgage loan it purchases not be greater than 80 percent of the value of the
mortgaged property unless the excess over 75 percent is insured by a mortgage insurance company
acceptable to the Corporation. Mortgage insurance is required for as long as the principal balance of
the mortgage loan is greater than 80 percent of the original value (or of the appraised value as
determined by a subsequent appraisal). ‘Under the Charter Act, mortgage insurance is not required on
mortgage loans with loan-to-value ratios greater than 80 percent if the mortgage loan seller retainsa
participation interest in the loan of not less than 10 percent or the seller agrees to repurchase the loan
in the event of default. The Corporation, however, is requiring mortgage insurance in cases where the:
lender retains a participation interest of 10 percent or more, except where the lender agrees to
repurchase the loan in the event of default or the lender or a third party credit enhancer agrees'to’bear
a certain amount of losses, in which case the Corporation may require the lender to pledge collateral to
secure such obligation: The Corporation generally requires mortgage insurance for second mortgage:
loans if the combined loan-to-value ratios of the first and second mortgage’ loans on the property
exceed 70 percent. “The Corporation bears the risk that in some cases mortgage insurers or lenders
may be unable to satisfy fully their obligations. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ‘of
Fmanmal Condxtron and Results of Operatzons—Fmancral Condrtron-—-Management of Credlt Rlsk ”

Because of then' government backmg, FHA 1nsured and VA- guaranteed mortgage loans mvolve
less risk to the Cerporation from:a;credit standpoint than conventional loans. The Corporation’s:
basic eligibility .criterion for the purchase of FHA/VA loans is simply-the: FHA insurance:or the, VA
guaranty.

Comml,tments
.

The Corporatlon issues commitments to ‘purchase, at a. later date, a specrﬁed dollar amount of
mortgage loans. The Corporation purchases mortgage loans through standard product commitments:
with posted yields and‘through negotiated commitments. The Corporation’s'standard single-family
mortgage loan products currently include 10-,°15-, 20-, and 30-year fixed-rate mortgage loans, 7-year'
fixed-rate balloon mortgage loans'with 30—year amortization periods, FHA-insured and VA-guaranteed
fixed-rate mortgage loans, many types of‘ARMsS, and second mortgage loans. A negotiated commit-
ment is used when the mortgage loans or propésed commitment terms dlﬁ"er in some manner from the
Corporation’s standard mortgage loan produéts or standard commitments:: :

The Corporation purchases most. of its mortgage loans pursuant to: mandatory delivery commit-
ments. Under such commitments, lenders are obllgated to sell loans to the Corporation at the
commitment yield.. Mandatory delivery commiitments ‘are available for standard product and
negotiated transactions. .If a.lender is not able to deliver the mortgage loans required under a
mandatory delivery commitment, the lender may buy back the commitment at any time during the
commitment term for a fee

The Corporatlon 1ssues ‘master commltments to lenders to facilitate the dellvery of mortgages into
MBS pools or portfolio. In order to deliver under a master commitment, a lender must either deliver
MBS or convert to a mandatory dehvery mortgage purchase commltment w1th the yield established at
the time of conversion. Master commitments outstanding at December 31, 1990 were $49 3 bllllon
compared with $16 6 bllhon at December 31 1989

"The Corporatlon also issues to lenders negotlated standby commltments that commlt the
Corporation to, purchase a designated dollar amount of single- famlly mortgage loans from. the lendersw
if they convert their standby commitments to mandatory delivery commitments. Standby commit-
ments do not obligate the lenders to sell the:loans to the Corporation; they.are obligated to do so only
after suc,h commitments .are. converted to. mandatory delivery commltments. . The yield on the
mortgage loans is established at the time of the conversion in the case of. standby. commitments. The
combined term of the standby and mandatory commitments currently can be up to 14 months.
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The Corporation offers lenders obtaining mandatory commitments the choice of obtaining such a
commitment without fees at competitive yields or at lower yields with fees. The' ‘Corporation’ has
eliminated such upfront fees for standard product standby commltments and most negotlated standby
commltments C v v :

Commltments outstandmg at December 31 1990 and 1989 were $9.6 bllhon and $6.0 bllhon
respectively, including standby commitments.of $7 7. bllllon at December 31, 1990 and $3 7.billion at.
December 31,.1989. . X ; s

Servzcmg

.The Corporatlon does not service mortgage loans held in the portfoho, except for government-
1nsured multifamily loans, most conventional multifamily mortgage loans that are in default, and loans
that have been foreclosed. Fannie Mae mortgage loans can be serviced only by a servicer.approved by
the Corporation. Lenders. who sell single-family. mortgage loans and conventional multlfamrly loans to
the Corporation. often, retain the responsibility for servicing the mortgage loans sold, subject to. the,
Corporation’s gu1delmes With the. Corporation’s approyal, sellers or servicers may transfer, Tesponsi-
bility for servicing loans to others, or they may subcontract servicing to another lender ‘approved. by
the Corporation. Servicing includes the collection and remittance of principal and interest payments,
administration of escrow accounts, collection of insurance:claims, and,if necessary, processing of
foreclosures. ‘The Corporation compensates servicers-by: permlttmg them to-retain a specified portlon
of each mterest payment on'a serviced mortgage loan.. ‘ :

Repayments and Sales

Mortgage repayments include mortgage loan prepayments, loans paid-in-full, normal amortiza-
tion;-and foreclosures. -Because the majority of mortgage:loans in the Corporation’s portfolio are
prepayable by the borrower (in some cases with a small penalty), the decline in mortgage interest
rates experienced in 1986 and during part of 1987 resulted in a significant increase in prepayments of
the higher interest rate: mortgage loans in the Corporation’s loan portfolio. In general, when the level
of interest rates declines significantly below the interest rates.on. portfolio mortgage loans, the.rate of
prepayment is likely to increase, although the rate of principal payments is influenced by a variety of
economic,-geographic, and other factors. .Changes in the level of repayments in the years.1988-1990
were relatively small primarily due to greater stability of interest rates. i oy

Mortgage Loan Portfoho Repayments

(Dollars in. mrlllons)

Year Ended December 31,

: . : © 1990 1989 -~ 1988 = 1987 1986
Single-Family: & S
. Government insured or guaranteed........ $ 1,239 .$ 1,342 $ 1,425 $ 2,011 $ 2,876
Conventional: Fixed-rate......... P, L 6070 6,509 7,310 10,206 12,396
Adjustable rate ............ 4 119 3,262 2,548 3,143 3,756
. Second mortgage .......... 417 354 293 887 1,228
Multifamily . . . .... e 375 320 229 270 481

Total mortgage loan repayments(l) . $12,220 $11,787 $11',805 $16,517 $20,737

Repayments as’ a percentage of total average -
unpaid prmmpal balance .......... FETRRRE .. 10 8%  11.2% 11. 7% ‘ 17 3%  21.1%

(1) Repayments mclude $616 million; $786 million, $1,115 million, $1,;123 million, and
$1,142 million in 1990, 1989, 1988, 1987, and 1986, respectlvely, of loans removed from
portfolio as a result of foreclosures.
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The following table shows the unpaid principal balances of mortgage loans sold from portfolio for
the ‘years 1986 through 1990. The Corporation sold $1.6 billion of low-yielding loans in 1987 to
improve future interest spreads on the portfolio. The sales in 1986 included a special $10 billion sale
of mortgage loans that were primarily assumable FHA/VA mortgage loans.

Mortgage Loan Sales from Portfolio

{(Dollars in millions) L .
Year Ended December 31,

1990 1989 1988 1987 1986 -

Single-Family: : -
Government insured or guaranteed .... . $ 112 $ — $ 150 $2,436 - $ 9,011
Conventional: Fixed-rate.............. 5,733 3,036 4,897 2,528 1,946
Multifamily ... o000 ceean T — — 250 . . e
Total sales ....................... $5,845 $3,036 '$5,047  $5,214 -$10,957

Affordable Housing Initiative

In March 1991, the Corporation announced a four-year, $10 billion housing initiative to improve
and increase the Corporatlon s delivery of home mortgage funds to low- and moderate-income families
and others with special needs. Under this initiative, the Corporation will create new products and
expand the use of existing ones to help meet the needs such families have in accumulating down
payments and other funds to cover closing costs and monthly housing expenses. The Corporation’s
plan is to produce $10 billion in commitments forlow: and moderate-income and other special housing
needs by July of 1993 and to have $10 bllhon in ‘mortgage loans delivered under such commrtments by
December 31, 1994.°

Among other things, the Corporation will be offering commitments to purchase a variety of new
‘employer-assisted loan products.. Another new product will be the-““3/2 Option,” whereby home
buyers may qualify for the minimum 5 percent down payment requirement by using 3 percent of their
own funds and obtaining the remaining 2 percent in the form of a gift from a family member or a grant
or unsecured loan from a non-profit organization or.public entity. Under the 3/2 .Option, the
percentage of monthly gross income that may be used for monthly housing expenses will be raised
from the customary 28 percent to 33 percent of income. As part of its affordable housing initiative,
the Corporation also intends to expand its public finance activities with state and local housing finance
agencies, increase its tax-credit equity investments in low-income. rental housing, and develop new.
mortgage products for the elderly and. resrdents in rural communities.

Mortgage-Backed Securmes

MBS are guaranteed mortgage pass-through trust certificates issued by ‘the Corporatron that
represent beneficial interests in pools of mortgage loans or other MBS. The Corporatlon gerves as
trustee for each trust.

+*"MBS are ‘backed by loans from one of three sources: a single lender, multlple lenders, or ‘the
Corp ration’s portfolio. Single-lender MBS generally are issued through lender swap transactions in:
rich ‘a’ lender-exchanges pools of mortgage loans for MBS. Multiple-lender MBS allow  several
lenders to pool mortgage loans together:and, in return, receive MBS representing a proportionate
1 *rger pool. MBS may back other securities, including Fannie Megas® (“Megas,” formerly
gaPools), Stripped MBS (“SMBS”), and real estate mortgage investment conduit securities
(“REMICs”).

The pools of mortgage loans or MBS are not assets of the Corporation, except when acqulred for
investment purposes, nor are the related outstanding securities liabilities of the Corporatlon The
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Corporation, however, 1s liable under its guaranty to make timely payments to nvestors of principal
and interest on the mortgage loans in the pools, even 1f the Corporation has not recewed payments of
principal or interest on the mortgage loans in the underlying pools. MBS enable the Corporation to
further its statutory purpose of increasing the liquidity of residential mortgage loans and create a
source of guaranty fee income to the Corporation without assumng any debt refinancing risk on the
underlying pooled mortgages

The Corporation 1ssues and guarantees several forms of MBS With a standard MBS, an investor
has an undivided interest i a pool of underlying mortgage loans that generally are provided either by
one lender or by the Corporation out of the Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio  Interests in the
pool are represented by a single class of certificates, so each investor receives a portion of the principal
and 1nterest payments on the pool equal to his undivided nterest n the pool

Fannie Majors®, introduced in 1987, are MBS backed by large pools of mortgage loans from
multiple lenders. Interests in the pool are represented by a single class of certificates, so each investor
receives principal and interest payments proportionate to his undivided interest n the pool Fannie

Mayors issues totaled $20.0 ballion in 1990 and $14 0 billion in 1989

In 1988, the Corporation introduced Fannie Megas®. which allow investors to consohidate small or
pertially paid down pools of MBS of the same type (and of the same pass-through rate for fixed-rate
Megas). In return for their MBS, mvestors receive M ertificates representing undivided interests

i the consohdated pool.

There 1 no special allocation of the cash flows from the mortgage loans underlying standard
MBS, Fannie Majors, and Megas, because 1n each case there 1s a single class of certificates with each
nvestor recewving a portion of the payments of principal and mterest on the underlying mortgage
loans equal to its undivided interest 1n the pool In contrast, SMBS, which the Corporation
introduced in 1986, are 1ssued 1n seres, with two classes that are entitled to different cash flows from
the underlying mortgage loans, MBS or certificates guaranteed by the Government Natiwonal Mortgage
Association (“GNMA certificates’) Each class of SMBS receives a different proportion of the
principal and interest payments on the underlying mortgages, a class may represent (a) an undivided
irterest solely in the principal payments. {(b) an undwvided interest solely in the interest payments, or
(1} dufferent percentage Interests 1n principal and interest payments, to be made on a pool of mortgage
loans, MBS or GNMA certificates.

REMICSs represent beneficial interests in a trust having multiple classes of securities Cash flows
from the underlying mortgage loans, MBS (which may be standard MBS, Fannie Majors, Megas, or
SMBS) or GNMA certificates are allocated to the different classes Some REMIC trusts are
structured so the investors in any regular class of the REMIC are paid mterest currently on their pro
rata share of the remamng principal, but principal payments are made to the regular classes
saquentially so the investors in a regular class recewve principal payments only when all regular classes
with a shorter matunty have been retired. REMICs with different structures have been offered,
mecluding REMICs with (1) one or more accrual or “Z” classes that accrue interest but, receive neither
interest nor principal payments until certain other classes have been retired, (1) classes bearing
\aterest at floating rates rather than fixed rates, or (i) planned or targeted amortization classes
having a schedule of principal payments that will be met under certain prepayment conditions but that
15 not guaranteed to be met. All REMICs mclude a residual class, although the exact nature of the
residual class depends upon the structure of the REMIC. REMICs were authorized by the Tax
Reform Act of 1986, and the Corporation first 1ssued these securities in 1987
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The following tables show the Corporation’s activity in MBS for the years 1986 through 1990.
MBS issued may be exchanged subsequently for Megas, SMBS, or REMICs. The table below includes
MBS issued and outstanding that underlie Megas, SMBS, and REMICs, but does not include the
resulting Megas, SMBS, or REMICs “Those resulting securities are shown in the table entitled
“Summary of Mega, SMBS, and REMIC Act1v1ty e

MBS Issued and Outstanding
- {Dollars in mllllons)
' Year Ended December 31,

‘ o 1990 1989 ~ 1988 1987 1986
Issued during period ... ..o ... L. $ 96,695 $ 69,764 ~$ 54,878  $63,229 . .-$6',O,v56‘6
Outstanding-at perlod end(1)...... 299,833 228 232 178,250 139,960 - 97,174

(1), Included in MBS outstandmg are $11.8 bllhon $11 7. bllhon $8 1 bllhon, $4 2 bllhon and
$1.6 billion of MBS in portfolio at December 31, 1990, 1989, 1988, 1987, and 1986,
respectlvely

The followmg table summarlzes Mega, SMBS and REMIC act1v1ty m 1990 1989 1988 1987
and 1986. -

Summary of Mega, SMBS and REMIC Act1v1ty

(Dollars in millions) : i
Year ‘Ended Décember 31,

1990 1989 1988~ C 1987 - 1986
Issued during period: e D .
~ Megas(1)...... e et g en e £ e s e e $ 16,186 $23,282 $9928 $ —  $—
COSMBS(2) i 7,374 4,132 5556.. 9,001 . 2400
- REMICs..,....... e e ..... 60,917 37,583 11,199 916 -
Outstanding ‘at penod end(3) S : . O AN 8 ST T T
Megas(1) ... .00 i v Ll 41,773 29,401 - 9,774 - 0 = e
SMBS(2) .. S R 22,964 17,266  -15,013 10,462 - 2,283

REMICs. A SN RN S W

(1) Megas can back SMBS or REMICs
- (2) SMBS can back REMICs

(3) Inclides $3.4 bxlhon $3 2 ‘billion, $1 6 billion, and $0.1 billion at December 31,'1990,1989,
1988, and 1987, respectlvely, Beld in the Corporatlon S mortgage portfoho

104314 47,560 - 411,647 897

The Corporation issues MBS backed by single-family first or second mortgage Toans, or multifam-
ily first mortgage loans, with fixed or adjustable.rates. The mortgage loans may be either conventional
or FHA /VA mortgage-loans.: The conventional mortgage loans are subject to the maximum principal
balance limits applicable to the Corporation’s purchases as described under ‘“Mortgage Loan :Port-
folio==Mortgage Loans Purchased—Principal Balance Limits.”:: The mortgage loans also are- subject
to the same underwriting guidelines as:those: for mortgage loans purchased for portfolio-as described
under “Mortgage -Loan Portfolio—Underwriting Guidelines,” except to the extent compliance with
those guidelines is waived by the Corporation. _ The majority of the Corporation’s MBS outstanding
represents beneﬁcxal 1nterests 1n conventlo 1 ﬁxed-rate mortgage loans on single- famlly dwelhngs

~ Most standard MBS and: Fanme Ma}or;s are issued in “swap” transactions in which: lenders
exchange pools of mortgage loans-for MBS. In addition to-swap transactions, the Corporation pools
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mortgage loans from 1ts own portfolio or purchases mortgage loans from lenders m exchange for cash,
assembles the mortgage loans 1n a pool, and sells the related certificates

The Corporation issues its MBS (other than Fannie Majors and Megas) pursuant to commit-
ments by which 1t agrees in advance to 1ssue these securities in exchange for a specified dollar amount
of loans or MBS. Such commitments may be standard product commitments or negotiated
commitments. Standard product commutments provide for optional delivery, while negotiated
commitments provide for either mandatory or optional delivery. Under optional delivery commit-
ments, lenders generally have 180 days to deliver the mortgage loans, although the dehvery period can
be extended by the Corporation for another 180 days. Under mandatory dehvery commitments,
lenders must deliver the mortgage loans within specified time periods SMBS and REMICs are 1ssued
only pursuant to mandatory delivery commitments The Corporation also allows lenders to deliver
MBS pools under a2 master commitment, see “Mortgage Loan Portfolio—Commitments.” At
December 31, 1990, the Corporation had outstanding $6 4 bilhon of mandatory dehvery MBS
commitments and $72.2 billion of optional delivery MBS commitments, compared with $8 4 billion of
mandatory delivery commitments and $34.2 billion of optional delivery commitments at December 31,
1989,

MBS carry the Corporation’s guaranty of timely payment of principal and interest on the
underlying pooled mortgage loans, whether or not such payments are recewved from the mortgagor In
addition, pursuant to its guaranty of REMICs, the Corporation 1s obhigated to make timely distribu-
tion of required installments of principal and interest and to distribute the principal balance n full by
a specified date, whether or not sufficient funds are available 1n the related REMIC trust. Because of
the Corporation’s guaranties, 1t assumes the ultimate credit risk of borrowers’ defaults on all mortgage
loans underlying MBS, as 1t does for portfolio mortgage loans. The Corporation’s sk may be offset
somewhat to the extent sellers of pools of mortgage loans elect to remain at risk on the loans sold to
the Corporation or agree to obtain special credit enhancement 1n connection with pooled mortgage
loans  Lenders are provided an option to assume the credit risk in exchange for paying a lower
guaranty fee. In recent years, largely because of new capital standards for financial mstitutions, an
increasing proportion of MBS pools have been securitized without recourse to the lenders During
1930, 88 percent of MBS 1ssued were nonrecourse, compared with 66 percent and 47 percent in 1989
and 1988, respectively Management closely monitors and manages the additional credit nsk related
to nonrecourse MBS, At December 31, 1990, $97.8 billion of conventional MBS pools had underlying
mortgage loans where the Corporation has recourse to the sellers, third party credit enhancement
providers (through a letter of credit or poel insurance coverage), or other credit enhancement
structures n the event of default by the borrowers For further information regarding the priman
foreclosure risk category of mortgage loans underlying MBS outstanding at December 31, 1990 110~
and 1988, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis ol
Operinions—Financial Condition—Mortgage-Backed Securities 7 If the loss rate on conventional
maortu e loans i pools should appreciably increase, the Corporation’s losses could, to the extent not
oft~et by recourse to sellers or others, become significant. For information on the Corporation’s loss
and delinquency experience on mortgage loans underlying MBS, see “Provision for Losses,
( harge Offs, and Allowance for Losses.”

The Corporation recerves guaranty fees for its standard MBS and Fannte Majors Such fees are
pard wanthly until the underlying mortgage loans have been repaid or otherwise liguidated from the
pool tzenerally as a result of foreclosure) For the years ended December 31, 1990, 1989 and 1988,
MBS uaranty fees totaled $536 million, $408 million, and $328 million, respectively. The Corpora-
non also recewes fees for swapping SMBS, REMICs and Megas for standard MBS, except that no fee
1s charged for Megas swapped for standard MBS issued during the same month as the Mega.

The aggregate amount of guaranty fees received by the Corporation depends upon the amount of
MBS outstanding and on the guaranty fee rate. The amount of MBS outstanding 15 influenced by the
repayment rates on the underlying mortgage loans and by the rate at which the Corporation issues
new MBS In general, when the level of interest rates declines significantly below the interest rates on
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lpans underlying MBS, the rate of prepayment is likely to increase, aithough the rate of principal
payments 1s influenced by a variety of economic, geographic and other factors.

Insurance companies, money managers, and commercial banks have been substantial buyers of
MBS At times, thnft institutions also have been major purchasers of MBS, although they were less
significant purchasers 1 1990 and 1989 Dunng 1990, international investors purchased increased
amounts of MBS directly as well as through private mutual funds structured and managed by third
parties This increase in the amount of MBS purchased by international mvestors was attributable, in
part, to growing investor familiarity with the MBS structure, mcreased market hquidity, and
attractive yields relative to comparable mnvestments. In addition, the Corporation intensified its
efforts to create greater name recogmtion and understanding of the product.

In 1989, nsk-based capital standards were adopted by federal banking regulators, who assigned a
lower risk-based capital requirement for mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by a U.S.
government agency or a U S government-sponsored agency than for mortgage loans A number of
thrifts and banks have sold or securitized a portion of their residential mortgage assets in the
secondary market in response to the new guidelines.

The Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council has proposed a revised supervisory
policy statement with respect to investments in zero coupon bonds, stripped mortgage-backed
securities, asset-backed securities residuals, and certain other securities for depository institutions
that they regulate. If approved by the Council, this proposal would supersede the supervisory policy
statement adopted in April 1988. Presently, the Council consists of the federal banking regulatory
agencies, the National Credit Umon Administration, and the Office of Thrift Supervision. This
proposal states that high nisk collaterahzed mortgage obligation (“CMO”) tranches such as sup-
port/companion bonds, Z-bonds, super principal-only (“PO”) strips, and inverse floaters are gener-
ally unsuitable for mmvestment by depository institutions because of their price and yield volatility.
However, these products could be used for reducing interest-rate risk by institutions with
well-managed portfolios and specific policies for interest-rate risk management It is unclear what
mmpact these proposals, if approved, will have on the MBS market.

In most nstances, the lenders that originated the loans in an MBS pool created from the
Corporation’s portfolio or the lenders that exchanged the loans for the MBS (1n the case of a “‘swap”
transaction) imitially service the loans. The Corporation, however, reserves the right to remove the
servicing responsibility from a lender at any time 1f it considers such removal to be 1n the best interest
of MBS certificate holders. In such event, the Corporation finds a replacement lender that will service
the loans. The lender also may subcontract servicing to another lender approved by the Corporation
as well as transfer servicing with the Corporation’s prior approval The Corporation ultimately 1s
responsible for the administration and servicing of mortgage loans underlying MBS, including the
supervision of the servicing activities of lenders, the collection and receipt of payments from lenders,
and the remittance of distributions and certain reports to holders of MBS certificates.

Provision for Losses, Charge-Offs, and Allowance for Losses

The allowance for losses is established by charges to expense (the provision for losses) and 1s
reduced through charge-offs (met of recoveries) of foreclosure losses. As mortgage loans are
foreclosed, the Corporation reduces the allowance for loan losses by the amount of the estimated loss.
The estimated losses are adjusted to actual losses when the underlying properties are sold. See also
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Allowance for Losses” in the notes to financial

29



statements. The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for losses for the years 1986
through 1990 for loans in the portfolio and loans in MBS pools:

Portfolio and MBS Allowances and Provisions for Loan Losses

(Dollars in millions)

Mortgage Portfolio MBS

Government Government
Conventional Conventional Insured or Conventional Conventional Insured or
Single-family Multifamily Guaranteed Single-family Multifamily Guaranteed Total

Balance, January 1, 1986 .. .... $ 107 $— $ 26 $ 33 $— $— $ 166
Provision ................ 226 23 11 34 12 — 306
Net foreclosures losses
chargedoff............. (173) (5) (14) 9) — — (201)
Transfers ................ (9) — — 9 — -— -
Balance, December 31, 1986 ... 151 18 23 67 12 — 271
Provision ................ 241 25 14 70 10 — 360
Net foreclosures losses
chargedoff............. (208) (21) (13) (41) (2) —_ (285)
Transfers ................ (15) — — 15 — — —
Balance, December 31, 1987 ... 169 22 24 111 20 —_ 346
Provision ................ 255 24 6 73 6 1 365
" Net foreclosures losses
chargedoff............. (195) (21) (12) (77) (9) (1) (315)
Transfers ................ (26) — — 26 — - —
Balance, December 31, 1988 .. 203 25 18 133 17 — 396
Provision ................ 138 23 5 123 17 4 310
Net foreclosures losses
chargedoff............. (129) (18) (10) (62) (20) (4) (243)
Transfers ................ (22) — — 22 — —_ —
Balance, December 31, 1989 ... 190 30 13 216 14 —_ 463
Provision ................ 91 22 6 164 23 4 310
Net foreclosures losses
chargedoff............. (124) (22) (11) (51) (22) (4) (234)
Balance, December 31, 1990 ... 157 30 $ 8 $ 329 $ 15 $— $ 539

The ratio of net losses charged off to average principal balance outstanding for conventional loans in
portfolio and for MBS backed by conventional mortgage loans are summarized in the following table:

Portfolio and MBS Conventional Loan Charge-off Experience

(Percent of net loss charged off to average principal balance outstanding)

Year Ended December 31,
1990 1989 1988 1987 1986

Portfolio Conventional Loans(1):

Single-family .............. .. ... . ... .1342% .1514% .2400% .2831% .2542%

Multifamily........... ... 4187 5525 - .8155 .8505 .2588
MBS Conventional Loans(1):

Single-family ........... ... ... i 0330 .0646 .1075 .0782 .0350

Muftifamily(Z) .................................. 2.1616 2.0619 .9890 .2766 —

(1) Net losses charged off used in calculation exclude portfolio conventional mortgage loans
and MBS backed by conventional mortgage loans where lenders or third parties have
agreed to retain the primary default risk or have agreed to bear default risk limited to a
certain portion or percentage of the loans delivered.

(2) Multifamily losses relate to a credit enhancement product line that was discontinued in
1987.
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Delinquencies and REO
Delinquencies

Delinquencies of three months or more experienced on single-family conventional mortgage loans
in the Corporation’s loan portfolio and underlying MBS, for which the Corporation has the primary
risk of loss, are summarized in the following table:

Portfolio and MBS Single-family Conventional Loan Delinquency Experience

(Percent of portfolio by number of loans and percent of MBS by number of underlying loans)
- . ' December 31,

1990 1989 1988 - '198‘7 }986
Portfolio: " o
Three or more months delinquent........... .36% - 42% 50% 59% .80%
In relief .......... P 32 .33 35 46 30
In foreclosure . . ... e - .34 35 _45 . .62 , 63 )
Total. . cvvvieeiiiie e 1.02% 1.10% 1.30% 1.67% 1. 73% ‘
‘Three or more months delmquent ......... we o J14% 17% ~20% - u20% . .33%
In relief(2) ......... LS U B SO - .09 .08 08 - .03 .04
In foreclosure .............." e +10: 1 © 18 - 1,28 24
Total............. ..., .33% .36% .46% -~ .46% .61%
Total Portfoho and MBS ( 1): - o | L tttt S
Three or more months delinquent........... .22% .28% .35% 42%  .65%
Inrelief(2) ........ccoviiiiii i 17 .19 22 .26 22
In foreclosure .......................l L .19 .22 31 44 51
Total(2) ....... T - 69% .,88% 1.12% 1.38%

(1) Only 1ncludes MBS where Fanme Mae has pnmary default nsk

(2) ‘MBS data for years prior to 1988 for loans' in' relief only ‘includes: loans pooled ‘from
portfo‘ho, as such data forloans pooled from MBS lenders is not available; - MBS loans in
relief represented .06 percent f ‘combmed total loans-for 1990 and 04 percent for 1989’
and 1988, - : c

Delinquencies of two months or more experienced on multifamily conventional mortgage loans in
the Corporation’s loan. portfoho and .derlymg MBS for which the Corporation has the primary risk
of loss at December 31, 1990 an mber 31, 1989 were 1.70% and 3. 24%, respectlvely, of the total
dollar amount of such loans in po oho and underlymg MBS.

REO

When a'mortgage loan for which Fannie Mae bears the default':-risik is liquidated by foreclosure, -
the Corporation acquires the underlying property (“REQ”) and holds it for sale. The number of REQ
increased significantly in 1986:and ‘1987:- The incidence of foreclosures: increased sharply in
economically distressed areas.that have been dependent upon: the oil exploration-and services industry.:. .
The average loss per foreclosure also increased in these areas as property values declined. In addition,
the number of’ foreclosures 1ncreased somewhat due to significant growth in the number of portfoho
and MBS loans;- ‘The number of REO declined sxgmﬁcantly in 1990 and 1989 and to a lesser extent i in
1988 as a result of a slowdown in foreclosures and as dispositions of REO exceeded acquisitions.”
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Information as to the number of REQ properties owned by the Corporation and the carrymg value
of the properties is contained in the followmg table:

REO Experience '
(Dollars in thoueands)

December 31,

. 1990 . 1989 1988 1987 1986
Single-family = a o . _ .
Number of REO(1) ........... 3,585 4,975 7,458 9,434 8,104
Aggregate carrymg value(2) .... $146,000 $172,000 $250,000 $312,000 $294,000
Average carrying value(2) ..... $ 41 $ 35 $ 34 3$ 33 $ 36
Multifamily L
Number of REO .............. 32 - 33 41 7 18 1
Aggregate carrymg value(2).... $111,000 $ 84,000 $ 89,000 $ 30,000 $ 2,000
Average carrying value(2) ..... $ 3,500 $ 2,500 $ 2,200 $ 1,900 $ 2,000

(1) The number of REO for 1986 excludes properties acquired upon foreclosure of loans where
the Corporation had a participation interest. In 1987, the Corporation began acquiring
and managing such properties. As of December 31, 1990;:the Corporation held 211
properties in which it had a participation interest. The Corporation believes that the
“addition of such properties in. 1986 would not have increased the inventory by more than
15 percent. ’ j

(2) The carrying value of a property is the lower of the Corporation’s net mvestment (after
deducting any mortgage insurance proceeds) and the current estlmated net realizable
value.

Competltlon

The Corporatxon competes, within the limits prescrlbed by its Charter Act, in the purchase of
mortgage loans for portfolio and the issuance of mortgage-backed securities in the secondary mortgage
market. The Corporation competes primarily with the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
(“Freddie: Mac”), a .government sponsored.enterprise regulated by HUD whose primary.business
consists. of the issuance:of mortgage-backed securities, and to a lesser extent with savings and loan
associations; savmgs banks, commercial. banks, mortgage. bankers, government- -sponsored corpora-
tions, and companies that pool mortgage loans for sale to investors as whole loans or mortgage-backed
securities.

The Corporatlon s market share of loans purchased for portfolio or swapped for MBS is affected
by the volume of mortgage loans offered for sale i in the secondary. market by loan orlgmators and other
market participants, the amount purchased by ‘other market participants that compete with the
Corporation, and the adequacy of funds to meet the demands of the housing industry. In its purchase
of mortgage loans for portfolio, the Corporation competes primarily on the basis of yield, products and
services offered. The Corporation and Freddie Mac compete for mortgage-backed securities business
primarily on the basis of the amount of the guaranty fee or other fees charged, the relative market
price of the securities, the products and services offered, and differences in such matters as mortgage
loan eligibility standards and delivery requirements.. Competition has been particularly intense for

ARMs because many: savings and loan associations and other market participants have purchased or- . .

retained such loans to better match the terms of their assets and liabilities.

Competltlon between the Corporatlon and Freddle Mac intensified beginning in the last quarter
of 1990 as Freddie Mac began issuing a new mortgage-backed security called the “Gold PC.” One of
the most«effe.c,tlve means of competition between the two entities is to increase the price that lenders
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can obtain for sale of the respective entity’s securities by issuing REMICs backed by such securities in
swap transactions with securities dealers (thereby increasing demand for such securities). Freddie
Mac has been increasing its REMIC activity in order to support the price of its Gold PC and thereby
enhance the market for such securities while"it develops sufficient liquidity for them. The increased
competition has resulted in lowering of the REMIC fees-that the Corporation and Freddie Mac earn
on their REMICs. - . ~ ‘ Lo ‘

Corporate Indebtedness:

~ Although the Corporation is stockholder-owned and its obligations are not backed by the United
States or any agency. or instrumentality thereof other than the Corporation, the Corporation’s debt
has traditionally been treated as “Federal Agency” debt in the U.S. marketplace. The Corporation, as
a result, has historically enjoyed ready access to funds in the U.S. credit markets at rates that are
slightly higher than the yields on U.S. Treasury obligations of comparable maturities. =

The following iéblé sets forth at December 31, 1990 the maturity profile of the Corporation’s debt
obligations that were originally issued with a maturity of one year or longer. o

TR : s e .. ., Average
Maturing Within Book Value = Cost (1)

‘ L ' ~ (Dollars in millions) S
Oneyear............ PRSI $15,646 . 8.49%
One to two years ........ SRR 12,792 o 9.09
Two to three years ........... 9,461 8.85

“ Three to fouryears............ 10,658 S e 897
Four to five years............. ce 11,399 Lo 1996
Over five years .. ............. 39,366 - : i 8.94

‘ (1) .Includes the amor'tizati‘on bf issuance costs and hedging results, ahd the effect of currency
and interest rate swaps.

"The outstanding indebtedness of the Corporation consists of general unsecured obligations issued
under section 304(b) of the Charter Act, subordinated capital debentures (including convertible
capital debentures), which are unsecured subordinated general obligdtions issued under “séc-
tion 304 (e) of the Charter Act, mortgage-backed bonds issued under section 304(d) of theé Charter
Act, and securities sold under agreements to repurchase. O S

Section 304(b) of the Charter Act provides that the aggregate amount of obligations outstanding
under such subsection shall not exceed, at any one time, fifteen times the sum of the capital
(including, for this purpose, capital debentures), capital surplus, general surplus, reserves, and
undistributed earnings of the Corporation unless a greater ratio is fixed by the Secretary of HUD.
From 1968 to 1982 this ratio was set by the Secretary of HUD at 25:1. In 1982, the Secretary of HUD
increased this ratio to 30:1, but in April 1987 the Secretary advised the Corporation that he would
immediately lower the debt-to-capital ratio to 25:1, with the intention of further lowering this ratio to
20:1 by December 31, 1988. Regulations adopted by HUD provide that this ratio is, in the event of a
reduction in the Corporation’s capital, automatically increased to such ratio as shall be necessary to
include all obligations outstanding pursuant to section 304 (b). At December 31, 1990, this debt-to-
capital ratio was 18.9:1, compared with 19.7:1 at December 31, 1989. At December 31, 1990, the
Corporation could have issued approximately $7.3 billion of obligations under section 304 (b) of the
Charter Act in addition to its then outstanding obligations under that section.

The Corporation is obligated to holders of certain outstanding issues of subordinated capital
debentures to maintain the total principal amount of obligations issued under section 304 (e) of the
Charter Act at any one time outstanding at a level not more than two times the sum of (i) the capital
of the Corporation represented by its outstanding common stock and (ii) its surplus and undistri-
buted earnings at such time until such outstanding debentures mature or are redeemed. At
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Dacerber 31, 1990 and 1989, the Corporation’s subordinated debt-to-equity ratio was 0.5 1 and 0.8:1,
respectively At December 31, 1990, the Corporation could have 1ssued approximately $6.0 billion of
aclditional subordinated obligations and still have been 1 comphance with the 2:1 subordinated debt-
to-equity ratio The latest maturity date of a seres of subordinated debentures containing the
subordinated debt-to-equity restriction is September 30, 2002, although that series 1s callable at the
Corporation’s option. No noncallable subordinated obhgations containing the subordinated debt-to-
ecuity restriction remain outstanding. Regulations adopted by HUD provide that, at the maturity or
other event requiring the payment or redemption of obligations issued under section 304 (e) of the
Caarter Act. the permitted debt-to-capital ratio 1s automatically imncreased as necessary to permit the
1ssuance of obligations under section 304 (b) of the Charter Act m an amount sufficient to provide the
ptoceeds required to pay the principal of and interest on the outstanding subordinated obligations
required to be paid at such time.

Issuances of indebtedness pursuant to section 304 (b) of the Charter Act are also subject to the
condition that, at the time of any such 1ssuance, the aggregate amount of such indebtedness then
outstanding under such section 304 (b}, after giving effect to the indebtedness being issued, is not
greater than the Corporation’s ownership, free from any hens or encumbrances, of cash, mortgages or
other secunity holdings and obhgations, participations or other investments Unhke the debt-to-
capital ratio limitation described above, this section 304(b) limitation 1s statutory and may not be
waived or varied by the Secretary of HUD For purposes of each of the foregoing calculations, the
Corporation accounts for debt obligations 1ssued at a discount or premium at their book value (face
amount adjusted for unamortized discount or premium).

Section 304(d) of the Charter Act, pursuant to which MBS and mortzaze backed bonds are
outstanding, 1mposes a requirement with respect to securities 1ssued thereunder that the mortgages
p edged or set aside must be sufficient at all times to make timely debt scrvice payments on the
securities There 1s no other limitation on the amount of MBS and mortgage-backed bonds that may

b outstanding.

Section 304 (¢) of the Charter Act authorizes the Secretary of the Treasury, in s discretion, as a
public debt transaction, to purchase obhgations of the Corporation up to a maximum of $2.25 billion
oatstanding at any one time This authonty has not been used since the Corporation’s transition from
government ownership  Although the Secretary of the Treasury is authorized to purchase the
obligations of the Corporation, the Secretary is under no requirement to do so. Any such obligations
purchased by the Secretary of the Treasury must be issued pursuant to section 304(b) of the Charter
Act and, accordingly, would be subject to the apphcable hmitations and restrictions described above.
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The followmg table sets forth the Corporatmn s borrowmg activity and outstanding borrowings,
the respective costs of borrowings, and average maturities. ‘The amounts given are book value (face
amount net of unamortized prermum and discount) except for short-term notes, which, because they .
have a maturity of less than one year, are reported at their face amount.

Debt
(Dollars in millions) ;
SR Year Ended December 31,
, 1990 1989 1988 1987 1986
Short-Term Notes, Master Notes, Securities
Sold under Agreements to Repurchase,
Residentia! Financing Securities, and
Short-Term Investment Agreements
Jssued during period:
Amount ... uiee i SCRUTOE $ 94,407 $ 55,037 $ 50,180 $26,950 $22,066
Average cost. ..., .. ... il Bedee 7.83% 8.46% 7.68% 6.84% 6.39%
Average matunty-—-days(l) ............ 82 126 .. 169 . 156 217
. Outstanding at end of period: » ’ :
AmMOunt . ...l i s e $ 23,253 $ 24,753 $ 24,492 $15,986 $13,971
Average cost. . ........ .. il 7.74% 8.62% 8.33% 7.56% - 6.40%
Average maturity-—days(1) ............ 90 87 137 149 161
Debentures, Medium-Term Notes, Bonds,
and Long-Term Investment Agreements
Issued during pmod'
Amount . ..............00.. PO $.19,705 $ 23,595 $ 14,183 $18,776 $17,857
Averagecost.................. G 8.93% 8.90% .- 8.16% 8.39% 7.95%
Average maturity—months ....... ..., 96 84 68 75 85
Outstanding at-end of period: ' ,
Amount. . ..., . 0 e s e $100,456 $ 91,674 $ 81.371 $81,341 $79,745
Average Cost...................o.iio.. 8.98% 9.06% 9.32% 9.70% 10.41%
Average matunty-—-months hryeraeens 61 57 53 54 49
Total Debt :
Issued during period: . )
Amount........:. ... ... e e e $114,112 $ 78,632 $ 64,363 $45,726 $39,923
Average cost{(2) ...... ..ot © 8.03% 8.60% 7.84% 7.49% 7.10%
Average maturity—months(1)(2) ...... - 20 28 20 . 36 ’ 47
Outstanding at end of period: S o ' ,
Amount' .. ..... ..o . e .. $123,709 $116,327 $105,863 $97,327 $93,716
Average cost(2) ......... . .o 8.81% . 9.04% 9.20% 9.46% 10.01%
Average maturity—months(1)(2) ...... 50 : 47 43 48 46

(1) This is calculated exclusxve of certain investment agreements for which the average
maturity is indeterminate because the balances associated with such investment agree-
ments fluctuate over the life of the agreement.

(2) Average cost and maturity of tatal debt issued and outstanding include the amortization of
issuance costs, hedging results, and the effect of currency and interest rate swaps.

35



Net Interest Margln and Investment Spread

The table below presents average net mvestmen balances, eﬁ'ectrve mterest rates earned and’
paid, and investment spread and net lnterest margm fer selected months.

‘ December Deeember December 'December December

1990. - 1989 . 1988 1987 1986
: ‘ v (Dollars in millions)
Average net investment balance ....... $128 816 $120 994, $108,879  $99,142 $96,303

Investment yield(1) ... .ooovnvinny o 0 9.76% 9.92% 9.77% 9.87%(2) 10.12%

Borfowing cost (1), .. ... ... TSN 79.01 9.16 9.49 110,04
Investinent spread(3) ......... ....... 91 61 .38(2) .08
Net interest margin(4) ........ DU 123 8 5.82(5) e

interest rate using as the numerator interest income on a tax equivalent basis (e“Xcludrng"* :
“out-of-cycle adjustments), and as the denominator the average outstandmg unpaid invest-
© ment’ less unamortlzed drscount and fees Stmllarly, the average borrowmg cost 1s calcu-

apphcable net indebtedness durmg the month.

(2) Excludes a cumulative adjustment under Financial _Accounting Stand 'N_‘d.ﬂ 91
(“FAS 91”) discussed in note (5) below. R

(3) \_Investment spread is the difference between the mterest rate earned on average assets and
the mterest rate paid on average hablhtles

(4) Net interest margin represents net interest income including out-of-cycle adjustments, on
& tax equivalent basis, expressed as a percentage of the net investment portfolio. The
prlmary difference between mvestment spread and net interest margin is that net i 'erest
margin also reflects the return on that portion of the net investment portfolio funded by
equity and non- 1nterest bearing liabilities.

(5). Includes a cumulative adjustment on adoptmg FAS 91 for additional 1nterest income due
to a higher than expected level of:mortgage repayments, net of certain other. adjustments.
FAS 91 requires that commitment fees, together with purchase-discount, be deferred and
amortized over the estimated life of‘ the related mortgages using the interest metho’d. '

The Corporatlon is managing the effectlve maturities and repricing characteristics of its assets
and liabilities and has developed its MBS business to reduce its sensitivity to increases in interest
rates.. The operations and earnings of the Corporation continue to be influenced, however, by the level
of interest rates and. the availability.-of alternative sources of mortgage credit..

The rate obtained by the Corporation on its refinancing of maturing debt is one of the factors that
affects spread and net interest margin: Information on the maturity profile of the Corporation’s debt
obligations is contained in “Corporate Indebtedness.” The spread between the rate obtained by the
Corporation on debt used to acquire new assets and the rate received on those assets also is an
important factor affecting investment spread and net interest margin. In addition, net interest margin
is affected by the proportion of equity and net non-interest-bearing liabilities relative to debt.

Facilities

The principal office of the Corporation is located at 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington,
DC 20016 (telephone: 202/752-7000), in a building that the Corporation owns. The Corporation also
leases approximately 369,000 square feet of office space at 4000 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, which is
adjacent to the Corporation’s principal office. The present lease, with annual rental expense in 1991 of
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approximately $11 1 mullion, expires in 2001, but the Corporation has options to extend the lease for
up to 15 additional years, 1n 5-year increments

The Corporation also mamntains regional offices 1n leased premises (with the approximate square
footage and year of lease expiration indicated) in Pasadena, Cahforma (69,000 square feet, 1999),
Atlanta, Georgia (64,000 square feet, 1997); Chicago, Ilhnois (38,000 square feet, 1994), Philadel-
phia. Pennsylvamia (56,000 square feet, 1996); and Dallas, Texas (57,000 square feet, 2000). The
regional offices negotiate mortgage loan and MBS business with lenders 1n their regions, assist in
supervising the servicing of the Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio by lenders, assist in supervising
or managing the handhing and disposition of REQ, and provide training to the staff of lenders in ther
region. The Corporation has options to extend the leases in Atlanta and Philadelphia for 5 vears and
the ieases 1n Chicago and Pasadena for up to 10 yvears {in 5-year increments) The annual rental cost
i 1991 of each of the leases for the regional offices 15 between $1 2 and $1 7 mullion. The annual
rental cost for space leased by Fannie Mae 1n Washington, DC and its regional offices generally 1s
subject to increase each year based, in part, upon increased costs related to the space leased, including
operating costs, taxes, and mnsurance

Fannie Mae also leases much smaller amounts of office space in Anchorage, Alaska, Miam,
Fiorida, and Houston, Texas, for employees providing support services to the regional offices.

Employees
At December 31 1990 the Corporation employed approximately 2,500 full-time personnel.

RECENT LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

In June 1990, HUD submitted 1ts 1988-89 report on Fannie Mae to Congress. The report notes
that HUD as regulator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac will request both to submit mark-to-market
estimates of their book of business and that HUD will require additional reports so it can momtor
more closely any changes mn their practices likely to affect their interest risk and credit nsk. HUD also
indicates 1n the report that it has created a regulatory board within HUD to oversee Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, that 1t will create an analytical and policy support unit to support that board, and that it
will develop financial models, mncluding stress models, for measuring GSE risk and the adequacy of

GSE capital.

The Bush Admimstration’s recommendations for the 1992 fiscal year budget, as released on
February 4, 1991, contamned no recommendation that Fannie Mae and other GSEs pay user fees to the
United States Treasury In addition, the budget report stated that the Corporation did not have the
rising loan losses and deteriorating income problems associated with commercial banks and thnft
institutions. The report also examined projections regarding housing appreciation and mortgage rates
and determined that the Corporation’s present policies would enable the Corporation to maintain its
profitability, In examiming the Corporation’s financial condition, the budget report developed a
scenario of interest rate and credit risk stress. Under this scenario, there would be virtually no
taxpayer exposure. The report concluded that the Corporation’s continued profitabihty and operating
effhiciency were key to protecting taxpayers. There also is a proposal, which is a part of the budget
recomimendations, to allow HUD to establish fees and charges against entities that it regulates. These
assessments would cover the costs of regulating and auditing such entities. It 1s unclear what impact,
if approved, this proposal would have on Fannie Mae.

COMMON STOCK

The following information is summarized from the Charter Act, the bylaws, and certain
resolutions of the Board of Directors and stockholders of the Corporation. Such summaries do not
purport to be complete and are qualified 1n their entirety by reference to such Charter Act, bylaws, and
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resolutions, copies of which are obtainable from the Corporation. The Charter Act, the Corporation’s
governing instrument, cannot be amended by the stockholders but only by an Act of Congress

Section 303(a) of the Charter Act provides that the Corporation shall have common stock'
without par value. The common stock is vested with all voting rights. Each share of common stock is
entitled to one vote per share in the election of directors and on all matters presented for their vote..
The holders of the Corporation’s common stock elect thirteen directors and the President of the
United States appoints the remaining five directors pursuant to theterms of the Charter Act. Any
member of the Board of Directors, including a member elected by stockholders; may be removed by
the President of the United States for good cause.

The Corporation also is authorized by the Charter Act to have preferred stock on such terms and
conditions as the Board of Directors of the Corporation may prescribe No common stockholder
approval is required to issue preferred stock.

The Charter Act contains no limitation on the amount of stock that may be issued, except that no
stock may be issued by the Corporation without the prior approval .of the Secretary of HUD. At
February 28, 1991, there were outstanding approximately 273 million shares of common stock.

Holders of common stock are entitled to receive cash dividends if, as and when declared by the
Board of Directors. Cash dividends on the common stock in any one fiscal year may not exceed a rate
determined from time to time by the Secretary of HUD to be a fair rate of return after consideration of
the current earnings and capital condition of the Corporation. The Secretary has not established any
rate limitation to date. The payment of dividends on the common stock also may be subject to any
requirements imposed with respect to future series of preferred stock. During 1990 and 1989, Fannie
Mae paid dividends of $173 million and $103 million, respectively, on the aggregate outstanding
shares of common stock

In the event of liquidation of the Corporatlon holders of common stock are entltled to share
ratably, in accordance with their holdings, in the remaining assets of the Corporation after payment of
all ligbilities of the Corporation, including amounts payable to.the holders of obligations of the
Corporation described under “Business—Corporate Indebtedness” and amounts payable to the
holders of any series of preferred stock issued in the future. There are no provisions under the Charter
Act that would govern the liquidation of the Corporation as a corporate entity.

The common stock has no conversion or pre-emptive rights or redemption or sinking fund
provisions. The outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and nonassessable. There is no
prohibition against the Corporation’s purchase of its own common stock, holding such common stock
in its treasury, and reselling the same.

The Corporation’s common stock is publicly traded on the New York, Pac1ﬁc, and Midwest stock
exchanges and is identified by the ticker symbol “FNM”. The transfer agent and registrar for the
common stock is Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company, 450 West 33rd Street, New York; New :
York 10001. : :

The following table shows, for the periods indicated, the high and low prices per share of the
Corporation’s common stock on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions, as reported
in The Wall Street Journal.

: 1990 1989
Quarter » - High Low High Low
3 7 N $37.88 $28.50 $23.00 $16.71
2Nd e 44.63 32.00 3138 21.25
3rd e PRI 4450 24.88 42.67 29.79
Ath o e 36.25 26.00 46.38  30.50

On March 28, 1990, the closing price of the Corporation’s common stock as so reported was
$45.50.
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MANAGEMENT
Dlrectors

The age and background, as of March 15 1991 of each of the members of the Board of Directors

of the Corporation are as follows:
First
Became "~ Other

Principal Occlipatioo,
Director Directorships(1)

Name and Age
Felix M. Beck, 65

Roger E. Birk, 60

Eli Broad, 57

Alberto R.
Cardenas(2), 42

Henry C. Cashen,
11(2), 51

George L. Clark,
Jr.(2), 49

J. Brian Gaffney
(2), 57

Joseph P.
Hayden, 61

. Chairman -
SunAmerica Corporation (formerly -Sun . Life
U.S.A., Inc., and Sun Life Group of America,

Business Experience, and Residence

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer, Margaretten & Co., Inc., a mortgage
banking company, 1969 to present L1v1ngston
New Jersey s

President and Chief Operating Oﬂicer ‘of the
Corporation, November 1987 to present; Chair-
man of the Board, International Securities Clear-
ing Corporation, November: 1986 to
October 1987; Chairman of the Board, Janu-
ary 1981.to April 1985, Chief Executive Officer,
January 1981 to July 1984, and President,

July 1976 to January 1982, Merrill Lynch & Co.,..

Inc., a financial services company; Rumson, New
Jersey and Washington, D.C.

Chairman of the Board, 1961 to present, Chief
Executive Officer, 1976 . to presert, -and
President, May 1990 to present,-Broad Inc.
(formerly Kaufman and Broad, Inc.), a financial
services corporation; Chairman, -Kaufman:and
Broad Home Corporation, June 1986 to present;
and .Chief. Executive . Officer,

Inc., where he was Chairman and .Chief
Executive Officer since - 1987 and 1978,
respectively); Chairman, 1987 to present, Sun
Life Insurance Company of America, Ine., Los
Angeles, California

Partner, Ferrell, Cardenas; Fertel, Rodnguez &
Mlshael a law firm practicing in Florida,
November 1990 to present;: Senior Partner,
Greenberg, Traurig, Hoffman, ‘Lipoff,-Rosen &
Quentel, P.A., a law firm. practicing in Florida,
July 1987 to October 1990; Partner, Broad and

Cassel, a law firm practicing in Florida and-

Georgia, 1983 to July 1987; Miami, Florida

Partner, chkstem, Shapiro & Morin, a law firm
practicing in the District of Columbia, New"

York, and Virginia, 1973 to present; Washingten,
D.C. R A

President, September 1987 to present, and Vice
President, 1962 to September 1987, George L.
Clark, Inc. ., a real ‘estate company, Brooklyn,
New York

Partner, Gaffney, Pease & DiFabio, a law firm
practicing in Connecticut, January 1989 to
present; Partner, Gaffney & DiFabio, a law firm
practicing in  Connecticut, = 1975 to
December 1988, New Britain, Connecticut
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer, 1980 to present, The Midland Company
and its subsidiaries, businesses engaged
primarily in financing, insurance and river
transportation; Cincinnati, Ohio
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1985 .

1985

1984

1985

1985

New Jersey Resources
Corporation; Penske

Transportation

1989(3)

1989

1969

Star Banc Corporation;

Star Bank, N.A.



Name and Age

James A.. :
Johnson, 47

Vincent A.
Mai(4), 50

John M.
O’Mara, 63

Richard D.
Parsons, 42

Christine D.
Reed(2), 38

Samuel J.
Simmons, 63

Principal Occupation,
Business Experience, and Residence

__First
* Became
Director

Chairman of the. Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer, February 1991 to present; Vice
Chairman of the Corporation, January 1990 to
January 1991; ‘Managing Director, Shearson
Lehman Hutton, Inc., an investment banking

firm; April 1985 to  December 1989; President,”

Public Strategies, a Washington, D.C.-based con-
sulting firm, 1981 to April-.1985; Washington,
D.C. Co v

President and Chief Executive Officer, AEA In-
vestors, Inc., an investment company, April 1989
to present; Managing Director, Shearson Leh-

1990

1991

man Hutton, Inc., an investment banking firm, -

1974-1989; Port Washington, New York

Chairman of the Executive Committee, Quality
Care Systems, Inc., a health éare cost contain-
ment corporation, July 1990 to present; Presi-
dent, Chemvest International, -Inc., ‘an
international merchant banking corporation,
January 1990 to July 1990; Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer, Global Natu-
ral Resources, Inc., an independent oil and gas
exploration and production company, Au-

gust 1988 to December 1989; Managing Director,

Chase Manhattan Bank, September 1985 to Au-
gust 1988; Greenwich, Connecticut

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer, January 1991 to present, President and
Chief Executive Officer, July ©11990 to January
1991, President and Chief Operating Officer,

‘July 1988 to June 1990, and Director, July 1988

to present, The Dime Savings Bank of New

1970

1989

York, FSB, a financial institution; Partner, :

Patterson, Belknap, Webb & Tyler, a law firm
practicing in New York, May 1979 to June.1988;
Pocantico Hills, New York . L

Executive Director, Building, ‘Industry

Association of Southern California;. Orange
County Region, a building‘association, July 1989
to present; Director, January 1987 to June 1989,

and Acting Director, May 1986 to -January 1987,

California Department of " Housing and
Community Development, a -state housing
department; Deputy Secretary .of -Housing,
California Business, Transportation . and
Housing Agency, a business, transportation, and
housing agency, 1984 to May 1986; Corona del
Mar, California C i

President and Chief Executive Officer, The
National Caucus and Center on Black Aged, Inc.,
a non-profit organization, 1982 to present;

1989°

1978

housing  consultant, 1981 to present;

Washington, D.C.
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Other
Directorships(1)

‘Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.;
‘The Midland Company

College Retirement Equities
Fund; Philip Morris

,Companies, Inc.; Time
“Warner, Inc.




First

Prinecipal Occupation, Became Other
Name and Age Business Experience, and Residence Director Directorships (1)
Chnistopher J Vice Charrman and Director Apnl 1890 to pre- 1985
Sumner 44 scnt, and President and Director, March 1987 to

April 1990 CrossLand Savings FSB (Utah}
(tormerly Western Savings and Loan Com-
pany }, a financal mstitution President and Di-
rector Crossb.and Mortgage Corp  a mortgage
banking corpuration May 1988 to present Pres-
wdent and Chiet Executne Officer Western Sav-
mgs and Loan Company a financial nstitution
1980 to March 1987 Salt Lake City Utah

Richard U ‘an ( hairman, March 1986 to present and Execu- 1981 ("RI Insured Mortgage
Dusen 62 tive Partner 1977 to February 1986 Dickinson agsociation, Ine CRI
Wright, Moon Van Dusen & Freeman a law Liquidating REIT La
firm practicing 1 Michigan and the District of MCN Corporation
C olumbia Birmingham Michigan
Mallors President Chief Executive Officer and Director 1981
Walker, 51 W atker & Dunlop Inc , a mortgage banking and

real estate company 19476 to present,
Washington IDC

Karen Hastie Partner Crowell & Marnng, a lan firm practicing 1988 Crestar Finanaal
Wilhams 46 i the Distriet of Columbia December 1382 to Corporation
present Washington D C

(1) Companies with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of that Act or any
company registered as an mvestment company under the Investment Company Act of
1940 Certamn directorships of other companies are also noted 1n the occupation column

(2) Appomnted by the President of the United States. who has authority to appowmnt five
directors

(3) From 1986 to 1987, Mr Clark also served as a director of the Corporation appointed by the
President of the United States

(4} Mr Mai was elected to fill the vacancy created by the retirement and resignation from the

Board of David O Maxwell. the former Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chiet
Executive Officer of the Corporation when his contract expired on January 31 1991

Executive Officers

The age and business experience, as of March 15, 1991 of each of the executive officers of the
Corporation. are as follows®

James A Johnson. 47. has been Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
since February 1991. Mr. Johnson was Vice Chairman of the Corporation from January 1990 to
Januarv 1991 Mr Johnson was a Managing Ihrector Corporate Finance at Shearson Lehman
Hutton. Inc from Aprl 1985 to December 1989 and was President of Public Strategies from
January 1981 to Apnil 1985

Roger E Birk, 60, has been President and Chief Operating Officer of the Corporation since
November 1987 and a director of the Corporation since 1985 Mr Birk was Chairman of the Beard of
International Securities Clearing Corporation from Notember 1986 to October 1987  He was
Chairman of Mernll Lynch & Co . Inc from 1981 to Apnl 1985

Carvl 3 Bernstewn, 57, has been Executive Vice President since February 1982, Genera! Counsel
since May 1981 and Secretary since July 1981

J Timothy Howard. 42. has heen Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since
Februarv 1990 Mr. Howard was Executive Vice President— Asset Management from December 1987
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to February 1990, Executive Vice President—Economics, Strategic Planning, and Financial Analysis
from September 1987 ta December 1987, and Senior Vice President—Economics and Corporate
Planning from November 1985 to September 1987.

Robert J. Levin, 35, has been Executive Vice President—Marketing since June 1990 Mr. Levin
was Senior Vice President—Marketing and MBS from June 1989 to June 1990, Senior Vice
President—Mortgage-Backed Securities and Portfoho Acquisition from February 1988 to June 1989,
Senior Vice President— Mortgage-Backed Secunties from February 1987 to February 1988, Semor
Vice President and Assistant to the Chairman of the Board from May 1986 to February 1887, and
Senior Vice President—Corporate Finance from November 1985 to May 1986.

Michael A. Smilow, 53, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Credit Officer since
March 1988 Mr. Smilow was Executive Vice President—Marketing and Customer Services from
January 1988 to March 1989 and Executive Vice President—Mortgage Operations from July 1984
through December 1987,

Glenn T Austin, Jr, 42, has been Senior Vice President—Southeastern Regional Office since
May 1985

Douglas M. Bibby, 44, has been Senior Vice President—Administration since October 1988,
Mr. Bibby was Senior Vice President and Assistant to the Chairman of the Board from March 1987
until October 1988, and Senior Vice President—Corporate Affairs from October 1983 to March 1987.

Denms G. Campbell, 41, has been Senior Vice President—National Accounts since May 1989.
Mr Campbell was Semor Vice President--Marketing and Product Management from April 1987 to
May 1989, and Vice President—Marketing from May 1985 to April 1987.

Larry H. Dale, 45, has been Senmior Vice President-—Marketing and MBS since June 1990. He
was Senior Vice President-—Multifamily Finance and Housing Initiatives from May 1989 to
June 1990 and Senior Vice President—Multifamily Activities from June 1987 to May 1989. Prior to
his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Dale was Vice President of Newman and Associates from

1984 to June 1987.

Judith Dedmon, 40, has been Senior Vice President—Southwestern Regional Office since
July 1987. Ms, Dedmon was Senior Vice President—Quality Standards from April 1987 to July 1987,
and Vice President for Quality Standards from July 1985 to April 1987.

Robert J. Engelstad, 38, has been Senior Vice President—Mortgage and Lender Standards since
November 1989. Mr. Engelstad was Vice President—Mortgage Standards from November 1987 to
November 1989, Director of Single-Family Standards from June 1986 to November 1987, and

Assistant Director of Real Estate Sales from November 1985 to June 1986,

Hugh E. Flaherty, 59, has been Semor Vice President—Editorial Services since June 19{38.
Mr. Flaherty was Senior Vice President—Corporate Affairs from Aprl 1987 to June 1988 and Vice
President—Public Relations from August 1984 to Aprnl 1987.

John H. Fulford, ITI, 41, has been Semor Vice President—Western Regional Office since
November 1985. Mr. Fulford was Regional Vice President—Western Regional Office from May 1985
to November 1985.

John R. Hayes, 52, has been Senior Vice President— Midwestern Regional Office since
November 1985.

Lynda Horvath, 38, has been Senior Vice President—Mortgage Operations since February 1991.
Ms. Horvath was Acting Senior Vice President—Mortgage Operations from November 1990 to

February 1991, Vice President—Product Acquisition and Development from January 1989 to Novem-
ber 1990, and Vice President—MBS Financial Analysis from September 1985 to January 1989.
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Wilham E. Kelvie, 43, has been Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer since
November 1990. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Kelvie was a managing principal
with Nolan, Norton & Co from March 1987 to November 1990, a branch manager of that firm’s New
York office from March 1986 to March 1987, and a principal of that firm as of March 1985

Thomas A Lawler, 38, has been Semor Vice President— Portfolio Management since Novem-
ber 1989, Mr Lawler was Vice President for Portfcho Management from dJanuary 1989 to
November 1989, and Vice President and Semor Economist from February 1986 to December 1988.

Martin D. Levine, 44, has been Semor Vice President—ILow- and Moderate-Income Housing
since November 1990 Mr Levine was Vice President— Low- and Moderate-Income Housing from
November 1987 to November 1990. Director of Housing Policy fram March 1987 to November 1987.
Prior to s employment with the Corporation, he was Deputy Assistant Director of the Congressional

Budget Office.

Ann D. Logan, 36, has been Senior Vice President—Northeastern Regional Office since
June 1889 Ms. Logan was Vice President for Regional Activities from May 1889 to June 1989, Vice
President for Mortgage Operations from November 1987 to May 1989, and Executive Assistant to the
Executive Vice President—Mortgage Operations from January 1986 to November 1987

Wiliam R Malom, 46, has been Semor Vice President—Policy and Public Affairs since
March 1989% Mr Malom was Senior Vice President-— Government Relations from Aprnl 1987 to
March 1989, Vice President for Government Relations from February 1986 to Apnl 1387, and Vice
President for Congressional Relations from March 1984 to February 1986.

Anthony F Marra, 49, has been Semor Vice President and Deputy General Counsel since
Apnl 1987 Mr Marra held the position of Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from
November 1985 to April 1987. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr Marra was Deputy
General Counsel with the Overseas Private Investment Corporation

Jyme~ P McMann, 52, has been Senior Vice President and Deputy General Counsel since
Apnl 14~7 and was Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from November 1982 to April 1987

Patnicl B O’Neill, 50, has been Senior Vice President—Real Estate Sales since November 1987
Mr. O’Neill was Vice President—Real Estate Sales from November 1288 to November 1987, and
Dhrector, Real Estate Sales from December 1985 to November 1986

Paul P. Paquin, 47, has been Senior Vice President—Investor Relations since November 1989
Mr Paquin was Vice President for Investor Relations from October 1985 to November 19-4

Gary 1. Perlin, 39, has been Semor Vice President—Finance and Treasurer since
November 1985

Michael A Quinn, 36, has been Senior Vice President and Controller since March 1991 Prior to
his employment with the Corporation, Mr Quinn was Vice President and Assistant Controller with
Chemical Bank from September 1987 to March 1991, and Vice President and Controller with Dune

Resources from April 1984 to September 1987

Thomas W. White, 53, has been Senior Vice President—Multifamily Activities since Novom
ber 1950 Mr White was Vice President—Multifamily Asset Acquisition from November 14#~~ 10
November 1990, and Director of Multifamily Product Management from November 1987 to Noven
her 1988 Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr White was an vestment banker with

Bear Stearns, Inc
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ACCOUNTANTS

The financial statements of the Corporation as of December 31, 1990 and 199 and for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 1990, ncluded heremn, have been included in
reliance upon the report of KPMG Peat Marwick, independent certified public accountants, and upon
the authority of that firm as experts in accounting and auditing.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Dirertor= and Stockholders
Federal National Morl. 1ge Association:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Federal National Mortgage Association as of
December 31, 1990 and 1989, and the related statements of income and cash flows for each of the years
in the three-year period ended December 31, 1990. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our

opinion.

In our opinicn, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, 1n all material respects, the
financial position of Federal National Mortgage Association at December 31, 1990 and 1989, and the
results of its operations and 1its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 1950, 1n conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,

KPMG PEAT MARWICK

Washington, DC
January 15, 1991
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Interest income:

Mortgage portfolio, net of servicing fees

Investments and cash equivalents
Total interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Other income:
Guaranty fees

Gain on sales of mortgages

Miscellaneous, net
Total other income

Other expenses
Provision for losses

Administrative
Total other expenses
Income before federal income taxes

Provision for federal income taxes:

Current
Deferred

Total provision for federal income taxes

Net income

Per share:
F.aarnings:
Primary
Fully diluted
Cnshy dividends

See Notes to Financial Statements

F-3

Year Ended December 31,

1990

1989

1988

(Dollars 1n millions,
except per share amounis)

$10,958  $10,103  $9,629
1,111 977 597
12,069 11,080 10,226
10,476 9,889 9,389
1,593 1,191 837
536 408 328

7 9 12

107 60 69
850 477 409
310 310 365
286 254 218
596 564 583
1,647 1,104 663
523 358 285
(49) (61) (129)
474 297 156

$ 1,173 $ 807 $ 507
$ 450 $ 314 § 2.4
4.49 3.10 2.11
72 43 .24



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

BALANCE SHEETS

Assets

Mortgage portfoho, net

Investments .

(Cash and cash equivalents

Accrued interest recewvable

Receivable from currency swaps

Acquired property and foreclosure claims, net
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Liabihties:
Debentures, notes, and bonds, net
Due within one year
Due after one year

Accrued interest payable

Payable from currency swaps

Mortgagors’ escrow deposits

Deferred federal income taxes

Other habilities
Total liahlities

Stockholders’ Equity:

Common stock, $2.10 stated value, no maximum authorization, 1ssued
948,716,569 shares (1990) and 947,646,455 shares (1989)

Additional paid-n capital

Retaimned earnings

Less treasury stock, at cost, 10,444,844 shares (1990} and 8,756,473
shares (1989)

Total stockholders’ equity
Total habilities and stockholders’ equity

See Notes to Financial Statements
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December 31,

_ Decem™ -~

1990 1989
{Dollars in millions)
$113,875 $107,756

9,868 8,338
4,178 3,532
1,032 1,064
2,376 1,796
370 448
1,414 1,381
$133,113 $124,315
% 38,453 % 36,346
84,950 79,718
123,403 116,064
2418 2,424
1,755 1,355
346 346

90 153

1,160 982
129,172 121,324
522 520

810 87
2772 1,771
4,104 3,078
163 87
3,941 2,891
£133,113 $124,315



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income . .
Adjustments to reconcile net mcome to net cash
provided by operating activities.
Provision for deferred federal income taxes
Provision for losses .
Net cash portion of amortization of purchase
discount and loan fees
{Decrease) increase in accrued interest payable
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable
Gain on sales of mortgages
Other 1increases, net

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of mortgages .

Proceeds from sales of mortgages

Mortgage principal repayments, net of
discount .

Net proceeds from disposttion of foreclosed
properties

Net increase 1n investments

Net cash used 1n investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash proceeds from issuance of debentures
Cash payments to repay debentures ..
Cash proceeds from issuance of short-term debt
Cash payments to repay short-term debt, net of

discount .

Cash proceeds from issuance of common stock
Cash payments for repurchase of common stock .
Dividends paid

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See Notes to Financial Statements
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1990

$ 1,173

(4
310

41
(23)
32

(7)
108

1,585

{23,743)
5,817

11,216

464
{1,530)

(7,776)

19,666
(12,249)
93,245

(93,596)
37
(93)

(173)
6,837

646

3,532
$ 4,178

1989

(Dollars in millions)

$ 807

(61)
310

93
233
(125)
(9)

98

1,346

(22,293)
2,992

10,544

519
(2,873)
(11,111)

23,567
(12,698)
54,084

(54,241)
4

(103)
10,613

848
2,684

$ 3,532

1988

$ 807

(129)
365

140
(2)
(128)
(12)
20

761

(22,795)
5,012

10,031

812
(1,996)

(8,936)

14,285
(14,002)
48,914

(40,732)
1

(7)

(57)
8,402
227
2,457

$ 2,684



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fannie Mae is a federally chartered and stockholder-owned corporation operating in the residential
mortgage finance mndustry. Certain amounts in prior years’ financial statements have heen reclassified to
conform with the current presentation.

Morigage Portfolio and Investments

Mortgages and mortgage-backed securities acquired for investment are carried at their unpaid
principal balances (“UPBs”) less unamortized purchase discount and deferred loan fees Discount and
deferred loan fees are recognized as income using the interest method over the estimated hfe of the
related mortgages. The accrual of interest on conventional mortgages, other than those that are federally
insured or guaranteed, is discontinued when the mortgages become 90 days delinquent. Any accrued but
uncollected interest on mortgages that are 90 days delinquent is reversed against current period interest
income Interest income on such mortgages is recogmzed only to the extent that cash payments are
recerved.

Other, non-mortgage investments are carried at their historical cost adjusted for unamortized
discount or premwum. The mortgage portfolio and other investments are acquired with the objective of
earning a net interest spread over the related cost of funds The Corporation has the abihity to hold these
investments until their maturity and currently intends to hold them for the foreseeable future

Commutment Fees and Purchase Discount /Premwum

The Corporation, in comphance with Financial Accounting Standard No 81 (“FAS 917), treats
purchase discount and premium and most commitment fees as an adjustment to interest mcome over the
estimated life of the related mortgages using the interest method.

The Corporation uses actual principal prepayment experience and estimates of future principal
prepayments in the calculation of the constant effective yield necessary to apply the mrerest method in
the amortization of loan fees and discount. In evaluating prepayments, loans are apgre s1ied by simlar
characteristics (e.g., loan type, interest rate, period of origmation, and maturiry ) actors used n
determining estimates of future prepayments include historical prepayment data and expected prepay-
mernt performance under varying interest rate scenarios

Guaranteed Mortgage-Backed Securities

The Corporation guarantees the timely payment of principal and nterest on Fannie Mae Mortgage-
Backed Securities (“MBS”)} These securities represent heneficial 1nterests in pools of mortgages or
other MBS held in trust by the Corporation The pools of mortgages or MBS are not assets of the
Corporation, except when acquired for investment purposes, nor are the related outstanding securities
habilities of the Corporation; accordingly, neither 1s reflected in the accompanying balance sheets, The
Corporation receives monthly guaranty fees for each MBS pool based on a percentage of the pool’s
outstanding balance.

Allowance for Losses

The allowance for losses on the conventional mortgage portfolio is maintained at a level that, 1n
management’s judgment, 1s adequate to provide for estimated losses This judgment is based on such
factors as economuc conditions, geographic concentrations, mortgage charactenstics, and actual and
expected loan loss experience The aliowance 1s mcreased by provisions charged as an expense 1n the
income statement and decreased by charge-offs, net of recoveries.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

The Corporation establishes an allowance for losses on U S government 1nsured or guaranteed loans
when foreclosure appears probable At that time, a provision is recorded to provide for estimated
unreimbursable foreclosure losses.

A liability for estimated losses 15 maintained for MBS because the Corporation has assumed the
ultimate default risk on the underlying mortgages. Provisiens for losses are recorded to maintaimn the
liability at a level that, in management’s judgment, is adequate to provide for estimated losses.

Acquured Property
Real estate acquired and held for sale as a result of foreclosure 1s carried at the lower of the

investment i the property or its estimated net reahizable value In making these estimates, current
appraised values of properties and estimated interest carrying costs are considered 1in the calculations

Gain/Loss on Sales of Mortgages

When the Corporation sells mortgages, it places them in MBS pools and sells them as securities. A
gan or loss is recognized at the time of sale to the extent the sale proceeds differ from the recorded value
of the assets sold An adjustment to the gain or loss is recognized in an amount measured by the present
value of the difference between the effective mortgage interest rate received by the Corporation and the
sum of the pass-through rate paid to the investor and a normal guaranty fee.

Risk Management Actiities

The Corporation takes positions in financial markets to hedge against changing interest rates or
foreign currency fluctuations that may affect the cost of certain planned debt issuances or the yield on
certain mortgage purchases Results from activities that are designated and perform effectively as hedges
are deferred and amortized as adjustments to interest expense or interest income over the hves of the
related borrowings or assets

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase

The Corporation enters into sales of securities under agreements to repurchase substantially similar
secunties at a later date Such transactions are treated as financings The obligations to repurchase
securities sold are reflected as labilities on the balance sheets and the mortgage securities underlying the
agreements remain 1n the asset accounts. The counterparty to the repurchase agreement acquires legal
ownership of the securities transferred

Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell

The Corporation purchases securities under agreements to resell the same securities at a later date
(repurchase agreements}. The securities are recorded as investment assets on the balance sheet, and the
Corporation acquires legal ownership of the securities purchased To reduce exposure to credit risk, the
Corporation requires the fair market value of the securities purchased to be greater than the investment

amount.

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign currency borrowings and the related recervables from currency swaps are translated at the
market rates of exchange as of the balance sheet date

Cash and Cash Egquwalents

The Corporation considers overnight federal funds and all highly liquid debt instruments with an
original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

Income Taxes

Deferred mncome taxes are provided for tuming differences between financial and taxable income
Investment and other tax credits are deferred and amortized over the lives of the related assets

Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share are computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstand-
ing, mncluding dilutive common stock equivalents. Common stock equivalents include common stock
warrants. Fully diluted earnings per share are computed on the assumption that all outstanding
subordinated convertible capital debentures were converted at the beginning of the year, after increasing
earnings for the related interest expense, net of federal income taxes. The weighted-average shares
outstanding used to compute fully diluted earnings per share were 261 mullion, 260 million, and 241
million for the years ended December 31, 1990, 1989, and 1988, respectively.

2_ Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk

The Corporation is a party to transactions involving financial instruments with off-balance-sheet
nsk. These financial mstruments include MBS, commitments to purchase mortgages or to 1ssue and
guarantee MBS, interest rate futures contracts, short sales of Treasury securities, interest rate swaps,
and currency swaps The Corporation uses these financial instruments in the normal course of business
to fulfill 1ts statutory purpose of increasing the Hgquidity of residential mortgage loans and to reduce 1ts
exposure to fluctuations n interest rates and foreign exchange rates.

Guaranteed Mortgage-Backed Securities

As 1ssuer and guarantor of MBS, the Corporation 1s obligated to disburse scheduled monthly
mstallments of principal and interest (at the certificate rate) and the full unpaid principal balance of any
foreclosed mortgage to MBS nvestors, whether or not any such amounts have been received The
Corporation 1s also obligated to disburse unscheduled principal payments recelved from borrowers.

The Corporation’s credit risk is mitigated to the extent sellers of pools of mortgages elect to remain
at risk on the loans sold to the Corporation. Lenders have the option to retain the primary default nisk,
in whole or in part, in exchange for a lower guaranty fee In some cases, the Corporation may require
credit enhancement based upon 1ts review of the mortgage product, lender performance, and the
transaction risk profile. Such credit enhancement to protect against losses on loans undertying MBS
may include lender recourse, pledged collateral, mortgage insurance, letters of credit, lender-funded cash
reserves, and various forms of third party nsurance coverage

In recourse arrangements, the lender accepts either 100 percent recourse or limited recourse. By
accepting 100 percent recourse, the lender assumes the risk of any losses due to borrower default
Because the Corporation assumes the ultimate risk of loss on all MBS, the main rnisk that the
Corporation bears 1n such cases 1s that the lender will be unable to honor the recourse obligation For
lenders that want to provide only limited recourse, that 1s, recourse hmited in terms of dollar or time
p-otection, the Corporation may require that the limited recourse obligation be supported by pledged
collateral m the form of Fanme Mae MBS or Treasury securities, or, mn certain situations, letters of
credit and Ginnie Mae securities.

The Corporation requires that loans with a loan to-value (“LTV") ratio greater than 80 percent al
origination have either mortgage msurance cover.age lrom an approved mortgage insurance company or
some other form of credit enhancement In the event a mortgage insurer is unable to pay clatms
aubmitted, or the alternative credit enhancement 1s msufficient, the Corporation bears the risk ot
additional loss on related foreclosures
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— ( Continued)

The total outstanding principal balance of MBS guaranteed by the Corporation was $299.8 billion at
Detember 31, 1990, compared with $228 2 billion at December 31, 1989 (which includes $11.8 billion
and $11 7 billion, respectively, of Fannie Mae MBS 1n portfolio}. At December 31, 1990, $97.8 billion of
the MBS outstandmng had some credit enhancement structure mn the event of borrowers’ default,
including $61.9 billion with 100 percent recourse. The Corporation’s exposure to credit loss on MBS, if
borrowers completely fail to perform and if both the property backing the mortgage and any pledged
collateral or other forms of credit snhancement provided by the lender prove to be of no value, is
represented by the face value of 1th¢ MBS outstanding less the related allowance for losses. At
December 31, 1990, this amount wa« ~299 5 billion,

Commuitments

At December 31, the Corporation had commitments outstanding to purchase mortgages and to issue

MBS as shown below:
1994 1989

tDollars in millions)

Commitments to purchase mortgages:

Mandatory dehvery . . $ 1,902 $ 2,337

Lender option . .. ; 7,726 3,700
Commitments to 1ssue MBS-

Mandatory dehivery . 6,391 8,367

Lender option . .. 72,179 34,236
Master commitments(1) . .. . 49,314 18,617

(1) In order to deliver under a master commitment, a lender must convert to either a mandatory
delivery MBS or mortgage purchase commitment with the vield established at the time of
conversion.

Outstanding commitments to purchase mortgages do not necessarily represent future cash require-
ments. Some of the lender option commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon and,
under a mandatory delivery commitment, the lender may buy back the commitment at any time during
the commitment term for a fee. In addition, the mandatory delivery commitments are subject to good
delivery tolerances, which allow unpaid principal balances to deviate from the original commitment
amount usually by no more than minus 5 percent. For most of the lender option commitments the vield
is set at the date of conversion to a mandatory commitment.

The cost of funding future portfoho purchases generally 1s hedged upon issuance or conversion to a
mandatory commitment; therefore, the interest rate risk for the Corporation 1s largely mitigated

Hedge Instruments

The Corporation typically uses interest rate futures contracts, short sales of Treasury securities,
nterest rate swaps, debt swaps, and currency swaps to hedge against fluctuations 1n interest rates and
foreign exchange rates Changes in the value of these hedge instruments caused by interest rate or
currency fluctuations, are expected to substantially offset changes in the value of the items hedged
Consequently, the primary risks assocated with these hedging instruments are that changes 1n the value
of the item hedged will not substantially offset changes in the value of the hedge instrument, and that the
counterparty to the agreement will be unable to meet the terms of the agreement. The Corporation
reduces counterparty risk by entering into such agreements only with institutions it believes are
financially sound based on certain criteria and by diversifying counterparties.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

Interest Rate Futures and Short Sales of Treasurtes At December 31, 1990, the contract amount of
interest rate futures outstanding was $25 million compared with 151 million at December 31, 1989 The
contract amount of Treasury securities the Corporation sold short was $1 7 billion and $1 4 bllion at
December 31, 1990 and 1989, respectively. The Corporation sells futures contracts and enters mnto short
sales of Treasury securities to mimmize the risk of rising interest rates on its planned debt 1ssuances

Interest Rate Swaps The Corporation has long-term nterest rate swap agreements with various
parties to extend the effective maturity of certan short-term debt obligations and to adjust the effective
maturity of certain long-term debt obligations {indexed sinking fund swap agreements) The notional
amount of long-term interest rate and indexed sinking fund swap agreements outstanding at Decem-
ber 31, 1990 was $2 1 bilion (including $0 4 billion of callable long-term swaps) and $1.4 billion,
respectively, compared with $1.8 bilhon and $0 5 billion, respectively, at December 31, 1989. The
average remaining term of these long-term and indexed sinking fund swaps was six years at December 31,
1990 and at December 31, 1989. The weighted-average interest rate being received under these long-
term and indexed sinking fund swaps was 8.22 percent and the weighted-average nterest rate being paid
was 9.62 percent at December 31, 1990, compared with 8.31 percent and 10 07 percent, respectively, at
December 31, 1989

The Corporation also has interest rate swap agreements that are hinked to specific debt 1ssues (debt
swaps) These swaps achieve a specific financing objective at a desired cost, usually by effectively
converting floating-rate debt into fixed-rate debt. The cost and term of the specific debt 1ssues, as
reflected 1n the financial statements, include the effects of the swaps. At December 31, 1990, the notional
amount of debt swaps outstanding totaled $1 3 billion compared with $0 8 billion at December 31, 1989

Currency Swaps The Corporation has 1ssued debt securities in which principal, interest, or both are
pavable in a foreign currency or are determined by reference to an index that includes one or more
foreign currencies Concurrently, the Corporation entered into currency swaps that convert the proceeds
of the borrowings into dollars or provide for scheduled future exchanges of the two currencies. Currency
swaps ehminate foreign exchange risk for the Corporation by fixing in U.S dollars, the interest payable
as well as the principal payable at maturity At December 31, 1990 and 1989, the U S dollar equivalent
face amounts of these foreign currency or foreign currency-mdexed obligations, translated at the then-
current exchange rates, were $2.4 billion and $1.8 bnilion, respectively.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-— (Continued)

3. Concentrations of Credit Risk

The following schedules summarize concentrations of credit risks by original loan-te-value ratio for
the conventional single-family portfolio and conventional mortgages backing MBS, and by location and
product type for the entire mortgage portfolio {except for MBS held in portfolio) and all mortgages
backing MBS:

Geographie Distribution of Mortgage Portfolio and MBS
As of December 31, 1990

{Dollars in millions)

Mortgage MBS(1)

Portfoho{1) Fannie Mae Risk(2) Lender Risk(2) Total
Gross UPB $104,870 Gross UPB $202,081 $97,752 $299,833
By Region By Region
Northeast 22% Northeast 22% 35% 26%
Southeast 17 Southeast 21 18 20
Midwest 16 Midwest 15 13 15
Southwest 17 Southwest 12 7 10
Western 28 Western 30 27 29
"Total 100% Total 160% 100% 100%
By State By State
Califorma 23% Califorma 25% 25% 25%
New York 7 New York 5 10 7
Texas 7 Florida 6 8 6
Florida 5 New Jersey 5 7 5
Illinms 4 Massachusetts 4 7 5
All others 54 All others 55 43 h2
Total 100% Total 100% 100% 100%

(1) Fannie Mae MBS held in portfolic totaling $11.8 bilhon are included in MBS but excluded from
portfolio statistics.

(2) Based on primary default risk category; however, Fannie Mae bears the ultimate risk of default.
Includes MBS that have been pooled to back Megas, SMBS or REMICs.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Loan-to-Value (LTV) Ratio Distribution of Conventional
Single-Family Mortgage Portfolio and MBS
As of December 31, 1930

(Dollars in millions)

Mortgage MBS(1)

Portfolio (1) Fannie Mae Risk(2) Lender Risk {2} Total
Gross UPB $83,513 $191,497 $88,250 $279,747
Onginal Loan-To-Value Ratio (3)
60% and Less 20% 20% 18% 19%
61-70% 13 15 13 15
71-75% 12 15 15 15
76-80% 27 27 30 28
81-90% . 18 17 20 18
COver 90% . . 10 6 4 5
Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

(1) Fannie Mae conventional single-family MBS held in portfolio totaling $11 4 bilhon are included
in MBS but excluded from portfoho statistics

(2) Based on primary default risk category; however, Fanrmc Mae bears the ultimate risk of default
Includes MBS that have been pooled to back Mega- ~A\1B3, or REMICs.

(3) Current LTV ratios may be higher or lower than onginal LTV ratios.

Product Distribution of Mortgage Portfolio and MBS
As of December 31, 1990

(Dollars in millions)

Mortgage MBS(1)
Portfolio{1) Fannie Mae Risk(2) Lender Risk(2) Total
Gross UPB . $104,870 $202,081 $97,7H2 $299,833
Single-family:
FHA/VA . 1 5% 2% 4%
Fixed-rate . g 86 62 78
ARMs . 18 8 28 15
Seconds 2 — — —
Multifamaly . 10 1 8 3
"Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

(1) Fannie Mae MBS held in portfolio totaling $11 8 ballion are included in MBS but excluded from
portfolio statistics

(2) Based on primary default risk category; however Fanme Mae bears the ultimate risk of default.
Includes MBS that have been pooled to back Mewis ~MBS, or REMICs.




FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

4., Mortgage Portfolio, Net
The mortgage portfolio consisted of the following investments at December 31.

1990 1989

(Doilars 1n milhions)

Single-fammly mortgages
First morigases

Gove rment insured or guaranteed $ 11,204 $ 11,857
Conventional fixed-rate 72,290 66,804
Conventional adjustable-rate 20,736 22,020
Second mortgages 1,851 1,614

106,081 102,295

Maultifamily mortgages:

Government insured 4,243 4,361

Conventional 6,304 4,065

10,547 8,426

Total unpaid principal balance(1) . 116,628 110,721
Less:

Unamortized discount and loan fees 2,562 2,740

Allowance for losses 191 225

$113,876 $107,756

(1) Includes $11.8 billon and $11.7 billion of Fannie Mae MBS held 1n portfoho at December 31,
1990 and December 31, 1989, respectively.

The total unpaid principal balance of loans 1 nonperforming status (those 90 days or more
delinquent) was $0.7 billion at December 31, 1990 and December 31, 1989

5. ANlowance for Losses

The total allowance for losses consists of an allowance for portfolio loan losses, an allowance for non-
rermbursable foreclosure costs on government claims, and a hability for estimated foreclosure losses on
MBS. Changes in the allowance for the years 1988 to 1990 are summarized below:

Mortgage Portfolio

Government
Insured or
Conventional Guaranteed MBS Total

{Dollars in millions)

Ralance, January 31, 1988 $ 191 $ 24 $131 $ 346
Provision 279 6 80 365
Net foreclosure losses charged-off (216) (12) {87) {315}
Transfers (26) — 26 =

Balance, December 31, 1988 228 18 150 190
Provision 161 5 144 J10
Net foreclosure losses charged-off {147) (10) (86) 1243)
Transfers {22) — 22 —

Balance, December 31, 1989 220 13 230 463
Provision . 113 6 191 310
Net foreclosure losses charged-off .. (146} {(11) T {234)

Balance, December 31, 1990 $ 187 $ 8 <21 3 539

l|
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

The total allowance for losses at December 31 is included in the following balance sheet accounts:

1990 1989

(Dollars in milhons)

Mortgage portfolio, net . . . . 3191 3225
Foreclosure claims, net . . .. . 4 3
Other liabihities ; . . . . . 344 230

3549 4163

6. Debt Securities Held for Investment

The amortized cost, unrealized gains and losses, estimated market value, and maturity distribution
of debt securities held for nvestment, including MBS and other mortgage- and asset-backed securities,
are summarized in the following tables.

Account Title(1) Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
(Security Name) Cost Gains Losses Market value

(Dollars in millions)

Mortgage portfolio, net:

Fannie Mae MBS $11,530 $184 247 $11 687
Other mortgage-related securities . 2,948 45 _ 6 2987
14,478 229 53 14,654
Investments:

Federal funds 5,329 — — 5,329
Asset-backed securities . . 1,780 20 — 1,800
Floating-rate notes . . 1,432 — 17 1,415
Repurchase agreements 951 45 - 996
Other . . 376 2 2 376
9,868 67 19 9,916

Cash and cash equivalents:
Overnight federal funds 1,899 — — 1,899
Auction rate preferred stock . 1,481 — — 1,481
Other . 737 — = 737
47 - = 4,117
Total . . 524,463 $296 $72 $28,687

|
u

(1) Debt securities are listed according to balance sheet account classification.




FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

Amortized Estimated

Remaining Maturity at December 31, 1990 Cost Market Value

{Dollars in millions)

Due within 1 vear $11,581 $11,615
Due after | year through 5 years 552 548
Due after 5 years through 10 years 50 49
Due after 10 years . 2,662 2,581
14,735 14,793
Mortgage-backed secunities{1) 11,948 12,094
Asset-backed securities(1) 1,780 1,800
Total $28,463 $28,687

(1) Contractual matunty of mortgage- and asset-backed securities may not be a reliable indicator of
their expected life because borrowers have the rght to prepay their obligations at any time.

Proceeds from sales of mvestment~ 1n debt secunities during 1990 were $103 million Gross gains of
less than $1 mllion and gross losses ol ! milhon were realized on those sales.

7. Debentures, Notes, and Bonds, Net

The average cost of all debt outstanding at December 31, 1990 and 1989 (1ncluding the amortization
of issuance costs and hedging results, and the effect of interest rate, debt, and currency swaps) was 8.81
percent and 9.04 percent, respectively. The average effective maturity of all debt outstanding was 50
months at December 31, 1990 and 47 months at December 31, 1989. This includes the effect of interest
rate swaps but excludes $0 7 billion and $1 0 bilhon of investment agreements at December 31, 1990 and
December 31, 1989, respectively Investment agreements are general unsecured obligations that allow
the nvestor to demand payment of all or part of the funds under agreed-upon circumstances. Because of
this call feature, the average matunty of investment agreements 1s indeterminate. Interest paid during
1990, 1989, and 1988 was $10 4 billion, $9 4 bllion, and $9.3 billion, respectively

Pursuant to the Corporation’s Charter Act and related regulations, no debt obligations may be
issued without the approval of the Secretary of the Treasury The Secretary of Housing and Urban
Development (“HUD”) currently requires that the maximum amount of the Corporation’s general
obligations outstanding at any time, excluding those that are subordinated or secured, not exceed 20
times the sum of stockholders’ equity, subordinated capital debentures, and reserves At December 31,

1990, this ratio was 18.9 1

In addition to debt restrictions under the Charter Act, the Corporation 1s subject to a restriction in
connection with certain subordinated capital debenture 1ssues, which hmits the amount of subordinated
(apital debentures outstanding to not more than two times the sum of the Corporation’s common stock,
additional paid-in capital, and retained earnings. At December 31, 1990, the ratio was 0.5:1



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS— (Continued)

Borrowings Due Within One Year

Borrowings due within one year at December 31 are summarized helow-

1980 1989
Qutstanding Average Maximum Outstanding Average Maximum
at Outstanding  Qutstanding at Quistanding  OQutistanding
December 31 During Year At Any December 31 During Year At Any

Amount Cost(1}) Amount Cost(1) Month End Amount Cost (1) Amount Cost(1)} Month End

{ Dollars 1n millions)

Securities sold under agree-

ments to repurchase(2) $ 351 606%% 501 672% §$ 1,171 § 725 709%% 1178 777% % 3.177
Short-term notes(3) 17 594 771 14,086 807 17,594 14,760 856 12684 867 14,760
Master notes 123 712 187 799 486 132 820 171 882 345
Resiudential financing securnities 3,814 808 4,693 846 5,771 6,141 900 6,214 914 6,648
Other short-term debt{4) 235 759 889 861 1,575 407 8§90 1,086 868 1,250

Current portion of borrowings
due after one year(5)

Mortgage-backed bonds 8 903 9 902
Investment agreements 830 778 2,325 844
Residential financing

securities 820 8 96 — —_—
Long-term—other 5 10 20 5 1020
Debentures (8) 13 749 8132 10,401 956
Medium-term notes(7) 377 843 1,006 860
Exchangeable debentures 450 1266 — —
Zero coupon securities(8} 97 8 64 35 849
Subordinated capital

debentures — — 400 915

Total due within one year § 38,453 8 05% $36,346 890%

(1)

(2)

(3
(4
(5

(8}
(7)
(8)

Cost includes the amortization of discounts, premiums, 1ssuance costs, hedging results, and the effects of currency and
debt swaps

MBS underlying repurchase agreements had a carrying value of $344 million and $711 milhion at December 31, 1390 and
1989, respectively, and a market value of $354 mullion and $723 mulhon at December 31, 1990 and 1989, respectively

Net of $311 million and $263 million of unamortized discount at December 31, 1990 and 1989, respectively

Includes unamortized premium of $5 million at December 31 1990

Information on average amount and cost of debt outstanding duning the year and maximum amount cutstanding during
the year 1s not applicable See “Borrowings Due After One Year” for additional information

Includes unamortized prermum of $14 milhion and $5 milhon at December 31, 1990 and 1989, respectively
Includes unamortized premium of $4 0 million and $15 milhen at December 31, 1990 and 1989, respectively
Net of unamortized discount of $4 million and $1 milhon at December 31, 1990 and 1989 respectively
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Borrowings Due After One Year

Borrowings due after one year consist of the following at December 31-

1990 1989

Amount Average Amount Average

Maturity Outstanding Cost Outstanding Cost
{Dollur- 10 millions)

WMortgage-backed bonds, 1991-2002 $ 38 9 %77, $ 46 9.72%
Investment agreements, 1891-2012 2,310 205 1,127 7.39
Residential financing securities 296 8.15 821 8.96
Long-term—other, net of $68 million of

discount for 1990 {$70 millhon for 1989) 373 9.83 376 9.84
Dehentures, net of $46 million of discount and

premium for 1990 ($23 mllion for 1989):

1991 — — 13,734 832
1992 . . 11,710 9.14 11,594 914
1993 8,930 8.96 8,469 899
1994 10,082 8.99 7,227 9.12
1995 . 10,466 989 7,182 10.44
1996 10,520 8 54 10,669 853
1997-2007 22,354 8.97 12,454 8 88
2008-2020 . 2,685 9 80 1,635 3.78

76,647 909 72,964 898

Medium-term notes, includes $127 milhon of

premum for 1990 ($39 mllion for 1989),

1991-2019 . 2,140 8.59 1,014 8.85
Exchangeable debentures, 1991 . — — 450 12.66
Zero coupon securnties, net of $5,617 milhon of

discount for 1990 ($5,680 million for 1989},

1991-2014 .. .. . 611 1063 621 10 41
Zero coupon subordinated capital debenture~ net

of $6,366 milhon of discount for 1990 (%h 403

million for 1989), 2019 . 384 13.22 347 10.22
Subordinated capital debentures, net of

$13 million of discount for 1990 ($14 million for

1989):

1992 . .. 250 9.05 250 9.05
1997 . .. ; ; 250 7.44 250 7.44
1998 . . 500 9.46 500 9.46
2002 . . 268 9.21 266 9.21
20619 . . 250 934 250 934
1,518 9 00 1,516 9.00
Subordinated convertible capital debentures, 1996 1 443 1 443
84,318 905 79,283 _9u0c
Adjustment for forewgn currency translation . 632 435
$84,950 $79,718
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The average cost includes the amortization of discounts, premiums, 1ssuance costs, hedging results,
and the effect of currency and debt swaps. At December 31, 1990, principal amounts of debt maturing in
the years 1992-1996 were $12.8, $10 1, $10.6, $11.4, and $11 3 billion, respectively

At December 31, 1990, the Corporation had outstanding $3.3 billion of Indexed Sinking Fund
Debentures (“ISFDs”) at an average cost of 9.61 percent, compared with $3.7 billion at an average cost
of 9.54 percent at December 31, 1989. Such debentures are subject to mandatory redemptions after an
initial non-redemption period. The redemption amounts are tied to certamn Treasury rates. As such
Treasury rates decrease, the percentage of the outstanding principal amount of an ISFD to be redeemed
generally will increase; conversely, as such Treasury rates increase, the percentage (o be redeemed
generally will decrease.

Debentures include callable debt, which is redeemable, in whole or 1n part, at the option of the
Corporation at any time on or after a specified date The following table summarizes the amounts and
call periods of callable debt, including ISFDs, and the notional amount of callable and ISFD swaps.
Medium-term notes and subordinated capital debentures that are redeemable at the Corporation’s option
are also mcluded in the table.

Call Year of Amount Average
Date Maturity Outstanding Cost
{Dollars in millions)
Currently 1996-2002 3 685 8.10%
1991 1993-1995 900 8 68
1992 1994-1997 3,552 B.65
1993 1995-2013 5,342 9.07
1994 1997-2019 4,476 9.23
1995 2000-2020 2,250 965
1997 2020 20 9 46
17,225
ISFDs 1993-1999 3,276 9.61
Callable and ISFD swaps
(notional! amount) 1997-2000 1,800 —
Total $22,301

In February 1986, the Corporation issued 500,000 units aggregating $500 mullion principal atnotnt
of debentures due in 1996 with detachable warrants to purchase 34.5 milhion common shares  Hach
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of common stock at $14 75 until February 1991 A
portion of the proceeds from the 1ssuance ($68 million) was allocated to the warrants and rec arded as
additional pard-in capital As of December 31, 1990, 1 1 million shares had been 1ssued upim exercise of
the warrants.

The Corporation may call for the conversion of the exchangeable debentures at any time on or prior
to March 15, 1991, in which case the debentureholders have two options. They mav accept the
conversion and receiwe ten shares of adjustable-rate preferred stock, series A, for each 1,000 principal
amount of exchangeable debentures Alternatively, they may reject the call for conversion by extending
the matunty date of those debentures to March 15, 1994 The Corporation may «all tor the conversion
only once and only on the enfire 1ssue

The subordmated capital debentures due 1in 1997 and 2002 are redeemable at par, in whole or in
part, at the option of the Corporation, on any interest payment date The subordmated convertible
capital debentures are convertible into 0.2 million shares of common stock at a price of $6.54 per share,
subject to adjustment in certamn events. These debentures are redeemable al par. at the option of the
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Corporation. During 1990, 1989, and 1988, $0 2 million, $10 million and $1 million of debentures were
converted into common stock

8. Stockholders’ Equity

In 1990, the Corporation repurchased 3 4 milhon shares of common stock under a previously
announced repurchase program There were 33 4 million shares of common stock warrants and 238.3
million shares of common stock outstanding at December 31, 1990

Transactions 1n commen -tock, additional paid-in capital, retamed earnings, and treasury stock for
the vears 1990, 1989 and 14+ are summarized as follows

Number of Additional Total
Shares Common Paid-m Retained Treasury Stockholders’
Qutstanding Stock Capital Earnings Stock Equity
(Dollars 1 thousands)

Balance, January 31, 1988 78,725,728  §512,026 $777,006 $ 616,667 § (95,184) $1,810,51%5
Shares repurchased (231,600) —_ — —_ (6,913) (6,913}
Conversions of convertible

dehentures 71,405 446 966 —_ — 1,412
Treasury stock 1ssued for stock

options and benefit plans 96,620 3561 2,374 — 1,060 3,785
Accrual for stock appreciation

rights — — 1,315 -— 1,315
Net income — — — 506,708 —_ 506,708
Dividends — — — (56,517) — {56,517}

Balance, December 31 1988 78,662,153 512,823 781,661 1,066 858 (101,037) 2,260,305
Three-for-one stock split 157,324,306 4,123 (4,123} — — —
Conversions of convertible )

debentures 1,481,388 3,090 6,660 —_— 9,750
Treasury stock ssued for stock

options and benefit plans 1,412,300 — 674 — 13,661 14,335
Stock warrants exercised 9,835 21 125 — — 146
Tax benefit for Employee Stock

Purchase Plan —_ —_ 2,431 — 2,437
Net 1ncome — — — 807,344 — 507,344
Ihwvidends — — — (103,110) — (103,110}

Balance, December 31, 1989 238,889,982 520,057 787,434 1,771,092 (87,3763 2,991,207
Shares repurchased (3,443,300) —_ (92,822) (92,822}
Conversions of convertible

debentures 23,847 50 107 — — 157
Treasury stock 1ssued for stock

options and henefit plans 1,754,929 —_ 8,837 — 17,214 26,051
Stock warrants exercised 1,046,267 2,198 13,236 — — 15,433
Tax benefit for Employee Stock

Purchase Plan — — 639 — — 639
Net income — — — 1,173,362 — 1,173,362
Ihvidends — — — (172,701) - (172,701}

Balance December 31, 1390 238,271,725  $522,305 $810,252 $2,771,753 $(162,984)  $3,941,328

Pursuant to the Corporation’s Charter Act and related regulations, approval of HUD is required
prior to the issuance of any stock of the Corporation or securities convertible mto stock. The
Corporation 18 authorized to 1ssue a maximum of 4.5 million shares of adjustable-rate preferred stock,
seres A, $100 stated value. These shares may be 1ssued only m exchange for the 1250 percent
exchangeable debentures due 1991 No such shares have been issued.

Siock Compensation Plans

The Federal National Mortgage Association Stock Compensation Plan authorizes certain officers to
receve performance awards, which may be issued within an award period that can range from three to
five years. The performance awards become actual awards only 1f the Corporation attams the financial
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goals set for the award period. At the end of such time, the awards generally are payable one-half in
common stock and one-half in cash The outstanding contingent grants made for the 1991-1993, 1990-
1992, and 1989-1991 award periods were 154,520; 89,650; and 248,134 performance shares, respectively
Stock options also may be granted to key employees under this plan. The options do not become
exercisable until at least one year after the grant date and generally expire ten years from the grant date.
The purchase price of the common stock covered by each option 1s equal to the fair market value of the
stock on the date the option 1s granted.

The following table summarizes stock option actwity for the vears 1988-1990 At December 31,
1990 and 1989, stock options on 745,126 shares and 482,639 shares, respectively, were exercisable.

Number
of Shares Option Price

Balance, January 1, 1988 1,605,729 $ 5.38-$14 40
Granted 1n 1988 . . 443,100 $11.98-%15.75
Less. Exercised 1n 1288 ; (213,213) § 5.38-313.54
Terminated 1n 1988 . (51,933) §$ 7.98-$12.02
Balance, December 31, 1988 1,783,683 § 5.38-$15.75
Granted 1n 1989 218,550 $40.56
Less Exercised in 1989 (422,482) % 5.38-%15.75
Terminated in 1989 (57,720) $ 9.44-315.75
Balance, December 31, 1989 1,522,031 $ 5.38-3$40.56
Granted in 1990 544,000 $32.00-$34.50
Less. Exercised 1n 1990 (193,631) $ 538-§15 75
Terminated in 1990 {40,490) $ 9 44-340.56
Balance, December 31, 1990 1,831,910 $ 5.38-340.56

In 1990, 48,500 shares of restricted stock (4,173 mn 1989) were awarded, issued, and placed 1n
escrow under the Stock Compensation Plan and the Restricted Siock Plan for Directors, 18,402 shares
were recovered upon termination of nonvested participants, and 120,468 shares were released as vesting
of participants occurred Compensation expense 1s being recorded over the vesting period of the stock as
services are performed

iImployee Stoek Purchase Plan

The Corporation has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan that allows the Corporation to 1ssue up to
nine million shares of common stock to quahfied employees at a price equal to 85 percent of the fair
market value of the stock on the first day of the period in which employees can elect to purchase the
stock In 1990, the Corporation granted each qualified employee excluding certain officers, the night to
purchase in January 1991 up to 300 shares of stock Under the 1990 offering, 653,710 shares were
purchased in January 1991, at $25 71 per share compared with 1,514,490 shares purchased 1in 1990 at
$14.27 per share under the plan’s 1989 offering. The Board of Directors has approved a similar offering
1 1991 for Fanme Mae employees that limits the number of shares to 400 per eligible employee at a price
of $35.43 per share.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan

The Corporation has an Employee Stock Ownershp Plan (“ESOP”) for qualified employees. The
Corporation may contribute to the ESOP an amount based on defined earnings goals, not to exceed 4
percent of the aggregate base salary for all participants The contribution is made 1n the subsequent year
sither 1n shares of Fannie Mae common stock or cash that 1s used to purchase such stock In 1990, the
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Corporation contnbuted $1 6 millon to the ESOP and acerued $2 0 mullion toward the 1991
contribution

9. Income Taxes

Deferred federal income tax expense relating to timing differences consists of the following.

1990 1989 1988
(Dollars 1 millions}

Deferred commitment fees $ 2 $ 22 $ 28

Amortization of purchase discount . (35) (59) (72)
Losses (gamns) on dispositions of mortgages 10 10 {3)
Provision for losses . . {60) (58) (65)
Risk management activities . (10) 17 (24)
Benefits from tax-advantaged mvestments . 29 13 13

Otter items, net . 15 __(6) (6)
Total provision for deferred federal income taxes $(49) $(61) %£{(129)

The Corporation’s effective tax rates differ from statutory rates as follows:

1990 1989 1988

Statutory corperate rate . 34% 34% 34%
Tax exempt interest and dividends received deductions . . {5) (7 (10)
Effective rate . 29% 27%  _24%

The Corporation 1s exempt from state and local taxes, with the exception of real estate taxes. The
Corporation made federal income tax payments of $547 miihion, $222 milhon, and $257 million in 1990,
1939, and 1988, respectively.

Financial Accounting Standard No 96 (“FAS 96”)

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued FAS 96, which is scheduled to
become effective for fiscal years beginning in 1992. Under the new standard, deferred income taxes
arising from temporary differences between tax and financial income will be recorded based on taxes
payable or refundable 1n the future as determined at the end of each accounting period. Under the
current standard, Accounting Principles Board Opimon No. 11, deferred income tax recognition
emphasizes the tax effects of timing chfferences on income of the perod in which the differences
originate. Because the FASB is considering further changes to FAS 96, including delayed implementa-
tion, management has not established an implementation date. However, management does not expect
adoption of the new standard will have a matenal adverse effect on the earnings or financial condition of

the Corporation.

Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) Examinations

The IRS has completed its examinations of the Corporation’s federal income tax returns through the
year 1985 Dunng 1990, the IRS began its examnation of the Corporation’s tax returns for 1986 and
1987. All issues raised in years prior to 1979 have been settled.

With respect to the years 1979 through 1982, the U.S. Tax Court ruled in March 1988 in the
Corporation’s favor on an issue relating to concurrent mortgage sales and for the IRS on an issue relating
tc resale/refinance transactions. Both sides in the suit appealed the decisions and oral arguments were
presented 1n January 1990. On February 20, 1990, the U.S. Court of Appeals of the District of Columbia
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affirmed the U.S. Tax Court decision. The Corporation elected not to seek Supreme Court review of the
resale/refinance portion of the decision and, because the issue involved the timing of taxable income,
there was no maternal adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition The IRS sought Supreme
Court review of the decisions on the concurrent mortgage sales m the Corporation’s case and those of
three other taxpayers, while one taxpayer sought review of a decision favoring the IRS. The Supreme
Court took no action regarding the Corporation’s case, but agreed to review the cases of two other
taxpayers. The Supreme Court 15 expected to issue a decision during the first half of 1991. Evenif the
Corporation should ultimately lose this 1ssue, there would be no material adverse 1mpact on financial
condition or results of operations, because the 1ssue mvolves the timmg of taxable income If the
Corporation wins the 1ssue, the IRS would be obligated to refund both taxes and interest As of the end
of 1990, a refund with interest would have had a positive effect on net income of approximately
$150 million

The IRS, 1n 1ts audit report for 1983 through 1985, proposed deficiencies relating to deductions for
bad debts and hedge transactions. The 1ssue related to bad debts was resolved in late 1990, with no
material adverse effect on the Corporation’s earnings or financial condition The IRS has not yet made
clear whether the hedging adjustments are to change the timing of the deductions (in which case
management believes that no material adverse effect on the Corporation would result} or to characterize
them as capital losses If the 1983 through 1985 deductions are recharacterized as capital losses and the
IRS’ position is sustained, the Corporation’s net income would be adversely affected by approximately
$60 million

The IRS 1s currently auditing 1986 and 1987 and has notified the Corporation that it may propose
additional deficiencies to recharacterize certain hedging type transactions as capital losses If these
specific deficiencies are formally proposed for 1986 and 1987 and the IRS’ position 15 sustamed, the
Corporation’s net income would be adversely affected by approximately $90 million. As of December 31,
1990, the eumulative interest, net of tax, related to the preceding adjustments to hedging results for 1984
through 1987 would be approximately $40 million.

The Corporation believes that the positions and deductions taken 1n 1ts tax returns are proper and
will contest vigorously any effort to change their timing or charactenzation.

10. Retirement Plans

All regular, full-time employees of the Corporation are covered by a non-contributory retirement
plan or by the contributory Civil Service Retirement Law. Benefiis payvable under the corporate plan are
based on years of service and compensation using the average pay during three consecutive highest paid
years of employment The Corporation’s policy is to fund the pension expense accrued each year, up to
the contribution that would be tax deductible for the year Contributions to the plan reflect benefits
attributed to employees’ service to date as well as services expected to be earned in the future. Plan
assets consist primarily of hsted stocks, fixed-income securities, cash, and other hquid assets. No
contrbutions have been made to the retirement plan in recent years because the plan 15 overfunded
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The following table sets forth the corporate retirement plan’s funded status and amounts recogmzed
in the Corporation’s financial statements at December 31, 1990 and 1989:
1990 1989

(Dollars in mithons)

Actuanal present value of benefit obligations
Accumulated benefit obhgation, meluding vested benefits of

$28.2 million ($23.9 million 1n 1989) $(31.2) $(29.4)
Projected benefit obligation for services rendered to date $(59.0) $(60.7)
Plan assets at fair value . 71.7 74.5
Excess of plan assets over the projected benefit obligation 127 138
Unrecognized net gain from past expenience different from that
assumed and effects of changes 1n assumptions . (61) (4.3)
Unrecognized pror service costs . 13 2.1
Unrecognized net transition asset recognized over 18.25 years (15.9) (17.1)
Pension liability mncluded in other liabilities $ (8.0) $ (55)
Net pension cost mcluded the following components:
Service cost-benefits earned during the period $ 6.1 $ 5.2
Interest cost on projected benefit obhgation 4.9 4.3
Actual return on plan assets 2.0 (9.7)
Net amortization and deferral (10 5) 2.1
Net penodic pension cost $ 25 $ 1.9

The weighted-average discount rate and rate of increase in future compensation levels used for
determining the actuanal present value of the projected benefit obligation were 8 5 percent (7 5 percent
in 1989) and 7 0 percent, respectively. The expected long-term rate of return on assets was 10 percent 1n
both years. The Corporation uses the straight-line method of amortization for prior service costs

The Corporation also has an Executive Pension Plan, which supplements for key senior officers the
benefits payable under the retirement plan. Estimated benefits under the supplementary plan are
accrued as an expense over the period of employment Accrued benefits are funded through a trust.

All regular, full-time employees of the Corporation are eligible to participate 1n the Corporation’s
Thrift and Savings Plan, which includes a 401{k) option Employees may contribute up to the lesser of
12 pe reent of their base salary or the current annual dollar cap estabhshed and revised annually by the
IR~ with the Corporation matching such contributions up to 3 percent of base salary. The Corporation
contribated $2 million in each of the years 1988 through 1990.

In December 1980, the FASB 1ssued Fmancial Accounting Standard No. 106 (“FAS 106”),
“Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.” FAS 106 requires that the
cost of retiree medical and other benefits be accrued over employees’ working lives. Most firms, including
Fannie Mae, currently record the cost of non-pension retiree benefits as they are paid. For Fannie Mae,
cash payments totaled less than $1 million for each of the years 1988 through 1990 FAS 106 permits a
phased-in 1mplementation of 1ts accrual accounting requirements beginning m 1493 Because of the
relatively small size of the Corporation’s workforce n relation to its assets and incomnd management does
rot expect that future implementation of FAS 106 will have a materal adverse erfect on earnings

F-23



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

The following unaudited results of operations include, in the opinion of management, all adjust-
ments necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for such periods

Net interest income
Guaranty fees N
Gain on sales of mortgages
Miscellaneous income, net
Provision for losses
Administrative expenses .

Income before federal income taxes
Provision for federal income taxes

Net income

Per share:
Earnings (fully diluted) {1)
Cash dividends .

Net interest income
Guaranty fees

Gain on sales of mortgages
Miscellaneous income, net
Provision for losses
Admanistrative expenses

Income before federal income taxes
Provision for federal income taxes

Net income
Per share:

Earnings (fully diluted) (1)
Cash dividends

1990 Quarter Ended

December September June March

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts}

$ 415 $ 404 $ 396 $378
148 138 129 120
2 — 4 1

24 32 23 28
(80) (80) (75) (75)
(77) (72) (71) {66)
433 422 406 386
(125) {123) (116) (110)
$ 308 $ 299 $ 290 $ 276
$1.19 $115 $1.10 $1.06
22 .18 .18 .14

1989 Quarter Ended

December September June March

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

$ 352 $ 302 $ 284 $ 253

111 104 99 94

3 3 — 3

10 22 20 8
(75) (75) (80) {80)
(14 _(63)  _(61) _(56)

327 293 262 222
_(90) (81 _(69) _(57)

$ 237 $ 212 $193  $165

$£0.20 $0 80 $0.75 RURNH

14 A1 10 08

(1) The total of the four quarters does not equal the amount for the year because the amount for
each period is calculated independently based on the weighted-average number of shares

outstanding during that period.
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